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CORPORATE STRUCTURE
LIS

Below is the structure chart of Tianda Pharmaceuticals Limited (the Company) and its subsidiaries (the Group) as at
31 March 2018:
UTHRKREZFRAR (ARF) REMBAE (REME) R2018FE3[31H ZRBE :

SIIC Medical Science and
Technology (Group) Limited Tianda Group Limited (Tianda Group) Public Shareholders
Y 53

ARGERRAT(RAKE) NRIR

XXEEZRRAE

100% 100%

0.10%

4% Tk

Notes PfizE :

Tianda Chinese
Medicine Limited
(Note 2)
(Pfzx2)

100%

100%

Tianda Pharmaceuticals Limited
(Note 2)
(HisE2)

100%

100%

100%

Tianda Chinese
Medicine Limited
RRPEHFRAA
(Note 3)
(Bi43E3)

Tianda Pharmaceuticals
(Australia) Pty. Ltd.
K¥ B)

ERA
(Note 1)
(FizE1)

RAREWEA

ERAF

N\
Tianda Biotech Limited

Tianda Pharmaceuticals
(Hong Kong) Limited
*

(&

S ARAT
(Note 3)
(Bi5E3)

Tianda Realty Limited
(Note 2)
(KisE2)

al Co. Ltd.*

EEBRAT

99.90%

Tianda Chinese
Medicine Limited
Sociedade de Medicina
Chinesa Tianda Limitada
RRPEFERRA
(Note 4)
(BifeE4)
99.90%

TDMall (Group) Limited

Sociedade TDMall (Grupo)
Limitada
AR (EEARDF
lote 4)
(FffsE4)

100%
P e
TDMall (China) Ltd.*
AREB(PER)ER AR
(Note 5)
(F5ES)
N’
100%
P
Zhuhai TDMall Ltd.*
WERARARAR
(Note 5)

g

( )

100%
Py
TDMall (Hong Kong) Limited
RRER(EE)BRAT

Tianda Chinese
Medicine Institute Limited
Sociedade de Medicina
Chinesa Instituto

Tianda Limitada

0.10%

96%

100%

Tianda Pharmaceuticals

iNole 5)
(PFit3E5)
~——

100%

Zhuhai Tianda
Realty Ltd.*
35

3

5
(Note 5)
(BifsEs)

100%

Tianda Realty

(Hong Kong) Limited

100%

(Note 5)
(FizEs)

~—

(1) Incorporated in Australia with limited liability (4)
FURAFEEZMMRIZARAF

(2) Incorporated in the British Virgin Islands with limited liability (5)
REBEARNEEMAILZERAR R EERRILZERAR

3) Incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability For identification purpose only
REBIMRILZBIRAE ME e il

Incorporated in Macau with limited liability

FURPIEMAR L Z BRAR
Incorporated in the PRC with limited liability
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Anti-flu and Respiratory Drugs

RV R IR R At AR B

Cardio-cerebrovascular Drugs
OB I PR 2

Chinese Medicine Products

PEEMR

Anti-infection Drugs
TR A%

Paediatric Drugs

SR %

“Herb Valley” Healthcare Products
‘A I EEE R
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Tianda Pharmaceuticals Limited

FINANCIAL SUMMARY
A

RESULTS
E 3
Year ended 31 March
HEIAMHLEE
2014 2015 2016 2017 2018
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FET FHET FHET FHET FET
Revenue WA 247,173 139,367 192,785 195,539 361,555
Profit (loss) before tax PR AR
(B518) 64,426 (24,261) 18,425 32,750 29,942
Income tax (expense) credit RS (2 H)
AR (15,477) 1,245 (5,058) (7,997) (7,780)
Profit (loss) for the year KEERF
(E518) 48,949 (23,016) 13,367 24,753 22,162
Profit (loss) attributable to: & F) (E518)
BB
Owners of the parent BATFRKRR 22,049 (17,942) 6,569 12,442 10,008
Non-controlling interests PR RE 2 26,900 (5,074) 6,798 12,311 12,154
48,949 (23,016) 13,367 24,753 22,162
HK cents HK cent HK cent HK cent HK cent
WL AL AL AL Al
Earnings (loss) per share =R EF (E518) 1.18 (0.96) 0.32 0.58 0.47
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
BERAR
At 31 March
3831
2014 2015 2016 2017 2018
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FHET FHET FET FET FET
Total assets BERE 932,490 921,017 956,169 904,120 1,045,308
Total liabilities I=REEEC (117,429) (132,609) (109,436) (91,156) (159,723)
815,061 788,408 846,733 812,964 885,585
Equity attributable to owners BAFIBR R
of the parent FE(L 1 i 751,146 729,344 813,748 778,322 847,728
Non-controlling interests FEER S 63,915 59,064 32,985 34,642 37,857
815,061 788,408 846,733 812,964 885,585

8 IEEEEETE



FINANCIAL SUMMARY
AT

REVENUE Ug A
HK$'000 57T

2017 195,539

2016 192,785

PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE B ATRE
TO OWNERS OF THE PARENT  FE{L 35 F
HK$'000 T8 7T

2018 10,008

2017 12,442

2016 6,569

Annual Report 2018

BASIC EARNINGS PER SHARE FRER
HK CENTS 7&1ll EF
2018 0.47

2017 0.58
2016 e

EQUITY ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS ®ATIRE
OF THE PARENT PE{L =
HK$'000 77T

2018 847,728

2017 778,322

2016 813,748
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Tianda Pharmaceuticals Limited

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

ESEE

Mr. Fang Wen Quan, aged 49, was appointed as an executive
Director since 6 October 2003. He is currently the Chairman, the
Managing Director, the chairman of the nomination committee and
a member of the remuneration committee and the risk management
committee of the Company, and a director of the Group’s certain
subsidiaries. Mr. Fang is the founder, chairman and beneficial owner
of Tianda Group Limited (the controlling shareholder of the Company
holding 1,194,971,370 Shares). Mr. Fang is the existing chairman of
the board of directors, general manager and authorized representative
of Tianda Culture Holdings (China) Limited* (listed on the National
Equities Exchange and Quotations, company code: 837889). He has
ample experience in corporate strategy and management. He studied
International Relations in the University of Sydney and Tsinghua
University, and established a non-profit strategic studies think tank
called “Tianda Institute”. Upholding the mission of “Care for a Better
World”, Mr. Fang always shows his greater commitment to community
services, including donations to the poverties, education and talents
development, healthcare, scientific research, environmental protection,
culture and arts.

Mr. Lui Man Sang, aged 54, was appointed as an executive
Director of the Company on 30 September 2013 and is a director of
the Group’s certain subsidiaries. Mr. Lui joined Tianda Group, the
controlling shareholder of the Company in 2007 and is a deputy general
manager of Tianda Group. He is responsible for the financial issues of
Tianda Group and the Company. Mr. Lui is a director of Tianda Culture
Holdings (China) Limited* (listed on the National Equities Exchange
and Quotations, company code: 837889). Mr. Lui possesses enriched
financial management experience covering a variety of industries
including auditing in one of the big four accounting firms in Hong
Kong and overseeing the finance department of a Hong Kong listed
company. He holds an Executive MBA granted by City University of
Hong Kong. He is a fellow member of the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants and the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants.

*

For identification purpose only
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

ESTE

Mr. Shen Bo, aged 45, was appointed as a non-executive
Director and a member of the audit committee of the Company on
10 August 2015. He is a certified public accountant of the People’s
Republic of China. He received his bachelor degree majoring in
accounting from Shanghai Institute of Construction Materials Industry
and master of accountancy from Chinese University of Hong Kong.
Mr. Shen is an executive director, a vice president and the chief
financial officer of Shanghai Pharmaceuticals Holding Co., Ltd.,* (a
company listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange with stock code
601607, and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (Hong
Kong Stock Exchange with stock code 2607), the chairman of SPH
Changzhou Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. (a subsidiary of Shanghai
Pharmaceuticals Holding Co., Ltd.), the chairman of Xiamen
Traditional Chinese Medicine Co., Ltd. (a subsidiary of Shanghai
Pharmaceuticals Holding Co., Ltd.) and the chairman of Shanghai
Hefeng Pharmaceuticals Co., Ltd. (a joint venture of Shanghai
Pharmaceuticals Holding Co., Ltd. and Ho Ming Company (Hong
Kong) Limited) and an executive director of China International
Pharmaceutical (Holding) Corporation Limited (a wholly-owned
subsidiary of Shanghai Pharmaceuticals Holding Co., Ltd. established
in Hong Kong). Mr. Shen is a non-executive director of Shanghai
Fudan-Zhangjiang Bio-Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd.* (a company listed on
Hong Kong Stock Exchange with stock code 1349). Mr. Shen served
as manager of finance department and chief financial officer in several
large companies in mainland China so has extensive experience
in corporate management, financial control, and governance of
pharmaceutical companies. From April 2001 to March 2010, Mr. Shen
served as the head of financial planning department, general manager
of finance department and chief financial officer in Shanghai Industrial
Pharmaceutical Investment Co, Ltd.* (a company formerly listed on
the Shanghai Stock Exchange with stock code 600607). During the
same period, Mr. Shen also served as the general manager of finance
department of Shanghai Pharmaceuticals (Group) Co., Ltd..

Mr. Feng Quanming, aged 41, was appointed as a non-executive
Director of the Company on 23 March 2016. Mr. Feng is the deputy head
of the finance department and the secretary of the Communist Party’s
sub-division committee in the finance department of Hongta Tabacco
(Group) Limited (Hongta), which holds 9.65% equity interest in the
Company. He has extensive experience in corporate financial accounting
and asset management. Mr. Feng joined Hongta in July 2001. During the
period from August 2007 to September 2014, he took various positions
in the finance department of Hongta, including deputy head of industrial
finance division, head and deputy head of asset management division and
head of general management division. He was also the head of financial
planning division of Yunnan Hongta Group Co., Ltd*, a wholly-owned
subsidiary of Hongta, during the period from June 2013 to August 2014.
Mr. Feng obtained his bachelor degree in accounting at Southwestern
University of Finance and Economics in 2001 and master in business
administration at Renmin University of China in 2009. Mr. Feng possesses
the qualification of practising certified public accountant in mainland China.

*

For identification purpose only
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Tianda Pharmaceuticals Limited

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

ESEE

Dr. Lam Lee G., aged 58, was appointed as a non-executive
Director of the Company with effect from 1 January 2018. Dr. Lam
holds a BSc in sciences and mathematics, an MSc in systems science
and an MBA from the University of Ottawa in Canada, a post-graduate
diploma in public administration from Carleton University in Canada,
a post-graduate diploma in English and Hong Kong Law and an LLB
(Hons) in law from Manchester Metropolitan University in the UK, an
LLM in law from the University of Wolverhampton in the UK, an MPA
and a PhD from the University of Hong Kong. As a former member of
the Hong Kong Bar Association, Dr. Lam is a Solicitor of the High Court
of Hong Kong, an Honorary Fellow of CPA Australia, a Fellow of CMA
Australia and an Honorary Fellow of the University of Hong Kong School
of Professional and Continuing Education (HKU SPACE).

Dr. Lam has over 30 years of experience in multinational
corporate management, management consulting, corporate governance,
investment banking, direct investment and fund management across
the telecommunications/media/technology (TMT), consumer/healthcare,
infrastructure/real estate, energy/resources and financial services
sectors. Dr. Lam is Chairman of Hong Kong Cyberport Management
Company Limited, and Non-Executive Chairman - Hong Kong and
ASEAN Region and the Chief Adviser to Macquarie Infrastructure and
Real Assets Asia. Dr. Lam previously served as a part-time member of
the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region Government's Central
Policy Unit, a member of the Task Force on Industry Facilitation under
the Digital 21 Strategy Advisory Committee, the Assessment Panel of
the Small Entrepreneur Research Assistance Programme under the
Innovation and Technology Fund (SERAP), the Derivatives Market
Consultative Panel of Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited,
a member of the General Committee and the Corporate Governance
Committee of The Chamber of Hong Kong Listed Companies, the New
Business Committee of the Hong Kong Financial Services Development
Council, the School Allocation Committee of the Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region Government Education Bureau, and the
Legal Aid Services Council. Dr. Lam is a member of the Hong Kong
Special Administrative Region Government Committee on Innovation,
Technology and Re-Industrialization, the Hong Kong Council on
Smoking and Health, the Council on Professional Conduct in Education
(CPC), and the Court of the City University of Hong Kong, Convenor
of the Panel of Advisors on Building Management Disputes of the
Hong Kong Special Administrative Region Government Home Affairs
Department, President of the United Nations Economic and Social
Commission for Asia and the Pacific (UN ESCAP) Sustainable Business
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

ESTE

Network (ESBN) Executive Council and Chairman of its Task Force
on Banking and Finance, Chairman of the Permanent Commission on
Economic and Financial Issues of World Union of Small and Medium
Enterprises (WUSME), a Board member of Pacific Basin Economic
Council (PBEC), a member of Belt and Road Committee of the Hong
Kong Trade Development Council, a member of Sir Murray MacLehose
Trust Fund Investment Advisory Committee, Honorary Advisor to the
Hong Kong Business Angel Network (HKBAN), Honorary Chairman
— Asia Pacific of CMA Australia, Chairman of Monte Jade Science
and Technology Association of Hong Kong, President of Hong Kong -
ASEAN Economic Cooperation Foundation, Vice President of the Hong
Kong Real Property Federation, Special Adviser to the Asia Pacific Real
Estates Association, a Board member of the Chinese General Chamber
of Commerce of Hong Kong and the Australian Chamber of Commerce
in Hong Kong and Macau, a founding Board member and the Honourary
Treasurer of the Hong Kong Vietnam Chamber of Commerce, Vice
Chairman of the Hong Kong Myanmar Chamber of Commerce, a
founding member of the Hong Kong-Korea Business Council, and a
member of the Hong Kong-Thailand Business Council.

Mr. Lam Yat Fai, aged 52, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director, a member of the remuneration committee and a
member of audit committee of the Company in 2004. On 26 November
2013, he was appointed as the chairman of the audit committee. He was
appointed as a member of nomination committee and risk management
committee on 22 July 2009. He is a Certified Public Accountant
(Practising). He is also a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants and a fellow member of the Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants. Mr. Lam worked with Kwan Wong Tan
& Fong and Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu for over 10 years. Mr. Lam has
accumulated rich experience in auditing, taxation, corporate finance and
accounting over the years. Mr. Lam is an independent non-executive
director of Oriental Press Group Limited (stock code: 0018), which is
listed on the Main Board of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange.
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M ANEEEHMATDAEBRE
EE - FRELUNEHEEER - FE-R
BEECHFEZETER ERABHERTS
BEgR -DAERMEREHER &
BAREAHNTEE FBRORPIRAF D
HEEE B8 - UMBERIRESTIN
ERXETNE -FEEOOBHERNERF &
#-BHEBERIEHERER - REHE
BX & °

MHB@EEE > 525k 0 R2004FEEZ T
ARATZEIIENITES HFNEET
MERBIZEZEGHE - MAEER2013FE1
BBHEZTAERZETEE ML
R2009F7TERHEZTEARBEZEST KA
MEEZEEME - HIRAMEDEM
NAESBEH AT RAEBARHFARE:
MABEFREE -MEEEREAERSE
AT R EE) - BAEMRS G etEMiT TIER
106 o MEERES M - CERERD
HEFERBEZELRE MEEABNER
B ER EFZRAREEBBRAR
(R 1D K58 & 0018) ZIBILIEHITES

BT 13



(VN iz sREAT

Tianda Pharmaceuticals Limited

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

ESEE

Mr. Chiu Sung Hong, aged 71, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director, the chairman of the audit committee of the
Company with effect from 10 April 2008. Mr. Chiu ceased to act as
the chairman of the audit committee and remained as a member of
the committee on 26 November 2013. Mr. Chiu was appointed as the
chairman of risk management committee on 22 July 2009. On 1 April
2012, he was appointed as the chairman of the remuneration committee
and a member of the nomination committee. He received an LL.B.
degree from the University of Sydney. He is admitted as a solicitor of
the Supreme Court of New South Wales and the High Court of Australia.
He has over 30 years of experience in legal practice. Mr. Chiu is the
founding member of the Board of Trustees of the Australian Nursing
Home Foundation and a senior research fellow of Centre for Law &
Globalization of Renmin University of China. He also served as the
General Secretary of Australian Chinese Community Association of
New South Wales. Mr. Chiu is an independent non-executive director of
CNOOC Limited (stock code: 0883), which is listed on the Main Board of
the Hong Kong Stock Exchange and Bank of China (Australia) Limited.

Mr. Chiu Fan Wa, aged 53, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director, a member of the remuneration committee
and audit committee of the Company on 31 March 2009. Mr. Chiu is
a founder and the managing director of Chiu, Choy & Chung C.P.A.
Limited, and a partner of F. S. Li & Co. He graduated from City
University of Hong Kong and obtained a Bachelor of Arts (Honours)
degree with major in accountancy in 1992 and was awarded a
Master of Professional Accounting from The Hong Kong Polytechnic
University in 2002. He is a Certified Public Accountant (Practising) in
Hong Kong, a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants, a fellow member of the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants, a fellow member of the Institute of the Chartered
Accountants in England and Wales, a fellow member of The Society
of Chinese Accountants & Auditors, an associate of The Hong Kong
Institute of Chartered Secretaries and an associate of The Institute of
Chartered Secretaries and Administrators, United Kingdom, a fellow
member of The Taxation Institute of Hong Kong and a Certified Tax
Advisor. Mr. Chiu was also an independent non-executive director of
Kenford Group Holdings Limited (stock code: 0464), which is listed on
the Main Board of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange.

Mr. Shi Shaobin, aged 50, was appointed as executive Director
on 13 March 2015 and re-designated as non-executive Director on 1
February 2017. Mr. Shi resigned on 31 December 2017.
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REPORT OF THE CHAIRMAN
EFERWE

On behalf of the Board of Directors of the Company, | am pleased
to present the annual results of the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as Tianda Pharmaceuticals or the Group) for the
year ended 31 March 2018 (the Current Financial Year/FYE 2018) for
shareholders’ review.

In the past year, under the continuous deepening of the reform
of the national medical and healthcare system, the Group continued
to strengthen its management over daily operations, vigorously
developed the third terminal sales channel and its customer coverage,
steadily promoted the progress of research and development (R&D),
and actively grasped and explored opportunities for cooperation
with external parties and for investment and development. Total
revenue of the Group for the FYE 2018 amounted to approximately
HK$361,600,000, increased significantly by 84.9% as compared to
approximately HK$195,500,000 for the year ended 31 March 2017
(Last Corresponding Period/FYE 2017). Gross profit increased from
approximately HK$120,000,000 for the Last Corresponding Period
to approximately HK$270,400,000 for the Current Financial Year,
representing an increase of 125.3%. Gross profit margin increased by
13.4 percentage points from 61.4% for the Last Corresponding Period to
74.8% for the Current Financial Year. Profit attributable to owners of the
parent for the FYE 2018 amounted to approximately HK$10,000,000.
The Group declared a final dividend of HK0.35 cent per share for FYE
2018 (FYE 2017: HKO0.57 cent per share), amounting to approximately
HK$7,500,000.

In the FYE 2018, Tianda Pharmaceuticals’ marketing team seized
the opportunity of a new round of bidding and online procurement. The
Group won bids for providing various products such as Cerebroprotein
Hydrolysate Injection and Aceglutamide Injection and maintained high
bid prices, meanwhile, the pediatric series, which include Ibuprofen
suspension and drops, Dex-pseud-chlorpeniramine syrup and Ambroxol
HCI Syrup, are successfully available for online procurement in most
of the provinces in China. The Group recorded remarkable sales
performance in the hospital market segment. As for the OTC market,
through the organic integration of sales control model and academic
promotion, the Group further strengthened the market positions of two
major brands, namely Tuoen (lbuprofen series) and Tuoping (Valsartan
series) and expanded the coverage of the third terminal sales networks,
the sales volume of which achieved a breakthrough growth.
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Tianda Pharmaceuticals Limited

REPORT OF THE CHAIRMAN
EFERIE

The Group also carried out external expansion through
cooperation and acquisition. In the FYE 2018, the Group deepened
its business cooperation with Shanghai Pharmaceuticals Group, the
second largest shareholder of the Group. By the end of the Current
Financial Year, both parties entered into a three-year framework
agreement to strengthen their cooperation over marketing networks
and products and support each other’s business development. As for
mergers and acquisitions, upon the completion of the acquisition of the
entire equity interest in a Zhuhai-based pharmaceutical company with
limited liability in the Current Financial Year, the company has been
renamed as Tianda Chinese Medicine (China) Limited. It is principally
engaged in the business of Chinese herbal medicines, Traditional
Chinese Medicine (TCM) decoction pieces and Chinese patent
medicines; in addition, the Group entered into an agreement in April
2018 to acquire a TCM decoction pieces manufacturer that possesses
the Good Manufacturing Practice for Pharmaceutical Products
Certification (GMP certification). The acquisition will be completed
shortly and will complement the Group’s ongoing development of its
fully-integrated TCM industry value chain.

Furthermore, the Group’s R&D progressed smoothly. Research
for the Valsartan capsule’s conformity assessment has been
carried out in accordance with the requirements under the national
policies and the Group strived to accelerate the project declaration
procedures; pharmaceutical research has been completed for Type
Four glucose-lowering Acarbose tablets and the Group is ready for
conducting clinical research for the drug. The R&D of TCM products
has been commenced orderly: food products, healthcare food products
and drug series that feature dried tangerine peel, a Chinese herb
in Guangdong Province, is under development; development of
healthcare products series based on ZhiKang Granules was carried
out; “notoginseng” series healthcare products that are based on
“Qi-Shangzhen oral solution”, a healthcare product using notoginseng
stalks as main ingredient, are currently under development; over 100
products such as soup packages, tea bags, medicinal liquors, TCM
paste and herbal tea products have been developed to cope with
the development of TDMall, an innovative TCM medical chain center
business. The construction of the new R&D and pharmaceutical
production base in Jinwan District, Zhuhai has been progressing in full
swing. It will be completed by the end of 2019 and will commence formal
operation in mid-2020.

FEETERSFRKBLNETH
RIEHRR o 12018 EE » ZEFRF
ARREBBEEBRMRESRGE > LT
TR EERENERRIT T —H=FH
BERE  EATHERRERGE
XFRIENEBER - EHEBESE > A5
BREETABB-—RBURKESHNBERR
NEZEHRIER > ZRFERBZHRK
HRE (hE) ARAR > TEHREM
HERRRPREES B AEE2018
FIREFT—ME > WE—BHE(ER
TEHEEERBITEFEES) (GMPRE) B9
FERREERE  KKBRIRERRT
B MEEEXREESERPBESEXEM
B

SN » REBEMFERIER » Hp#g
BEREEER EEREESENVIEBRE—X
HEHMEMMZEI(E » WHRMRIBE B ;
B 5Tk U R PR NE R R R EE R S 29T
P ER PR SEZE M - BB EE RIAEE
BEFHE  UEREMEMERE ST > B
ZEm RREEBRKMERRY  ERES
BEENERFETRIBEERBE; &
M=+tEAFTFRENEt ELEORRERE
WL FEET=tRIIEEERRE,
AN REHPBERKEEREE
EHZESE - FE BB B RESR
NEEBENER RKEESEEMFE
MWEEMIEE 2 HfED > BRR2019E
[T > 2020 FIENELA ©




REPORT OF THE CHAIRMAN
EFERWE

In the current year, the management team will focus on
formulating and implementing a five-year development plan. The Group
will execute the “three integrates” initiative and will be devoted to the
integration of R&D resources, integration of marketing resources and
integration of management resources accordingly, so as to realise the
evolvement of the Company from a pharmaceutical manufacturer of
generic drugs to a comprehensive medic-pharmaceuticals enterprise.

Looking forward, Tianda Pharmaceuticals continues to actively
promote the development of its fully-integrated TCM industry value
chain. The Group has completed the procedures for establishing in
Macao the Tianda Chinese Medicine Limited as its TCM business
headquarter, TDMall (Group) Limited as its innovative Chinese medical
chain centre, and Tianda Chinese Medicine Institute Limited as its
TCM research platform, and together with the foundations provided by
various ongoing projects in the area of TCM, the Group will continue to
further develop and enhance its industry strategy and build new growth
poles for the Company within the shortest possible time. On the other
hand, it will continue to closely monitor the cutting-edge technologies
and latest development of modern medical science, capitalise on
cooperation and investment opportunities, identify new opportunities for
development, and strive to enter into a new era with brilliant prospects.

Last but not least, | would like to express my sincere gratitude
to our clients, staff, business partners and shareholders for their
unremitting confidence in and support for the Group, and also the Board
of Directors for their efforts and contributions to the Group’s expeditious
business growth.

Fang Wen Quan
Chairman

Hong Kong, 28 June 2018
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Tianda Pharmaceuticals Limited

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

B R mEE ST

FINANCIAL REVIEW

During the Current Financial Year, the Group recorded a
consolidated revenue of approximately HK$361,600,000 from its
core business, representing an increase of 84.9% as compared with
approximately HK$195,500,000 for the FYE 2017. Gross profit was
approximately HK$270,400,000 which increased by 125.3% from
approximately HK$120,000,000 for the FYE 2017. Gross profit margin
increased significantly by 13.4 percentage points from 61.4% for the
FYE 2017 to 74.8% for the Current Financial Year.

During the Current Financial Year, the Group improved its sales
performance by vigorously developing the third terminal sales channel
to increase its customer base. Sales revenue of Tianda Pharmaceuticals
(Zhuhai) Ltd. (Tianda Pharmaceuticals (Zhuhai)), a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, increased by 38.8% from approximately
HK$115,600,000 for the FYE 2017 to approximately HK$160,400,000,
with its main product “Tuoen” (Ibuprofen suspension and drops)
delivered remarkable sales performance, the sales revenue and sales
volume of “Tuoen” up by 76.5% and 48.5% year-over-year respectively.
Profit contribution from Tianda Pharmaceuticals (Zhuhai) also increased
by 28.8% from approximately HK$11,600,000 for the FYE 2017 to
approximately HK$15,000,000 for the Current Financial Year.

Yunnan Meng Sheng Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. (Meng Sheng
Pharmaceutical) adjusted its sales model during the Current Financial
Year in response to the changes in policy brought by the Chinese
government’s gradual implementation of the Two-Invoice System for
drug sales. As a result, both selling price of products and operating
costs increased accordingly, leading to an increase in sales revenue
of 152.3% from approximately HK$77,800,000 for the FYE 2017 to
approximately HK$196,300,000 for the Current Financial Year, while
selling and distribution expenses also increased from approximately
HK$15,900,000 for the FYE 2017 to approximately HK$131,200,000
for the Current Financial Year. Domestic sales volume of its
flagship product, Cerebroprotein Hydrolysate Injection, increased by
nearly 11.9%. Meanwhile, the sales revenue and sales volume of
“Qi-Shangzhen oral solution”, a healthcare product using notoginseng
stalks (sangi, a local medicine in Yunnan) as base ingredient, increased
by 63.5% and 60.0% respectively for the Current Financial Year as
compared to those recorded for the FYE 2017. Profit contribution from
Meng Sheng Pharmaceutical, after netting off non-controlling interests’
share, increased slightly from approximately HK$13,500,000 for the
FYE 2017 to approximately HK$13,700,000 for the Current Financial
Year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

B E RS T

Selling and distribution expenses increased from approximately
HK$49,400,000 for the FYE 2017 to approximately HK$197,200,000
for the Current Financial Year. As explained above, Meng
Sheng Pharmaceutical recorded agency fees of approximately
HK$112,700,000 for the Current Financial Year due to its change in
sales model in response to the Chinese government’s implementation
of the Two-Invoice System. The substantial increase in selling and
distribution expenses was mainly due to building of the sales team and
extensive market expansion. With regard to administrative expenses,
the Group continued its efforts to enhance efficiency and effectiveness
in costs control and contained the increase of the overall administrative
expenses which recorded a slight increase from approximately
HK$50,200,000 for the FYE 2017 to approximately HK$55,100,000 for
the Current Financial Year.

The Group recorded other income and other net gains of
approximately HK$15,000,000, representing a slight decrease as
compared to approximately HK$15,300,000 for the FYE 2017.
There were three main components of growth which were included
in the other income and other net gains for the Current Financial
Year, namely 1) interest income from bank deposits and fair value
gain on derivative financial instruments increased by approximately
HK$300,000 or 3.5% from approximately HK$8,800,000 for the
FYE 2017 to approximately HK$9,100,000; 2) in view of the
substantial returns that could be realised from its investment in
ASLAN Pharmaceuticals Limited (ASLAN) and in order to lock in
the lucrative profits and capitalise on the opportunity to realise its
investment, during the Current Financial Year, the Group disposed
2,797,000 shares in ASLAN on Taiwan’s OTC Exchange, representing
approximately two-thirds of the Group’s shareholdings in ASLAN,
and recorded a profit of approximately HK$8,300,000, representing
an increase of approximately HK$2,100,000 or 34.7% as compared
to the one-off fair value gain on investment of approximately
HK$6,200,000 when the Group derecognised the ASLAN Preference
Shares during the FYE 2017. As all the applicable percentage
ratios under Rule 14.07 of the Listing Rules in respect of the shares
disposal in ASLAN were below 5%, the shares disposal transaction
did not constitute a notifiable transaction for the Company; and
3) recognised impairment of approximately HK$1,300,000 for intangible
assets in respect of healthcare product business during the Current
Financial Year, representing a decrease of approximately HK$5,100,000
or 79.6% as compared to the impairment of goodwill and intangible
assets in aggregate of approximately HK$6,400,000 for the FYE 2017.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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The above growth components were partly offset by non-cash exchange
losses due to the continuous depreciation of Hong Kong dollar against
RMB during the Current Financial Year, the Group recorded a net
exchange loss of approximately HK$2,800,000, as compared to net
exchange gain of approximately HK$3,700,000 for the FYE 2017 arising
from the appreciation of Hong Kong dollar against RMB.

The Group completed the acquisition of Zhuhai Renhong Medicine
Co., Ltd. on 4 December 2017 with the acquiree being renamed as
Tianda Chinese Medicine (China) Limited subsequently to promote
its investment and development in the Traditional Chinese Medicine
(TCM) industry. However, a loss of approximately HK$2,100,000 was
recorded for the Current Financial Year as the business is in the phase
of consolidation after the acquisition.

Based on the foregoing, profit attributable to owners of the parent
for the Current Financial Year was approximately HK$10,000,000,
representing a decrease of 19.6% as compared to approximately
HK$12,400,000 for the FYE 2017, representing basic and diluted
earnings per share of HK0.47 cents (FYE 2017: HKO0.58 cents).

The Group maintained its sound financial position, net cash
flows from operating activities and net cash inflows increased from
approximately HK$40,600,000 and approximately HK$25,900,000 for
the FYE 2017 to approximately HK$58,800,000 and approximately
HK$57,600,000 for the Current Financial Year respectively. As at 31
March 2018, the Group’s cash and cash equivalents amounted to
approximately HK$493,200,000 with no external borrowing, representing
a net cash value per share equivalent to HK22.9 cents. The current
ratio and quick ratio decreased from 7.53 and 6.97 for the FYE 2017
to 4.58 and 4.31 for the Current Financial Year respectively. The
decrease in the ratios was mainly due to the significant increase in both
trade receivables and other payables on marketing expenses arising
from change in sales model in response to the implementation of the
Two-Invoice System.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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BUSINESS REVIEW

During the Current Financial Year, through managerial and
technological innovation, the operation team has successfully widened
the Group’s supply side, implemented material procurement and bidding
in bulk volume, strengthened production standardisation assessment,
achieved cost and consumption reduction and enhanced efficiency; the
Group also adhered to the strategy of controlling sales and stepped up
its efforts in product promotion which contributed to sales growth. While
further enhancing the performance of its existing business, the Group
grasped the opportunities arising from the national policy of supporting
the development of TCM. It will focus on nine components in three
major aspects, namely “Chinese Medical Practice, Chinese Medicines
and Smart TCM”, and take the opportunity to build its presence in the
TCM industry and strive to build new growth poles for the Company.

The Group views both research and development (R&D) and
innovation as the important driving force for its long-term development
and devised a five-year development plan for R&D accordingly. During
the Current Financial Year, 1) process optimisation and sample
preparation of Valsartan capsules Conformity Assessment Project
commenced smoothly; 2) sufficient pharmaceutical research has been
completed for Type Four glucose-lowering Acarbose and the Group
is ready for conducting clinical research for the drug. The next step
would be improvement of pharmaceutical research of Acarbose tablets
and formal commencement of bioequivalence tests and other research
works; 3) “dried tangerine peel plus” product project features dried
tangerine peel, a Chinese herb in Canton regions, with the development
of nine product series as its focus, namely dried tangerine peel candy
series, lipid and blood sugar-lowering series, dampness removing
and phlegm reducing series, spleen strengthening and digestion
promotion series, antidote and liver protection series, heat clearance
and dampness removal series, beauty maintenance series, bowels
loosening and weight loss series, and sleeping improvement series; 4)
development of healthcare products series based on ZhiKang Granules
was carried out and the preparation of 21 samples of products derived
from Zhikang Granules in small quantities has been completed; 5) over
100 products such as soup packages, tea bags, medicinal liquors,
TCM paste and herbal tea products have been developed to cope
with the development of TDMall, an innovative TCM medical chain
center business; 6) in addition to the “Qi-Shangzhen oral solution”,
a healthcare product using notoginseng stalks as main ingredient,
the Group is developing “notoginseng” series healthcare products; 7)
received government awards or subsidies of over HK$1,400,000.
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The Group’s sales network covers all provinces, cities and
autonomous regions in the PRC. The pediatric series, namely
Ibuprofen suspension and drops, Dex-pseud-chlorpeniramine
syrup and Ambroxol HCI syrup, are successfully available for
online procurement in most of the provinces and cities in China.
Hospital sales increased steadily, of which the annual sales
volume of “Tuoen” (Ibuprofen series) products broke through the
10 million bottles level; the Group also won bids for providing
Cerebroprotein Hydrolysate Injection and Aceglutamide Injection
and maintained high bid prices. As for the OTC market, through
the organic integration of sales control model and academic
promotion, the Group further strengthened its coverage and
market competitiveness of the Company’s products and brand in
the third terminal sales network.

“Herb Valley” series health products maintained its sales growth
momentum. The business actively expanded its sales channels in
Mainland China, Hong Kong and Australia, explored and attracted
new customers, launched diversified product promotion programs,
and stimulated consumers’ purchasing power. A revamped
e-commerce platform was officially re-launched at the end of
2017. The business strengthened its brand promotion efforts on
WeChat and Weibo and continued to expand the exposure of
“Herb Valley” healthcare products and Super Manuka Honey and
improved the reputation of its products and brand continuously.

By the end of the Current Financial Year, the Group entered into a
three-year framework agreement with Shanghai Pharmaceuticals
Holding Co., Ltd*, the second largest shareholder of the
Company, so as to strengthen both parties’ cooperation over their
products and marketing networks to promote joint development.

The acquisition of Zhuhai Renhong Medicine Co., Ltd. was
completed on 4 December 2017 with the acquiree being renamed
as Tianda Chinese Medicine (China) Limited subsequently. The
company possesses the Good Supply Practice for Pharmaceutical
Products Certification (GSP Certification) and this marked the
commencement of Chinese herbal medicines, TCM decoction
pieces and Chinese patent medicines business of the Group.

*  For identification purpose only
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- In April 2018, the Group entered into an acquisition agreement to
acquire the entire interest in a company that possesses the Good
Manufacturing Practice for Pharmaceutical Products Certification
(GMP Certification) and engaged in the manufacturing of TCM
decoction pieces at a cash consideration of approximately
HK$3,000,000. The acquisition added an important component
to the Group’s ongoing development of its fully-integrated TCM
industry value chain. The acquisition is subject to fulfillment of
conditions by the seller and is expected to be completed shortly.
The Group will issue a voluntary announcement in this respect in
due course.

- The new R&D and pharmaceutical production base in Jinwan
District, Zhuhai will be constructed in two phases. The first
phase covers the construction of ancillary facilities for various
existing pharmaceutical products and newly-developed TCM
decoction pieces and TCM preparation operations of Tianda
Pharmaceuticals (Zhuhai) and ancillary facilities required for R&D.
During the Current Financial Year, the cost, quality control and
safety management and other aspects of the base construction
have all been effectively monitored and all work has been
progressing smoothly. It will be completed by the end of 2019 and
will commence operation in mid-2020.

OUTLOOK

The Group will integrate its R&D resources and implement a
five-year R&D plan; step up its efforts to develop innovative drugs
with intellectual property rights, undergo comprehensive R&D plan for
TCM technology and product, stay at the forefront of modern medical
science and technology, and capitalise on investment and development
opportunities. The Group will also integrate its marketing resources,
formulate five-year marketing plan; explore opportunities in the
international market based on its strong foundation in the PRC market,
build four marketing teams for Tianda Pharmaceuticals (China), Tianda
Chinese Medicine (China), Tianda Pharmaceuticals (Australia) and
Tianda Pharmaceuticals (Hong Kong) respectively, further improve the
e-commerce platform of “Herb Valley”; strengthen and devote additional
resources to new market development, strengthen the reputation of
“Tianda” brand and various brands of the Group, and strengthen the
building of new sales growth drivers and new competitive products,
and with concerted effort, the Group is committed to developing
“Herb Valley” healthcare products as another source of profit with
“Qi-Shangzhen oral solution” and Super Manuka Honey series will take
the role to spur the development, it will also adopt a multi-pronged
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approach and develop its proprietary patented product, ZhiKang
Granules, into another well-known product; promote the development
of TCM and TCM decoction pieces business in both domestic and
foreign markets, and commence the operation of TDMall in a steady
and healthy manner. The Group will integrate its management resources
to accelerate its five-year development plan; leverage on opportunities
arising from human resources integration as a breakthrough to promote
the rational deployment of various management resources which cover
financial assets, production and operation, material procurement, quality
control, and information technology, make the best use of its talents and
resources available, further improve efficiency and effectiveness; take
innovation as an initiative to effectively implement flat management,
intensive management and collaborative management. The “three
integrations” mentioned above will be the Group’s starting point
for future development. The Group will strive for its organic growth
and move forward steadily and is committed to developing into a
comprehensive pharmaceuticals enterprise.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

The Group’s liquidity remains steady and healthy. As at 31
March 2018, the Group’s cash and cash equivalents was approximately
HK$493,200,000 (31 March 2017: approximately HK$399,300,000),
of which approximately 16.2%, 76.8% and 6.7% were denominated in
Hong Kong dollars, Renminbi and New Taiwanese dollars respectively
with remaining in Australian dollars, United States dollars and Euros.
The Group has no external borrowing as at 31 March 2018. Therefore,
the Group has sufficient resources to meet its obligation and daily
operations.

EXCHANGE RATE EXPOSURE

The Group’s assets, liabilities and transactions are substantially
dominated in Hong Kong dollars, Renminbi, Australian dollars, United
States dollars and New Taiwanese dollars.

The Group has sales and investments in foreign operations which
use currencies other than its functional currency Renminbi. As such, the
Group had some exposure to foreign currency risk. The management
from time to time determines suitable measures, such as entering into
forward currency contracts, to minimise exposure to exchange rate
fluctuation in material transactions denominated in currencies other than
Renminbi. The Group did not enter into any forward currency contracts
to hedge its foreign currency risks as at 31 March 2018 and 31 March
2017.
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CHARGES ON ASSETS BHERHE

As at 31 March 2017, the Company pledged certain bank deposits 12017838318 » AT E M —RR
in favor of a bank to secure bank facilities granted to the Company. The ~ {TEFEFTIRITER  (FAXAGFFER
bank facilities were undrawn during the years ended 31 March 2018 and ~ $R{TRAE ZKIF - BRARITRE N EZE2018
31 March 2017. The pledge has been released during the year ended ~ 38 31H K2017E3831H LLEE A H K

31 March 2018. B ZEREREE2018FEIF3MBLLEFE
PR o
EMPLOYEES 3=
The Group has approximately 481 employees in Hong Kong, M2018F3H831H » AEBER BB~ H

Mainland China and Australia as at 31 March 2018. The Group B APERGRAFEEBLNBIZES - K&
remunerates its employees based on market terms and the qualification ERETSEFUREBAEEZEERK
and experience of the employees concerned. BETEEMSE -

BN 25



26 EESEEEEEY

Tianda Pharmaceuticals Limited

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EEEGRE

The Company is firmly committed to maintaining statutory
and regulatory standards and adhering to the principles of corporate
governance, emphasizing transparency and accountability to the
shareholders.

The Company has complied with the code provisions of the
Corporate Governance Code (the CG Code) in Appendix 14 of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange
(the Listing Rules) during the FYE 2018 except as mentioned below.

Mr. Fang Wen Quan is the Chairman of the Board and the
Managing Director of the Company. Pursuant to code provision of A.2.1
of the CG Code, the roles of the chairman and chief executive officer
of an issuer should be separated and should not be performed by the
same individual. The division of responsibilities between the chairman
and chief executive officer should be clearly established and set out in
writing. Having considered the current business operation and the size
of the Group, the Board is of the view that Mr. Fang Wen Quan acting
as both the Chairman of the Board and the Managing Director of the
Company is acceptable and in the best interest of the Group. The Board
will review this situation periodically.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control of the
Company and oversees the businesses, strategic development, financial
performance and corporate governance of the Group. The management
is delegated with the powers and authorities for overseeing the
day-to-day operation of the Group.
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The Board currently consists of 8 Directors, comprising 2
executive Directors, 3 non-executive Directors and 3 independent
non-executive Directors (INEDs) namely:

Executive Directors:
Mr. Fang Wen Quan (Chairman and Managing Director)
Mr. Lui Man Sang

Non-executive Directors:
Mr. Shen Bo
Mr. Feng Quanming
Dr. Lam Lee G.
(Appointed on 1 January 2018)

INEDs:

Mr. Lam Yat Fai

Mr. Chiu Sung Hong
Mr. Chiu Fan Wa

During the FYE 2018, Mr. Shi Shaobin resigned as non-executive
Director with effect from 31 December 2017 in order to devote more
time on his personal matters.

The Board believes that the balance between executive Directors
and non-executive Directors is reasonable and adequate to provide
sufficient balances that protect the interest of the shareholders and the
Group.

INEDs are appointed for a term of 2 years and are subject to
retirement in accordance with the Company’s articles of association.

More than one of the INEDs has appropriate professional
qualification in accounting or related financial management expertise.
Save as disclosed in the biographical details of each Director, there
is no other relationship (including financial, business, family, or other
material/relevant relationship) among members of the Board.

The articles of association of the Company provide that one-third
of all the directors shall retire from office by rotation at each annual
general meeting (AGM), and the INEDs are subject to this provision.
The Company has received annual confirmation of independence from
the three INEDs in accordance with Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

Annual Report 2018
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The Board has established a formal schedule of matters
specifically reserves to the Board for its decision. The Board reviews
this schedule on a periodic basis to ensure that it remains appropriate to
the needs of the Board.

The Board has established procedures to enable directors,
upon reasonable request, to seek independent professional advice in
appropriate circumstances to enable them to discharge their duties at
the Company’s expenses. The articles of association of the Company
contain description of responsibility and operation procedures of the
Board. The Board meets regularly to review the financial and operating
performance of the Group.

Corporate Governance Functions

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance
duties including the following matters attended by the Board during the
FYE 2018:

. develop and review the Company’s policies and practices
on corporate governance and make recommendations;

. review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of directors and senior management;

. review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

. develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and
directors; and

. review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report under
Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules.

Directors’ training and professional development
Directors of the Company are continually updated with legal and

regulatory developments, and the business environment to facilitate the
discharge of their responsibilities.
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All Directors are also provided with monthly updates on the
Company’s performance, position and prospects to enable the Board as
a whole and each Director to discharge their duties.

All Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous
professional development to develop and refresh their knowledge
and skills. Newly appointed Directors are provided with the necessary
induction and information to ensure that they have a proper
understanding of the Company’s operations and businesses as well
as their responsibilities under the relevant statues, laws, rules and
regulations.

Based on the training records provided to the Company by the
Directors, all the Directors have participated in the trainings by reading
newspapers, journals and updates and/or attending seminars relating to
corporate governance, regulatory updates, economy, general business
or director’s duties and responsibilities, etc. during the FYE 2018.

Directors’ meeting

During the FYE 2018, the Board held 5 full board meetings. The
attendances of the Directors at the meetings are as follows:
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Number of Meetings

Attended/Held
Directors = HEBITEERY
Executive Directors : HTES:
Mr. Fang Wen Quan BX#RE 5/5

(Chairman and Managing Director) (EFERREFHLE)

Mr. Lui Man Sang BXERE 5/5
Non-executive Directors : ERITESE:
Mr. Shen Bo LR EE 5/5
Mr. Feng Quanming BEREE 415
Dr. Lam Lee G. (Appointed on 1 January 2018) MREEL (R2018E151HEZ(E) 11
Mr. Shi Shaobin (Resigned on 31 December 2017)  Ha/L3R S (522017412531 H FE) 414
INEDs : BUFHITES:
Mr. Lam Yat Fai MBBEE 515
Mr. Chiu Sung Hong HERKE 2/5
Mr. Chiu Fan Wa HmMELE 415
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The Board has also established the audit committee, nomination
committee, remuneration committee and risk management committee
which comprises a majority of INEDs. Each of these committees has
its own terms of reference to set out its specific duties and authorities
and reports to the Board. For the terms of reference of each committee,
please visit the website of our Company www.tiandapharma.com.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The remuneration committee of the Company was established
with specific written terms of reference. It comprises three INEDs of
the Company, Mr. Chiu Sung Hong, Mr. Lam Yat Fai and Mr. Chiu Fan
Wa and one executive Director of the Company, Mr. Fang Wen Quan.
Mr. Chiu Sung Hong is the chairman of the remuneration committee
during the year.

The remuneration committee is responsible for making
recommendations to the Board on, among other things, the
Company’s policy and structure for the remuneration to all Directors
and senior management of the Company and is delegated by the
Board the responsibility to determine on behalf of the Board the
specific remuneration packages for all executive Directors and senior
management of the Company.

The remuneration committee held 1 meeting during the FYE 2018
to review and make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
packages of individual executive Directors, the non-executive Directors,
the INEDs and senior management; and to review the bonus to senior
management.

Details of individual attendance of its members during the
FYE 2018 are as follows:
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Particulars regarding Directors’ remuneration and the five highest
paid employees as required to be disclosed pursuant to Appendix 16
to the Listing Rules are set out in notes 7 and 8 to the consolidated
financial statements, respectively.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Company has established nomination committee comprising
two INEDs, Mr. Lam Yat Fai and Mr. Chiu Sung Hong and one executive
Director of the Company, Mr. Fang Wen Quan (who is the chairman of
the nomination committee).

The duties of the nomination committee are reviewing and
supervising the structure, size and composition of the Board, identifying
qualified individuals to become members of the Board, assessing the
independence of the INEDs and making recommendations to the Board
on the appointment or re-appointment of Directors.

During the FYE 2018, the nomination committee held 2 meetings.
Details of individual attendance of its members are as follows:
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Mr. Fang Wen Quan (Chairman) FXERE (F/E) 212
Mr. Lam Yat Fai wEERE 2/2
Mr. Chiu Sung Hong HERKE 112

During the FYE 2018, the nomination committee had reviewed
the structure, size and composition of the Board, assessed the
independence of the INEDs and made recommendation to the Board on
appointment of new non-executive Director, and re-election of retiring
Directors.

In considering the appointment of Dr. Lam Lee G. as the new
non-executive Director, the nomination committee assessed his
incumbent on criteria such as integrity, independent mindedness,
experience, skill and ability to commit time and effort to carry out his
duties and responsibilities effectively, etc. and made recommendation to
the Board for approval.
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Board Diversity Policy

The Company has a board diversity policy aiming at setting out
the approach on diversity of the Board of the Company.

The Board recognises the importance of having a diverse board in
enhancing the Board effectiveness and corporate governance. A diverse
board will include and make good use of difference in the skills, industry
knowledge and experience, education, background and other qualities,
etc. of Directors and does not discriminate on the ground of race, age
gender or religious belief. These differences will be taken into account
in determining the optimum composition of the Board and when possible
should be balanced appropriately.

The nomination committee is responsible for reviewing the
structure, size and composition (including the skills, knowledge
and experience) of the Board and make recommendations to the
Board regarding any proposed changes, identifying individuals
suitably qualified to become Board members and select or make
recommendations to the Board on the selection of, individuals
nominated for directorships with regards to their qualifications, skills,
experience and knowledge, assess the independence of INEDs, and
make recommendations to the Board on relevant matters relating to
the appointment of Directors and succession planning for Directors in
particular the chairman and the chief executive officer.

The nomination committee is also responsible for reviewing and
reporting to the board diversity.

Board appointments will be based on merit and candidates will be
considered against objective criteria, having due regard for the benefits
of diversity on the Board.

At present, the nomination committee has not set any measurable
objectives to implement the board diversity policy. However, it will
consider and review the board diversity policy and setting of any
measurable objectives from time to time.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee comprises three INEDs of the Company,
being, Mr. Lam Yat Fai, Mr. Chiu Sung Hong and Mr. Chiu Fan Wa
and one non-executive Director, Mr. Shen Bo. Mr. Lam Yat Fai is the
chairman of the audit committee.

The role and function of the audit committee include the
followings:

. review of and monitor the external auditor’s independence
and objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit process in
accordance with applicable standard,;

. review of the annual and interim financial statements prior
to their approval by the Board, and recommend application
of accounting policies and changes to the financial reporting
requirements; and

. review of the Company’s financial controls, internal controls
and risk management systems to ensure that management
has discharged its duty to have an effective internal control
system.

During the year, the audit committee held 3 meetings. Details of
individual attendance of its members are as follows:
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Number of Meetings

Attended/Held

HEBITEERY

Mr. Lam Yat Fai (Chairman) MWEESRE (F/EF) 3/3
Mr. Chiu Sung Hong HERERE 113
Mr. Chiu Fan Wa W ESLE 313
Mr. Shen Bo R 313

The work performed by the audit committee during the FYE 2018
includes the followings:

. review the financial statements for the year ended 31
March 2017 and for the six months ended 30 September
2017,

. to make recommendation with respect to the appointment of
the Company’s new external auditor;
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. consider and approve of the remuneration and terms of
engagement of the external auditor; and

. review the internal control and financial reporting matters of
the Company.

RISK MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

The Company has established risk management committee
comprising two INEDs, Mr. Chiu Sung Hong (chairman of risk
management committee) and Mr. Lam Yat Fai and one executive
Director, Mr. Fang Wen Quan.

The role and function of the risk management committee include
the followings:

. enhance and strengthen the system of risk management
of the Group and provide comments and recommendations

thereon to the Board;

. identify the risks of the Group and provide recommendations
to the Board; and

. other matters authorised by the Board.

During the year, the risk management committee held 1 meeting.
Details of individual attendance of its members are as follows:
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Number of Meeting
Attended/Held
HEBITEERK

Mr. Chiu Sung Hong (Chairman) HERERE (FE)
Mr. Fang Wen Quan FAXHERE
Mr. Lam Yat Fai MBEERTE

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY
DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors (the Model Code) of Listed Issuers as set out
in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules as the code of conduct regarding
Directors’ securities transactions. Having made specific enquiry of all
the Directors of the Company, they all confirm that they have complied
with the Model Code throughout the FYE 2018.
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AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The fees in relation to the audit and other services, including
reviewing interim results for the year provided by Ernst & Young,
Certified Public Accountants, the external auditor of the Company,
amounted to HK$1,300,000 and HK$380,000 respectively.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR PREPARING THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors of the Company acknowledge that it is their
responsibilities for preparing the financial statements. The Directors
of the Company consider that the Group’s financial statements have
been properly prepared in accordance with relevant regulations and
applicable accounting principles. The Directors of the Company are
not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions
which may cast significant doubt upon the Company’s ability to continue
as a going concern. The statement of the auditor about its reporting
responsibilities on the financial statements is set out in the Independent
Auditor’s Report on pages 57 to 63.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board is responsible for maintaining a sound and effective
risk management and internal control systems so as to ensure the
shareholders’ investment and the Company’s assets are properly
safeguarded. The systems of risk management and internal control are
designed to manage the risk of failure to achieve corporate objectives
and can only provide reasonable but not absolute assurance against
material misstatement, loss or fraud.

The Company has established an internal audit department to
assess its risk management and internal control systems, formulating an
impartial opinion on the systems, and reporting its findings to the Audit
Committee, the Chairman of the Board and the senior management
concerned on a regular basis as well as following up on all reports to
ensure that all issues have been satisfactorily resolved.
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Risk Management Framework

1. Each business unit is responsible for identifying, assessing and
managing risks within its business, ensuring that appropriate
internal controls for effective risk management are implemented
— principal risks are identified and assessed in the yearly
business planning process with action plans to manage those
risks;

2. The management is responsible for overseeing the risk
management and internal control activities of the Group — regular
meetings with each business unit to ensure principals risk are
properly managed, and new or changing risks are identified;

3. The Board is responsible for reviewing and approving the
effectiveness and adequacy of the Group’s risk management and
internal controls — review of the annual internal audit report and
consideration of the Audit Committee’s recommendation.

The risk management framework, coupled with our internal
controls, ensures that the risks associated with our different business
units are effectively controlled in line with the Group’s risk appetite.

The risk management system of the Group is designed to
facilitate effective and efficient operations, to ensure the maintenance
of proper accounting records, to ensure compliance with applicable
laws and regulations, to identify and manage potential risks and to
safeguard assets of the Group. The management is responsible for
the design, implementation and maintenance of internal controls, while
the Audit Committee and the Board review the effectiveness of the
Group’s systems of risk management and internal controls through the
assistance of the internal audit function.

There is no material internal control deficiency that may affect the
shareholders of the Company which has come to the attention of the
audit committee or the Board. The Directors are of the opinion that the
Company has complied with code provisions C.2.1 and C.2.2 on internal
controls as set out in the CG Code contained in Appendix 14 to the
Listing Rules.
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During the FYE 2018, the Board has reviewed the effectiveness
of the risk management and internal control systems through the
audit committee, risk management committee and the internal audit
department of the Company. The Board has also reviewed the
adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience of staff of the
Company'’s accounting and financial reporting function, and their training
programmes and budget.

The Board formed its own view on the effectiveness of the
systems based on the review of the internal audit report and the opinion
of the Audit Committee.

In respect of the FYE 2018, the Board considered the risk
management and internal control systems of the Group effective and
adequate. No significant areas of concern that may affect the financial,
operational, compliance controls, and risk management of the Group
have been identified. The Board also considered the resources,
qualification and experience, training programs and budget of the
Group’s accounting, internal audit and financial reporting functions
adequate. Nevertheless, the Group would take further steps to
continually improve its risk management and internal control systems.

DISSEMINATION OF INSIDE INFORMATION

The Company is committed to a consistent practice of timely,
accurate and sufficiently detailed disclosure of material information
about the Group. The Company has adopted a Policy on Disclosure
of Inside Information which sets out the obligations, guidelines and
procedures for handling and dissemination of inside information. With
these guidelines and procedures, the Group has management controls
in place to ensure that potential inside information can be promptly
identified, assessed and escalated for the attention of the Board to
decide about the need for disclosure.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company has engaged and appointed Mr. Lo Tai On, a
representative from an external secretarial services provider, as the
company secretary of the Company. The current primary contact person
with the company secretary of the Company is Mr. Wong Man Yuk,
Financial Controller. Mr. Lo has confirmed that he has taken no less
than 15 hours of relevant training.
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CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the FYE 2018, there was no change in the Company’s
constitutional documents.

SHAREHOLDER COMMUNICATION

The objective of shareholder communication is to provide our
shareholders with detailed information about the Company so that they
can exercise their rights as shareholders in an informed manner.

The Company employs a range of communication tools to ensure
its shareholders are kept well informed of key business imperatives.
These include general meetings, interim and annual reports,
announcements and circulars. Procedure for voting by poll had been
read out at the general meetings. All votes of the shareholders were
taken by poll. The Company announced results of the poll in the manner
prescribed under the Listing Rules.

The AGM of the Company was held on 28 August 2017. A notice
convening the AGM contained in the circular dated 28 July 2017 was
dispatched to the shareholders together with the 2017 annual report.
A separate resolution was proposed by the chairman of the meeting
in respect of each separate issue, including re-election of Directors.
Mr. Fang Wen Quan, the Chairman and the executive Director Mr. Lui
Man Sang, Mr. Shi Shaobin, non-executive Director, and three INEDs,
namely Mr. Lam Yat Fai, Mr. Chiu Sung Hong and Mr. Chiu Fan Wa
attended the AGM to answer questions raised from shareholders.
Mr. Shen Bo and Mr. Feng Quanming, non-executive Directors of the
Company, were unable to attend the AGM due to his other business
commitment. No other general meeting was held during the year.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Group fully recognises the importance of employing a
professional, truthful and proactive attitude in promoting investor
relations. This underscores the Group’s persistence in maintaining
optimum allround communications with investors, allowing it to collect
information and valuable feedbacks from investors and announce its
business strategy and direction in due course. These efforts are critical
for the Group to improve its corporate governance and strengthen
investor confidence.
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Ensuring high corporate transparency is a key emphasis in
the Group’s investor relations activities. During the FYE 2018, the
Group promoted investor relations through different channels. Regular
meetings were held between the management and investors. Latest
information regarding the Group and its business is proactively
disclosed to investors so that the best investment decisions can be
made. Whenever announcements on annual results, interim results
and material transactions are made, the Group will capitalise such
opportunities to enhance communications with investors, explaining
to them the Group’s latest operational situations and direction of
development.

The Company also maintains a website at www.tiandapharma.
com, where updates on the Company’s business developments and
operations, financial information and news can always be found.

Shareholders and investors may at any time send their enquiries
and concerns to the Board in writing through Investor Relations &
Corporate Communications Department whose contact details are as
follows:
Address:  Suites 2405-2410, 24th Floor, CITIC Tower,
No. 1 Tim Mei Avenue, Central, Hong Kong
Fax: (852) 2541 6558
Email: investor_relations@tianda.com

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

The general meetings of the Company provide an opportunity
for communication between the shareholders and the Board. The AGM
of the Company shall be held in each year at such place as may be
determined by the Board. All general meetings other than AGM shall
be called an extraordinary general meeting (EGM). Set out below are
procedures by which shareholders may (1) convene the EGM; (2) put
forward enquires to the Board; and (3) put forward proposals at general
meetings. The procedures are subject to the Company’s articles of
association and applicable legislation and regulations.
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(1)  Procedures for shareholders to convene the EGM

Any 2 or more shareholders holding at the date of the deposit of
the requisition in aggregate not less than 25 per cent of such of the paid
up capital of the Company as at the date of the deposit carries the right
of voting at general meetings of the Company.

Such requisition must state the objects of the meeting and
must be signed by the requisitionists and deposited at the Company’s
principal office in Hong Kong at Suites 2405-2410, 24th Floor, CITIC
Tower, No. 1 Tim Mei Avenue, Central, Hong Kong.

If the Directors do not within 21 days from the date of the deposit
of such requisition proceed duly to convene the EGM, the requisitionists
themselves may convene the EGM in the same manner, as nearly as
possible, as that in which meetings may be convened by the Directors,
and all reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionists as a result
of the failure of the Directors to convene such a meeting shall be
reimbursed to them by the Company.

The notice period to be given to all the registered shareholders for
consideration of the proposal raised by the requisitionist(s) concerned at
the EGM varies according to the nature of the proposal as set out in the
Company’s articles of association and the CG Code.

(2) Procedures to put forward enquiries to the Board

Shareholders may, at any time, direct enquire to the Board. All
enquiries shall be in writing with the detail contact information of the
requisitionists through the Company’s principal place of business of
Hong Kong at Suites 2405-2410, 24th Floor, CITIC Tower, No. 1 Tim
Mei Avenue, Central, Hong Kong or email to direct_enquiries@tianda.
com for the attention of the Board.
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(3) Procedures to put forward proposals at general meetings

There are no provisions in the Company’s articles of association
or the Cayman Islands Companies Law for shareholders to put forward
new resolution at general meetings other than a proposal of a person
for election as director. Shareholders may follow the procedures set out
above to convene the EGM for any business specified in such written
requisition.

The procedures for shareholder of the Company to propose a
person for election as director is posted on the Company website at
www.tiandapharma.com.
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The Directors present their annual report and the audited
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2018.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The
principal activities of its subsidiaries are research and development,
production and sales of pharmaceutical, biotechnology and healthcare
products. The Group also engages in the sales and wholesales of
Chinese Herbal Medicines, Traditional Chinese Medicine decoction
pieces and Chinese medicines.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group for the year ended 31 March
2018 containing a fair review of the business during the year and
discussion of future business development of the Group and the
principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group is set out in the
sections headed “Report of the Chairman” and “Management Discussion
and Analysis” from pages 15 to 17 and pages 18 to 25 respectively of
this Annual Report.

The financial risk management objectives and policies of the
Group are shown in note 34 to the consolidated financial statements.

RELATIONSHIP WITH EMPLOYEES, CUSTOMERS AND
SUPPLIERS

The Group understands the importance of maintaining a good
relationship with its employees, customers and suppliers to meet its
immediate and long-term business goals. During the year under review,
there were no material and significant dispute between the Group and
its employees, customers and suppliers.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The Group is committed to the sustainable development of the
environment and our society. The Group has endeavoured to comply
with laws and regulations regarding environmental protection and
adopted effective environmental practices to ensure our business
meet the required standards and ethics in respect of environmental
protection. Further discussions on the Group’s environmental policies
and the relationships with various stakeholders will be covered in a
separate “Environmental, Social and Governance (ESG) Report”. The
ESG Report will be published in the due course.
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COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND REGULATIONS

During the year, as far as the Board and management are aware,
there was no material breach of or non-compliance with the applicable
laws and regulations by the Group that has a significant impact on the
businesses and operations of the Group.

SEGMENTAL INFORMATION

An analysis of the Group’s revenue and contribution to results by
segment for the year ended 31 March 2018 is set out in note 4 to the
consolidated financial statements.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31 March 2018, the five largest customers
of the Group accounted for approximately 12.4% of the Group’s
total revenue while the largest customer of the Group accounted for
approximately 3.4% of the Group’s total revenue. In addition, for the
year ended 31 March 2018, the five largest suppliers of the Group
accounted for approximately 17.7% of the Group’s total purchases while
the largest supplier of the Group accounted for approximately 5.3% of
the Group’s total purchases.

During the FYE 2018, to the knowledge of the Directors, Tianda
Group and Hongta Tobacco (Group) Limited (Hongta) indirectly hold
the respective of 60% and 40% equity interest in Zhuhai S.E.Z. Cheng
Cheng Printing Co., Ltd.* (Cheng Cheng Printing) which is one of the
five major suppliers of the Group.

Except for the above-disclosed, none of the Directors, associates
of Director or Shareholders of the Company (who to the knowledge
of the Directors owns more than 5% of the Company’s share capital)
had any interest in the Company’s five major suppliers or five major
customers during the year.

RESULTS
The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2018

are set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income on page 64.

*  For identification purpose only
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DIVIDEND AND CLOSURES OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The Board has recommended the payment of a final dividend
of HK0.35 cent per share for FYE 2018 (FYE 2017 HKO0.57 cent per
share), subject to shareholders’ approval at the forthcoming 2018
AGM. The final dividend is expected to be paid on or before Friday,
21 September 2018 to the shareholders whose names appear on the
register of members of the Company on Friday, 7 September 2018.

The register of members of the Company will be closed from
Thursday, 23 August 2018 to Tuesday, 28 August 2018 (both days
inclusive), whereby no transfer of shares will be effected for the purpose
of ascertaining the shareholders’ entitlement to attend and vote at the
AGM. In order to be eligible to attend and vote at the AGM, all share
transfers, accompanied by the relevant share certificate(s) must be
lodged with the Company’s Hong Kong Branch share registrar, Tricor
Secretaries Limited at Level 22, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road
East, Hong Kong, not later than 4:30 p.m. on Wednesday, 22 August
2018.

The register of members of the Company will be closed from
Tuesday, 4 September 2018 to Friday, 7 September 2018 (both days
inclusive), whereby no transfer of shares will be registered. In order to
qualify for the proposed final dividend, all completed forms of transfers
with the relevant share certificate(s) must be lodged with the Company’s
Hong Kong Branch share registrar, Tricor Secretaries Limited at Level
22, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong, not later
than 4:30 p.m. on Monday, 3 September 2018.

SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years is set out on pages 8 to 9 of this
annual report.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the FYE 2018 are set out in note 12 to the consolidated
financial statements.
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SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the Company’s share capital are set out in note 24 to
the consolidated financial statements.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group during the
FYE 2018 are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity
set out on page 67 of this annual report.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 March 2018, the Company had retained profits
available for cash distribution and/or distribution in specie as computed
in accordance with the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands of
HK$98,222,370. Moreover, the share premium account of the Company
may be distributed, provided that immediately following the date on
which the dividend is proposed to be distributed, the Company will
be in a position to pay off its debts as and when they fall due in the
ordinary course of business. As at 31 March 2018, the Company’s share
premium account amounted to HK$339,017,375.

DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company during the FYE 2018 and up to the
date of this report were:

Executive Directors:
Mr. Fang Wen Quan

(Chairman and Managing Director)
Mr. Lui Man Sang

Non-executive Directors:
Mr. Shen Bo
Mr. Feng Quanming
Dr. Lam Lee G.
(Appointed on 1 January 2018)
Mr. Shi Shaobin
(Resigned on 31 December 2017)

INEDs:

Mr. Lam Yat Fai

Mr. Chiu Sung Hong
Mr. Chiu Fan Wa
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Dr. Lam Lee G. was appointed as a non-executive Director on
1 January 2018 and in accordance with Article 91 of the Company’s
articles of association, he will retire and, being eligible, offer himself for
re-election at the forthcoming AGM of the Company.

In accordance with Article 99 of the Company’s articles of
association, Messrs. Lui Man Sang, Shen Bo and Chiu Sung Hong
shall retire from their office by rotation at the forthcoming AGM of the
Company. Being eligible, they will offer themselves for re-election at the
forthcoming AGM of the Company.

INEDs are appointed for a term of 2 years and are subject to
retirement in accordance with the Company’s articles of association.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors has entered into any service agreement
with the Company which is not determinable by the Company within
1 year without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES

At 31 March 2018, the interests of the Company’s Directors, chief
executives and their associates in the shares and underlying shares of
the Company and its associated corporations as recorded in the register
maintained by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the Securities
and Futures Ordinance (Cap. 571, Laws of Hong Kong) (SFO), were as
follows:

MREBELR2018FE1B1BEZES
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EFRNRG REMRG ZExE

12018438318 » RIFFBHF RIAE %
Bl (FREBIFEE) EFRAERE]) 5
AR RBFIFEELMZECER > &NAF]
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RRB KR EBBER Z RN KA
BEZEDWMT

Shares of the Company AT R
Number of
Name of Director Capacity shares held %
EENR g1 FR¥sRe (R 82 Bt
Mr. Fang Wen Quan Held by controlled corporation 1,194,971,370 55.57
(Note)
B XERE REZEES (Htz2)

Note: All the above shares are beneficially owned by Tianda Group. Mr. Fang Wen
Quan has 100% equity interests in Tianda Group and, accordingly, is deemed
to have a corporate interest in the above shares owned by Tianda Group and
all the interests stated above represent long positions.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The purpose of a share option scheme (the Scheme) is to enable
the Company to recognise the future and/or past contributions of the
participants (as defined in the Scheme and including any director
and employee of any member of the Group) to the Company, and
to attract and retain such important participants and/or to maintain
a continuing relationship, with participants who have contributed to
the result, growth, success and benefit of the Group, and in relation
to administrative staff, to recruit and retain experienced and talented
individuals and/or to reward their past contributions.

The Scheme is for a period of 10 years from the date of adoption
on 13 July 2010. The Directors may, at their discretion, make an offer
to any participant to take up options. An option is deemed to have
been granted and accepted by the grantee upon his or her signing the
duplicate letter comprising acceptance of the option and paying HK$1 by
way of consideration for the grant thereof.

The subscription price for shares of the Company under the
Scheme shall be no less than the higher of (i) the closing price of the
shares of the Company as stated in the Hong Kong Stock Exchange’s
daily quotations sheet on the offer date (which date must be a business
day); (ii) a price being the average of the closing prices of the shares
of the Company as stated in the Hong Kong Stock Exchange’s daily
quotations sheets for the 5 business days immediately preceding the
offer date; and (iii) the nominal value of a share of the Company on the
offer date.

The total number of shares of the Company which may be issued
upon exercise of all options to be granted under the Scheme and any
other share option schemes of the Company shall not in aggregate
exceed 10 per cent of the total number of shares of the Company in
issue as at the date of approval of the Scheme. An option may be
exercised during a period to be determined by the Directors in its
absolute discretion and in any event such period shall not be longer
than 10 years from the date upon which the option is granted.
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The total number of shares issued and to be issued upon exercise
of the options granted to each participant under the Scheme in any
12-month period shall not exceed 1 per cent of the total number of
shares in issue of the Company. Any further grant of options in excess
of the 1 per cent limit shall be subject to shareholders’ approval in
a general meeting with such participant and his or her associates
abstaining from voting.

No Share Option has been granted since the adoption of the
Scheme on 13 July 2010.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS, AGREEMENTS OR
CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in note 31 to the consolidated financial
statements, no transaction, agreement or contract of significance to
which the Company, its holding company or any of its subsidiaries was
a party and in which a Director of the Company had a material interest,
whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any
time during the year.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Save for the Scheme of the Company disclosed above, at no
time during the year was the Company, its holding company or any of
its subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable the Directors to
acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures
of, the Company or any other body corporate and none of the Directors
nor any of their spouses or children under the age of 18 had any rights
to subscribe for the securities of the Company, or had exercised any
such rights during the year.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The articles of association of the Company provides that every
Director shall be indemnified out of the funds of the Company against all
liability incurred by him as such director in defending any proceedings,
whether civil or criminal, in which judgment is given in his favour, or in
which he is acquitted.

The Company has taken out insurance against the liabilities and
costs associated with defending any proceedings which may be brought
against the Directors of the Company and its subsidiaries.
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2018538 31H » RIBF S R EK
BB IE A AT FIEEZ T ERRTECM
Fim > FOIREREMEAQARNEEBREES
NES%HIIU LB BITRA BRI :

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

At 31 March 2018, the register of substantial shareholders
maintained by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO shows
that the following shareholders had notified the Company of the relevant
interests in 5% or more of the issued share capital of the Company:

Number of
Name of Shareholder Capacity shares held %
RRRBE 513 FisEZRH#E B
Tianda Group Beneficial owner 1,194,971,370 55.57
(Note 1)
AAREH BEEEAA (Hfaz1)
Mr. Fang Wen Quan Held by controlled corporation 1,194,971,370 55.57
(Note 1)
B XHERE RELEER (Hfaz1)
SIIC Medical Science and Beneficial owner 280,517,724 13.04
Technology (Group) (Note 2)
Limited (SMST)
FIEEXRERK (EFE) BDBEBA (Hfaz2)
BRAR (L EEBE)
Shanghai Pharmaceuticals Held by controlled corporation 280,517,724 13.04
Holding Co., Ltd. (SPHL) (Note 2)
LT EBBEEERMNAERAT REZEEFAR (Hizt2)
(BB
Shanghai Industrial Held by controlled corporation 280,517,724 13.04
Investment (Holdings) (Note 2)
Co., Ltd. (SIIC)
EBEX(EE) AR REZFEFA (Htz£2)
AR (LEE®E)
Hongta Tobacco (Group) Beneficial owner 207,616,264 9.65

Limited (Hongta)
AEEE (EE) BIR
BERF (A1)

Notes:

£

BmBEBEA

maE

(1) These 1,194,971,370 shares are beneficially owned by Tianda Group. Mr. (1) ZFEI1UIMINERDMEBEBRAREEBELSHE
Fang Wen Quan has 100% equity interests in Tianda Group and, accordingly, BoAXBERERRAEBREEZIBRE
is deemed to have a corporate interest in the said 1,194,971,370 shares Ft > WA EANRRKEBFRESEZ Lt
owned by Tianda Group. 1,194,971,370R% B3 R IEB AT ©

(2)  These 280,517,724 shares are beneficially owned by SMST. SMST (2) ZZE280517, 724NV H - BRBEETHER o
is beneficially owned as to 100% by SPHL and SIIC is the controlling IEEBRERRE TERBEST#E ML
shareholder of SPHL. Accordingly, SIIC and SPHL are deemed to be BEEA BBENERKE FIL» £8
interested in the said 280,517,724 shares owned by SMST. EER LI EBEWERANLIEBREMERT Y

280,517,724 & & AR P IE R #E R o
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All the interests stated above represent long positions. As at 31
March 2018, no short position was recorded in the register kept by the
Company under section 336 of the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, the Company has not been notified of
any other interest representing 5% or more in the Company’s issued
share capital as at 31 March 2018.

PURCHASE, SALE AND REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY’S
LISTED SECURITIES

During the FYE 2018, the Company repurchased a total of
160,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each on the Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong at a total consideration of HK$48,950 (excluding the
transaction cost). All the repurchased shares were subsequently
cancelled. Details of the shares repurchased during the period are set
out as follows:

Month of repurchase Number of shares

Repurchase price per share

LA EMEEEBEFE © 12018538
318 » AR BRI T F KRG 1551 53361%
FRFEZ E Ml S| ERK A ER o

BREXIREEN  AAFLEENS
I ALH2018F3B 3N B H B A AT5%H
NEBETREAZEMNHECER -

e - HERBOFATZ LHEF

018 BEE » ZATNREBER
P & £ B #8160,0008 S iR01B TR EH i@
iR BAER489508BT FEEXZE
F) - FREERIEBRMER EWKTH - AR
BEERMZFEHIIMT

Total consideration

=15 A 52 Liavt 4=| ShizEIEEE HARE

Highest Lowest (excluding transaction cost)

=B RIEE (FEEXZER)

HK$ HK$ HK$

BT BT BT

February 2018 100,000 0.310 0.300 30,500
2018528

March 2018 60,000 0.310 0.305 18,450
2018538

160,000 48,950
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Subsequent to 31 March 2018, the Company repurchased
70,000 ordinary shares on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong at a
total consideration of HK$21,050 (excluding the transaction cost) from
1 April 2018 to the date of this report. These shares were cancelled upon
repurchase. Details of the repurchased shares subsequent to 31 March
2018 are set out as follows:

Month of repurchase Number of shares

Repurchase price per share

Annual Report 2018

2201838311 » &K 2 5 B2018%
JEVBEREBEEARRE B B LR B3 Fr ol B
70,0008 ZiBA% » MAR(EA21,0508 T (FE
BRXZER) - ZERMIPREIBEESHZ
4 o 1220183831 H B LI BRMD ZF1F &
HIgnTF -

Total consideration

185 A 5 Liavg 4= ShieEIEEE BARE
Highest Lowest (excluding transaction cost)
=8 RIRE (FrEEXZER)

HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT

April 2018 20,000 0.305 0.305 6,100

2018548

May 2018 50,000 0.305 0.295 14,950

2018558

70,000 21,050

The Directors believe that repurchases of shares are in the
best interests of the Company and its shareholders and that such
repurchases of shares would benefit shareholders as a whole by
enhancing the earnings per share of the Company. Save as disclosed
above, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased,
sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities for the
FYE 2018 and up to the date of this report.

ANNUAL CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE
The Company has received, from each of the INEDs, an annual

confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules. The Company considers all of the INEDs are independent.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the FYE 2018, the Group conducted certain transactions
with connected persons which constituted “continuing connected
transactions” under the Listing Rules. Details of this continuing
connected transaction which is subject to the reporting requirements
under Rule 14A.71 of the Listing Rules are summarised as follows:

PURCHASES OF THE INSTRUCTION LEAFLETS, PACKAGING
BOXES AND RELATED PRODUCTS AND SERVICES

On 24 April 2015, a Framework Agreement was entered into
between Tianda Pharmaceuticals (Zhuhai) and Cheng Cheng Printing
for governing the transactions of purchasing printed instruction leaflets,
packaging boxes and related products and services from Cheng Cheng
Printing and its wholly-owned subsidiary by Tianda Pharmaceuticals
(Zhuhai) for a term of three years for commencing on 1 April 2015 and
expired on 31 March 2018. Cheng Cheng Printing is a subsidiary of
Tianda Group, the controlling shareholder of the Company, so it is a
connected person of the Company under the Listing Rules. Accordingly,
this Framework Agreement and the transactions contemplated under
this Framework Agreement constitute continuing connected transactions
of the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. Details of the
transactions are set out in the Company’s announcements dated 24
April 2015 and 5 May 2015.
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The annual cap and the actual amount of the above continuing
connected transactions for the FYE 2018 as shown as follows:

Annual Report 2018

LRFERERZIR2018MBREEZ
FELRKAREEREZBRIITAOT :

The actual
Business type The annual cap  transaction amount
EBEE FELR BERXAEH
HK$ HK$
BT BT

Purchasing printed instruction leaflets, REBENRIERAE - BEER

packaging boxes and related 18 R 2 e AR 7S

products and services 9,000,000 4,023,094
Pursuant to Rule 14A.55 of the Listing Rules, the INEDs have R £ AR Bl 55 14A.550% » | IL JEH

reviewed the above continuing connected transactions and confirmed
that:

1. these transactions were in the Group’s ordinary and usual
course of business;

2. these transactions were entered into on normal commercial
terms; and

3. these transactions were carried out in accordance
with respective agreement terms which were fair and
reasonable, and in the interests of the Company and the
shareholders as a whole.

The Company’s auditor, Ernst & Young have provided a letter to
the Board confirming that the above continuing connected transactions:
1. have received the approval of the Board;

2. have been entered into in accordance with the relevant
agreement governing the transactions; and

3. have not exceeded the cap disclosed in previous
announcement(s).
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Shanghai Pharmaceuticals Holding Co., Ltd. (SPHL) is a
substantial shareholder of the Company and it is a connected person of
the Company under the Listing Rules. Accordingly, the transactions of
products provided by the Group to the SPHL and its subsidiaries (SPH
Group) constitute connected transactions of the Company under the
Listing Rules.

During the FYE 2018, the Group monitored internally all connected
transactions with SPH Group. According to the management account
of the Company for the period ended 28 February 2018, the Company
announced on 26 March 2018 that the aggregate amount of products
sold from the Group to SPH Group firstly exceeded the consideration
exemption limit HK$3,000,000 of the de minimis transactions. Overall, the
aggregate amount of products sold from the Group to SPH Group for the
FYE 2018 amounted to approximately HK$3,894,000. As all the applicable
percentage ratios represented by the aggregate amount of the connected
transactions were less than 25% and the accumulated amount was less
than HK$10,000,000, the aggregate amount of connected transactions
was only subject to reporting and announcement requirements, but was
exempt from independent shareholders’ approval under Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules. The INEDs have reviewed the connected transactions
and confirmed that:

1. these transactions were in the Group’s ordinary and usual
course of business;

2. these transactions were entered into on normal commercial
terms; and

3. these transactions were carried out in accordance
with respective agreement terms which were fair and
reasonable, and in the interests of the Company and the
shareholders as a whole.

On 26 March 2018, the Company entered into a Framework
Agreement with SPHL for a 3-year term commencing from 1 April 2018
to 31 March 2021. It is expected that the Group and SPH Group will
from time to time enter into transactions by providing products (including
pharmaceutical products, Chinese medicines and healthcare products)
and logistics services to each other during the ordinary and usual
course of business. As SPHL is a connected person of the Company,
the Framework Agreement and the transactions contemplated under the
Framework Agreement constitute continuing connected transactions of
the Company during the 3-year term of the Framework Agreement.
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the material related party transactions undertaken
by the Group in its normal course of business are set out in note
31 to the consolidated financial statements. Those related party
transactions which constituted continuing connected transactions/
connected transactions under the Listing Rules which are set out in the
sections headed “Continuing Connected Transactions” and “Connected
Transactions” above and have compiled with Chapter 14A.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy regarding the employees of the Group is
based on their merit, qualifications and competence. The emoluments
of the Directors are reviewed by the remuneration committee, having
regard to the Company’s operating results, individual performance and
comparable market statistics. No Director or any of his associates and
executive is involved in dealing his own remuneration.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Company'’s articles of association or the laws of the Cayman Islands,
which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis
to existing shareholders.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of its Directors, the Company has maintained
the prescribed public float under the Listing Rules throughout the
FYE 2018.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EFEHE

AUDITOR

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu (Deloitte) resigned as auditor of the
Company on 12 October 2017 and Ernst & Young was appointed as
auditor of the Company to fill the vacancy arising from the resignation
of Deloitte on 27 October 2017. Save as the disclosed above, there was
no change in auditor during the past 3 years.

The financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries
for the FYE 2018 have been audited by Ernst & Young who retire and,
being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment. A resolution will
be submitted to the forthcoming AGM to re-appoint Ernst & Young as
auditor of the Company.

On behalf of the Board
Tianda Pharmaceuticals Limited

Fang Wen Quan
Chairman

Hong Kong, 28 June 2018
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Ernst & Young RXKBFEISEHEAR Tel EEE: +852 2846 9888
EY 22/F, CITIC Tower BEEDRAEE R Fax {8 H: +852 2868 4432
§7i 1 Tim Mei Avenue h{EKE221E ey.com

Central, Hong Kong

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF TIANDA PHARMACEUTICALS LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Tianda
Pharmaceuticals Limited (the Company) and its subsidiaries (the Group)
set out on pages 64 to 152, which comprise the consolidated statement
of financial position as at 31 March 2018, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the
consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant
accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at
31 March 2018, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (HKFRSs) issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (HKICPA) and have
been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (HKSAs) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for
the audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our report.
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the Code), and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do
not provide a separate opinion on these matters. For each matter below,
our description of how our audit addressed the matter is provided in that
context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
section of our report, including in relation to these matters. Accordingly,
our audit included the performance of procedures designed to
respond to our assessment of the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements. The results of our audit
procedures, including the procedures performed to address the matters
below, provide the basis for our audit opinion on the accompanying
consolidated financial statements.

Key audit matter

P ETEE

PR EstFEIR

HREBFFEERERFANEEN
i BAHTPRSMBRENEARS
EEMFR BEEFHEERMASFER
HEMBERRKRLASRFETERERN-
RAFEHEESHEHEBNER - 0t
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B EEARETEFENFE -
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REEREUTRENER > ARMAME
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BB EIEMRETEIA

Gooawill and other intangible assets’ impairment assessment on cash-generating units (CGUs)

REELEMNHHERRCHNEERBEFG

As at 31 March 2018, the Group had goodwill at carrying amount of
HK$112.1 million relating to the acquisition of subsidiaries in prior years
and other intangible assets at carrying amount of HK$33.3 million.
PR2018F3/3MH EEEAMRUEEERBERELASHN
HEZREEA112,100,000 8T UAREEC BT EEZREES
33,300,000 7T ©

Our procedures in relation to the impairment
assessment of goodwill and other intangible
assets included:
EENBHERECELEEREZTERE
FFadE

()  Engaged our internal valuation expert
to evaluate the appropriateness of the
valuation methodologies adopted by
management and the forecasted growth
rates, budgeted gross margins and discount
rates applied;

() ZAE—BABLEERTLEEER
RzGERFERFEAERR - BHEE
MERTBEENRE ;
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Key audit matter
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BRI BESMAEIERREFEIR

Goodwill and other intangible assets' impairment assessment on cash-generating units (CGUs)

REEFENNHERBECHELEEREFG

The risk that we focused on in our audit is the risk of the impairment of
the remaining balances of goodwill and other intangible assets. Given the
high level of management judgement in the impairment assessment, we
considered this area to be important to our audit.
BMESEATRINEAREEENECEBLEERERENR
B o SEMCRE G R EEE RIS KFHE > AR ABUILEE
HEAFMNBHIFEEEE -

The significant accounting judgements and estimates and the disclosure of
the balances of goodwill and other intangible assets are included in notes
3, 14 and 15 to the consolidated financial statements.
FEEGHERGFTURBENEEETL EEGRNRBHN
IR E MR RMIEES ~ 145015 -

(i)

(i)

(V)

Tested the key assumptions based on our
knowledge of the business and industry and
by benchmarking against independent data;
REBEESFHEFRITENRH > BB
B 37 B8 LE R DURI S R SR R 3% 5

Engaged the historical accuracy of the
financial budgets and the growth rates used
in the discounted cash flows by comparing
the historical budgets to actual results;
BALLRATREREEELRIE » HE
MRRERENUHBAEBTER
MRFIERBZIERE ;

Tested a selection of data inputs
underpinning the cash flow forecasts
against appropriate supporting evidence,
such as approved budgets, to assess the
accuracy and reliability; and

e ERE (GlImEHRTER) A= ZE
RERSTRAPTERZ8 AR > XU
AL ERM R RN &

Assessed whether the disclosures of
impairment assessment in the consolidated
financial statements are sufficient and
appropriate.

THER M BRRPBRAREST M
KERTRHREHE -
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OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE ANNUAL REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information included in
the Annual Report, other than the consolidated financial statements and
our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does
not cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge
obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.
If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is
a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
of the Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related
to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless the directors of the Company either intend to liquidate the Group
or to cease operations or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit
Committee in discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the
Group’s financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. Our report is made solely to you, as
a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not
a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout
the audit. We also:

. Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of
the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive
to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as
fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

. Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s
internal control.

. Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors.
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. Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence
obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However,
future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease
to continue as a going concern.

. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

. Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control
that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence and to communicate with them all relationships and other
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence,
and where applicable, related safeguards.
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From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor's report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Lam, Wai Ming, Ada.

Ernst & Young
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong
28 June 2018
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

FeiEnRHEEEWEmR

For the year ended 31 March 2018 2 ZE2018% 3831 H IF F &

2018 2017
NOTES HK$ HK$
Bff 5 #IT BT
REVENUE WA 5 361,554,649 195,538,964
Cost of sales 55 B 2 (91,195131)  (75,523,883)
Gross profit EF 270,359,518 120,015,081
Other income, gains and losses HeWA s WEZ KBS 5 14,968,639 15,295,556
Selling and distribution expenses HERDHZH (197,184,674)  (49,358,441)
Administrative expenses THBX (55,062,819)  (50,177,531)
Research and development expenses ez (3,138,669) (3,024,947)
PROFIT BEFORE TAX B ¥R A i A 6 29,941,995 32,749,718
Income tax expense Frigfisz 9 (7,779,956) (7,997,122)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR TEEEF 22,162,039 24,752,596
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME Hezmlism
Other comprehensive income (loss) to be RIEEHRAEE
reclassified to profit or loss in D EE A 2
subsequent periods: BE£mEKea (F518) :
Available-for-sale investments AEHERSE !
Changes in fair value RAEEES 14,450,894 -
Reclassification adjustment for a gain T AIB AR A 1
included in profit or loss B HERAE 5 (8,293,917) -
6,156,977 -
Other comprehensive income (loss) FRIEEBRRIE & EFr 748
may be reclassified to profit or loss ABm Z BEEEH
in subsequent periods Wat (B578) -
Exchange differences on translation MERBRRAAESE
of financial statements ZERELE 70,260,166 (44,080,472)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS) ZAEEHEZEINE
FOR THE YEAR (E548) 76,417,143 (44,080,472)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS) ZAEEZ2EIE
FOR THE YEAR (#548) 4888 98,579,182  (19,327,876)
Profit for the year attributable to: FEEAREEGEF :
Owners of the parent ISYNSTEEE 10,007,756 12,442,265
Non-controlling interests JEFERGRE T 12,154,283 12,310,331
22,162,039 24,752,596
Total comprehensive income (10ss) FE(L 2 EULE (B518)
attributable to: HORE
Owners of the parent ISYNCTIECE] 81,713,550 (29,619,386)
Non-controlling interests FEIER = 16,865,632 10,291,510
98,579,182 (19,327,876)
HK cents HK cents
Al A
EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE BAREBEERFEA
TO ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS LSRR
OF THE PARENT
— Basic and diluted —EBEfXKi#E 1 0.47 0.58
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2018 2017
NOTES HK$ HK$
FsE BT BT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - BEKRKE 12 151,064,566 139,284,183
Prepaid land lease payments Fafd L #hiE E A 13 113,643,582 107,201,666
Goodwill HE 14 112,148,013 98,714,465
Other intangible assets HeBEEE 15 33,343,979 41,035,718
Deposit for acquisition of property, WY BREK
plant and equipment REZEE 19 217,936 189,497
Available-for-sale investments OHBEKRE 16 17,779,099 36,232,212
Total non-current assets ERHEELEE 428,197,175 422,657,741
CURRENT ASSETS MENE E
Inventories =z5 17 36,324,377 35,431,963
Trade and bills receivables FE W BR =i K FE W 2 4 18 74,797,171 38,749,127
Prepayments, deposits and FAMMIE - EER
other receivables He B 19 8,857,547 4,339,655
Prepaid land lease payments ﬁﬁ:tiﬂﬁﬂ‘éf—’x 13 3,977,486 3,625,143
Cash and cash equivalents RERREEEEER 20 493,153,768 399,316,081
Total current assets MEBEME 617,110,349 481,461,969
CURRENT LIABILITIES mHaRE
Trade payables FE {3 BR 7R 21 17,196,713 11,262,460
Other payables and accruals HEeEARKRESER 22 106,747,564 43,543,706
Amount due to a related company FE—RIREE AT RRIA 427,133 1,058,410
Dividend payable FEfTRE 2 1,771,345 -
Tax payable FE{I I8 8,470,839 8,107,925
Total current liabilities BB (B4 134,613,594 63,972,501
NET CURRENT ASSETS BB ERE 482,496,755 417,489,468
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT MEERREAR
LIABILITIES 910,693,930 840,147,209

| 7275 2018 JQS



Tianda Pharmaceuticals Limited

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
EEMEIRR

At 31 March 2018 7{20184E3531H

2018 2017
NOTES HK$ HK$
B sE BT BT
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES JERENEE
Deferred income RIEW A 699,315 751,522
Deferred tax liabilities REERIEAE 23 24,409,730 26,431,976
Total non-current liabilities ERBBEBEREE 25,109,045 27,183,498
NET ASSETS BEEFE 885,584,885 812,963,711
EQUITY xS
Share capital (TN 24 215,047,588 215,063,588
Reserves B 25 632,679,945 563,258,594
Equity attributable to owners of the parent BAGIRGERELER 847,727,533 778,322,182
Non-controlling interests JEER S 37,857,352 34,641,529
TOTAL EQUITY LS4 EE 885,584,885 812,963,711
FANG WEN QUAN LUI MAN SANG
B HE BXE
Chairman Executive Director
BEEL HITEE
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

For the year endkd 31 March 2018 B2 20185 3831 HIEF

Attributable to owners of the parent

BARRRES
Available-
forsale
Capital Capital Exchange  investment Non-
Share Share  redemption  contribution Special  Statutory  fluctuation revaluation  Retained controlling Total
Capital ~ premium feserve reserve feserve reserve feserve feserve profits Total  interests equity
(Note25)  (Note2s)  (Note29)
At
g% -1 Ef HERE

Kkt RMEE EEHE HREE  WHUHE  IREE  RBEE  EMHE  REEM BE ERRES B4R
(Man) (R0 (39

K K K K K K HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HS

BT B B BT BT BT BT BT BT BT B BT

At1 April 2016 R06E4R 1R 215,063,588 355,865,241 8000 8959307 3460016 30076167 (11,466,139 - UTBN05 B13748285 32085468 846733753
Proft for the year AEERT - - - - - - - - 10442065 12440065 23033 2475259
Other comprehensive FEEERRENE

income (loss)for the year (B8).
Exchange diferences on HENBRRAELZ

transaton of fnencil staements ~ EREE - - - - - - (42061651) - - (06185 (Q018821)  (4080472)
Totd comprehensive income.~~ AEE2EWE (Bi)

s e year 3 - - - - - - ) S OnMES (e UM (93
Appropration of maintenance  #EREEZ2ES

and production safety funds IHE - - - - - 193,837 - - (193830) - - -
Utlsaton of stautoryreserve.~~ EFR £ R b - - - - - (%) - - 48965 - - -
Fie 016 ddencs Gecred~ BETEERBRE - - - - - - - - BRI 86T AT
Dividends paid o B RRR R

non-controling sharehlders 28 - - - - - - - - - - (8635449 (8635449)
At 31 March 2017 and RUTERNER

1 April 2017 NTE4RIA 215,063,568 395,865,241 000 8969307 3460016 3022100 (33,521,790 - B2IAT8 TIBLI82 34641529 812963711
Proft orthe year REERR - - - - - - - - A000TTRH0007TR 12154283 22,162,039
Other comprehensive income.~—~ AEEEE2ENE :

for the year:
Mvalableforselenvesiments ATt HERE

Change infar value AEEEY - - - - - - S TR - 1445080 - 14450 8u

Reclassficaion adustments ST ABRRNE

incuded inproior los fFHENHERE - - - - - - - (Basn) - (Basn) ]

Exchange diferences on tanleion BB BRMEE

of financial satements LERER - - - - - - Bh548817 - - GOSAB81T 471349 70,260,166
Totd comprenensive income. - KEERANELE

for the year - - - - - - GOBMB81T  GAS69TT 0007756 81713550 16865632 98,579,162
Appropriaton to reserve NEERE - - - - - 363 - - (30639 - - -
Utlsaton o statutoryreserve (R E 2 Bt - - - - - ) - - 025 - - -
Repurchases of shares Emki (18,000) (33573) - - - - - - - (49573) - (49573)
Transfer to resenve BRTHE - (16,000) 16,000 - - - - - - - - -
Final 2017 dividends declared ~~ EERNTERBRE - - - - - - - - (12.258626)  (12,258626) - (122586%)
Dividends paid o B EERRRRf

non-confroling shareholders B8 - - - - - - - - - - (1649809)  (13649.809)
A3t Marh 2018 ROBEIBNE M0 MSSW AN AT LGN NSKAT  ROMUT GUROT NI WLISH NN WS

* These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of * IHEREREGREGSHMBRARRZES
HK$632,679,945 (2017: HK$563,258,594) in the consolidated statement of f% 1%632,679,94578 7T (20174F : 563,258,59478
financial position. 7o) °©
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Tianda Pharmaceuticals Limited

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

HEBERER

For the year ended 31 March 2018 BLE 201853531 H IFEE

2018 2017
NOTES HK$ HK$
Bfd 5% BT BT
CASH FLOWS FROM RETBFSHRERE
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Profit before tax B 8 A v A 29,941,995 32,749,718
Adjustments for: MTIEBEEHZBE
Amortisation of prepaid land lease payments FE{T L #hFE EFRIEE 6 3,743,075 3,661,929
Amortisation of licences and permits IR R EF ] s 6 11,039,985 11,007,221
Depreciation e 6 11,001,929 10,383,922
Impairment of goodwill EERE 6 - 2,141,711
Impairment of trademark EiIZEE 6 1,307,629 4,255,947
Gain on disposal of HENHHERBEZ WA
available-for-sale investments 5 (8,293,917) -
Fair value gain on derecognition of HRIFFESR BN T EE
investments in redeemable convertible AR EERZ
preference shares NABENRE 5 = (6,159,428)
Release of government grants in METEEERENK
relation to certain assets BRF 4 B (117,869) (115,314)
Bank interest income RITHBWA 5 (4,143,258) (5,373,104)
Fair value gain on derivative financial TEEMITAZANERE
instruments 35 5 (4955777)  (3,418,473)
Loss on disposal/write-off of items of HE Y E
property, plant and equipment B R EEE Z k518 5 90,785 75,033
39,614,577 49,209,162
Decrease in inventories FERHLD 2,988,611 4,390,297
(Increase)/decrease in trade and bills FEURBR X R FE U E 45
receivables agam) R (26,741,196) 1,249,371
Decrease in the prepayments, deposits and other ~ FE{J FXIE
receivables e REE RWER D 160,752 402,683
Increase/(decrease) in trade payables FEATBRFRIG AN, (R 4,824,135 (4,250,709)
Increase/(decrease) in other payables and accruals ~ H & FE{ R Kk FE 5+ & B
g, GRd) 45,741,738 (2,880,338)
Decrease in an amount due to a related company ~ FE{—RIRAE A B FIER D (690,882) (193,565)

Proceeds from maturity of foreign exchange linked
investments

SMNEEHNT IR B B HAFRS IR
3,370,851,093

1,608,867,136

Purchases of foreign exchange linked investments 8% 5 SN EE # 8535 &5 (3,365,895,316) (1,605,448,663)
Cash generated from operations REFFIRE 70,853,512 51,345,374
PRC taxes paid B ERIE (12,115,683)  (10,747,211)
Net cash flows from operating activities REFEFEZ

REREFEE 58,737,829 40,598,163
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

HEBIERER

Year enaed 31 March 2018 BLE 201843531 H IFEE

Annual Report 2018

2018 2017
NOTES HK$ HK$
Bfd 5 B BT
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING RETHFIFHEERE
ACTIVITIES
Acquisition of a subsidiary W hE— R E AT 27 (5,365,793) -
Interest received BlFE 4,143,258 5,373,104
Proceeds from disposal of items of property, HEME - BEKRRKE
plant and equipment BEZFBEHRE 26,611 424
Proceeds from disposal of HETHEEREZ
available-for-sale investments Frig =18 32,904,007 -
Purchases of property, plant and equipment BEME BERSZE (8,634,232) (2,802,967)
Purchases of other intangible assets BEHTEFEEE (5,168) -
Net cash flows from investing activities KERHEZ
HEREFEE 23,068,683 2,570,561
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING MEETHFRFHEERE
ACTIVITIES
Dividend paid to non-controlling shareholders EfTIEERKEREZIRE (13,649,809)  (11,444,087)
Dividend paid BifRE (10,487,281)  (5,806,717)
Repurchases of shares AR (49,573) -
Net cash flows used in financing activities MEZHFFEZ
RERERE (24,186,663)  (17,250,804)
NET INCREASE IN CASH AND RERREEFHIER
CASH EQUIVALENTS ;S 57,619,849 25,917,920
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year REVZRESRIRSE
LEEEB 399,316,081 394,301,141
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net ~ SMPEFE RSB » 22 &
(F%8) 36,217,838 (20,902,980)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS RELZRERRE
AT END OF YEAR Z{HIEH 20 493,153,768 399,316,081
ANALYSIS OF CASH AND CASH RERREFEEBZSH
EQUIVALENTS
Cash and bank balances & R IBITLHEER 493,153,768 399,316,081

| 7275 2018 QWY



Tianda Pharmaceuticals Limited

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
EERERMEE

31 March 2018 2018435 31H

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

Tianda Pharmaceuticals Limited (the Company) was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted company
with limited liability under the Companies Law (2010 Revision)
of the Cayman Islands and its shares are listed on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the Stock Exchange). The
registered office address of the Company is Cricket Square,
Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-1111,
Cayman Islands.

During the year, the Company and its subsidiaries (the
Group) was involved in the research and development, production
and sale of pharmaceuticals, biotechnology and healthcare
products and wholesales of Chinese herbal medicines, Traditional
Chinese medicine decoction pieces and Chinese medicines.

In the opinion of the directors, the immediate holding
company and the ultimate holding company of the Company is
Tianda Group Limited, a private limited company incorporated in
Hong Kong.

Information about subsidiaries
Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as

AR REMER

RAREEBRAT (KAATE) BIE
HEHEXNTZE Q010FE:ThR) I 5
SHEIMBIABREEZEER S
RE HROREBRMERZAR
2E) (B3RP £ o RATE Z sk
= B2 {11 ¥ Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive,
P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-1111,
Cayman Islands °

FER > ARBKREMBAR (&
£E) RERE - AR RFRRER
ZHE - EERFE > UKRPEM -
PEEER R R EERRIRIHE 3 o

EERD > *RENERERA
BIMRBERABARAKEBRBRA
8 (REBEMMIINFAANBRAR) o

FRMEARZEY
TRABETEMB AT ZERI

follows: T
Place of Issued Percentage
incorporation/ ordinary/ of equity
registration registered attributable Principal
Name and business share capital to the Company activities
BE{T
M, TiEk, TATIREM
BB SER B AR B AMmEAR RZH AL TEEH
Direct  Indirect
E# iz
Yunnan Meng Sheng Pharmaceutical Co.  People’s Republic RMB36,000,000 - 55 Research, development,
Ltd.# of China A E%36,000,0007T manufacture and sale
EEBEEXFRAT hEANREME of pharmaceutical and
(PRC) biotechnology products
(FRE) BEREMBEER
ZHRE - R
YERHE
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Annual Report 2018

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
arETRRMEE

31 March 2018 2018435315

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (continued) 1. QAFRREEEHR @
Information about subsidiaries (continued) BERMBARZER (@&
Place of Issued Percentage
incorporation/ ordinary/ of equity
registration registered attributable Principal
Name and business share capital to the Company activities
B&17
sEMAEL, BiEk TATIRE
®ig E I B A S B HMER Ezasat TEXRH
Direct Indirect
Bi## i
Yunyu Bio-Pharmaceutical British Virgin Islands US$1 100 - Investment holding
Co., Limited (BVI) (ES BREER
HRETARNE

Tianda Pharmaceuticals (Zhuhai) PRC RMB93,000,000 - 100  Research, development,
Limited** H A E193,000,0007T manufacture and sale
KREE (B8 BRAF™ of pharmaceutical and
biotechnology products
BEREYREREM
PATETRNE
TERBE
Tianda Pharmaceuticals (Australia) Australia AU$1,000,000 - 100 Marketing, sale and
Pty. Ltd.* A F TR 1,000,00038 7T distribution of
KAREE (RAFEZ) BRAF healthcare products
REEMZITH
HERDH
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Tianda Pharmaceuticals Limited

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MATSRERMIRE

31 March 2018 2018435 31H

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (continued) 1.

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

ATIREBREH @
ERAMBATIZER (@)

Place of Issued Percentage
incorporation/ ordinary/ of equity
registration registered attributable Principal
Name and business share capital to the Company activities
BE17
ML, LiEk, AT
R S B A S B AMER EZaatt TEXRH
Direct Indirect
E# i
Tianda Pharmaceuticals (China) PRC HK$50,000,000 - 100 Research and
Limited** = 50,000,000 T development of
RAEZE (FE) BRAF™ pharmaceutical products
and provision of
intra-group consultation
service marketing sales
and distributable of
healthcare products
BEEMZMAK
- REEEAE
AR U KR
EmZITiH
HERDH
Zhuhai Tianda Realty Limited** PRC RMB67,000,000 - 100 Property holding
BERKEEBRAF" HE  AEK67,000,0007T MEER
Tianda Chinese Medicine (China) Ltd.** PRC RMB50,000,000 - 100 Wholesale of
KAHPRE (hE) BERAF FE  AK50,000,0007T Chinese herbal medicine,

Not audited by Ernst & Young, Hong Kong or another

member firm of the Ernst & Young global network

*%

PRC Law

# Incorporated as cooperative enterprise

Registered as wholly-foreign-owned enterprises under the

traditional Chinese

medicine decoction pieces

and Chinese medicines
GEDR

REER R K2
Bt 3

A IEER BB LK G5B E BT 2K
EXMBHENBE AR EZ

REFFEZEREAMZINSBELE

IS SERE
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Annual Report 2018

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
arETRRMEE

31 March 2018 2018435315

1.

2.1

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (continued)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company
which, in the opinion of the directors, principally affected the
results for the year or formed a substantial portion of the net
assets of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would,
in the opinion of the directors, result in particulars of excessive
length.

During the year, the Group acquired 100% equity interests
of Zhuhai Renhong Medicine Co. Ltd. (latterly renamed as Tianda
Chinese Medicine (China) Ltd (TCM (China))). Further details
of this acquisition are included in note 27 to the consolidated
financial statements.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (HKFRSs) (which include all Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards (HKASs)
and Interpretations) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (HKICPA), accounting principles generally
accepted in Hong Kong and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. They have been prepared
under the historical cost convention, except for available-for-sale
investments which have been measured at fair value. These
consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
Dollar (HK$) and all values are rounded to nearest dollar except
when otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2018. A
subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity), directly or
indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control is achieved when
the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those
returns through its power over the investee (i.e., existing rights
that give the Group the current ability to direct the relevant
activities of the investee).

2.1

ATIREBREH @

FRMBARZEH (8
ERINHEERAREEELE
EEXEATECENERNTETEE
FEETEEHNNERTWBLFE - &
BaRHEEHBARZENTIHE
LTRIBBRITR -

FA o AEBKRBIRECRBE
BRAE (HRERARAFREE (F
) BRAE (RARRE (FE))) 59
100%fR At o o ZIRWABRYIE— D 5%
BEHN GRS M FBRRM EE2T o

RREE

ZEGAMBRRDREETRS
st AE Rz BBV BRSEL (B
EENEBMBREER - BBE
EA 2R REBRD G ENRK
BERAREFOINIKBERERHE - %F
MBRERRBELHAIERRE > 1T
HHERBBRARBEE - ZFR
BMBRERUABTEIIMAEHER
NEERRENT  EXHEAER
G o

FeEE
REMBRREELERRE
2018F3ASMA L FE Z M FH MR o I
BABA/A AT EENEIREFNZE
R (EEEEMER) - EXEEHS
B ENREBH T HERARERR
HEAEFURESBHRKEHRZ
O BAEEERFREENUE
EREHFEMEIZRFEN) &
EZFORE - BVEVIG EEHIHE o
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Tianda Pharmaceuticals Limited

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
EERERMEE

31 March 2018 2018435 31H

2.1

74 BB

BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than a
majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group
considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing
whether it has power over an investee, including:

(@) the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of
the investee;

(b)  rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and
(c)  the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared
for the same reporting period as the Company, using consistent
accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries are consolidated
from the date on which the Group obtains control, and continue to
be consolidated until the date that such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the parent of the Group
and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the
non-controlling interests having a deficit balance. All intra-group
assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows
relating to transactions between members of the Group are
eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are
changes to one or more of the three elements of control described
above. A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without
a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises
(i) the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary,
(i) the carrying amount of any non-controlling interest and (iii)
the cumulative translation differences recorded in equity; and
recognises (i) the fair value of the consideration received, (i) the
fair value of any investment retained and (iii) any resulting surplus
or deficit in profit or loss. The Group’s share of components
previously recognised in other comprehensive income is
reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits, as appropriate,
on the same basis as would be required if the Group had directly
disposed of the related assets or liabilities.
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RBEZE @)

SEEE®
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REHRKRZHUIRF B LERN AVE
Mo A AEERFEERSHEAHR
BERRZENHEEE—EREE
RIER > 81
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Annual Report 2018

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
arETRRMEE

31 March 2018 2018435315

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES 2.2 Bt HERIFZEE

The Group has adopted the following revised HKFRSs RERREAFEZEEMBRER
for the first time for the current year's consolidated financial BRRAUTRETIESBUBRSEE
statements. LI
Amendments to HKAS 7 Disclosure Initiative EREHER FHRE

EILACHEN
Amendments to HKAS 12 Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets for BBGEER HEELEREF
Unrealised Losses ERVLTH I FEREEE
Amendments to HKFRS 12 included in ~ Disclosure of Interests in Other ERMBREER RECEREZ K
Annual Improvements to Entities: Clarification of the F125REETA & EEEEHE
HKFRSs 2014-2016 Cycle Scope of HKFRS 12 BAOUEE HEZERF 1202
N16FEHEEYH  #E
REER ZFELE

Other than as explained below regarding the impact of BT XME B ERETRE
amendments to HKAS 7, the adoption of the above revised SR Z HEFTREBE S » AN Ei &
standards has had no significant financial effect on these BETEAHRAGEMBHRRAEBEKR
consolidated financial statements. MsEE-

Amendments to HKAS 7 require an entity to provide EARA G EAFEERETAER
disclosures that enable users of consolidated financial statements BREHIRE  UBRSHMBRRE
to evaluate changes in liabilities arising from financing activities, BETERMEESMELEZEEE
including both changes arising from cash flows and non-cash B AiEREREEEZEHNKRIFR
changes. HEE o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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31 March 2018 2018435 31H
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76 EEEEEEEE

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

The Group has not applied the following new and revised
HKFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet effective, in these

consolidated financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 2
Amendments to HKFRS 4
HKFRS 9

Amendments to HKFRS 9

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and
HKAS 28 (2011)

HKFRS 15
Amendments to HKFRS 15

HKFRS 16
HKFRS 17
Amendments to HKAS 19
Amendments to HKAS 28
Amendments to HKAS 40

HK(IFRIC)-nt 22

HK(IFRIC)-Int 23

Annual Improvements
2014-2016 Cycle

Annual Improvements
2015-2017 Cycle

Classification and Measurement of Share-based
Payment Transactions'

Applying HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments with HKFRS 4
Insurance Contracts’

Financial Instruments’
Prepayment Features with Negative Compensation?

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and
its Associate or Joint Venture*

Revenue from Contracts with Customers'

Clarifications to HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts
with Customers'

Leases?

Insurance Contracts®

Plan Amendment, Curtailments and Settlements?

Long-term Interests in Associates and Joint Ventures?

Transfers of Investment Property’

Foreign Currency Transactions and
Advance Consideration’

Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments®

Amendments to HKFRS 1 and HKAS 28

Amendments to various HKFRSs?

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019

8 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021

¢ No Mandatory effective date determined but available for adoption

HEER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
arETRRMEE

31 March 2018 2018435315

2.3

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

Further information about those HKFRSs that are expected
to be applicable to the Group is described below:

In September 2014, the HKICPA issued the final version of
HKFRS 9, bringing together all phases of the financial instruments
project to replace HKAS 39 and all previous versions of HKFRS
9. The standard introduces new requirements for classification
and measurement, impairment and hedge accounting. The
Group will adopt HKFRS 9 from 1 April 2018. The Group will not
restate comparative information and will recognise any transition
adjustments against the opening balance of equity at 1 April
2018. During the year ended 31 March 2018, the Group has
performed a detailed assessment of the impact of the adoption
of HKFRS 9. The expected impacts relate to the classification
and measurement and the impairment requirements and are
summarised as follows:

(a) Classification and measurement

Equity investments currently held as available-for-sale
will be classified as either fair value through profit or loss
(FVTPL) or irrevocably elect to designate as fair value through
other comprehensive income (FVTOCI) (without recycling) on
transition to HKFRS 9. The Group has not yet decided whether
it will irrevocably designate these investments as FVTOCI or
classify it as FVTPL. Either classification would give rise to a
change in accounting policy as currently the Group recognises
the fair value changes of available-for-sale financial asset in
other comprehensive income until disposal or impairment, when
gains or losses are recycled to profit or loss in accordance with
the Group’s policies. This change in policy will have no impact
on the Group’s net assets and total comprehensive income but
will impact on reported performance amounts such as profit and
earnings per share.

2.3

BHEGERRERZEEMBER
S @

FREERNAERZ EBMHR
FEAZE-TERRANT :

PR20145F9R » ERESMAAE
NafmE R BRE ERFBIRZ KR
x> BEMTRABBZFAMRRKRES
R—EURAE B G sHER B35 K%
ERMBREENFSRZFAE kA
RS o % ZERS|ADERETE  BlE
REPETRBNMRTE - SEER
B018F4B1BERMERBMHBRS
R - AEBMB ARG ETIFTLEER
Bl A% 502018F4 810 FE S0 HA
VEDERZEMEBERE - REBE
2018F3A3MBALLFE » AEEEMKF
MBEBYBRSERBIRZZEF
AT - FEIS R DEAFEUR
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(a) SEEGE
SEAAHEETREEZ B
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BEFt AHa > SR TRt B s
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TS MIEE RS REABUAT
Bt ARCEZEBR@mN D ESBUR
FEFFAED - ARRFAEETH
EHLESHREENRARMEER
BEr > ERHEECEZERaEIEHE
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2.3

78 EEEEEEEE

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

(b) Impairment

HKFRS 9 requires an impairment on debt instruments
recorded at amortised cost or at fair value through other
comprehensive income, lease receivables, loan commitments and
financial guarantee contracts that are not accounted for at fair
value through profit or loss under HKFRS 9, to be recorded based
on an expected credit loss model either on a twelve-month basis
or a lifetime basis. The Group will apply the simplified approach
and record lifetime expected losses that are estimated based on
the present values of all cash shortfalls over the remaining life
of all of its trade receivables. Furthermore, the Group will apply
the general approach and record twelve-month expected credit
losses that are estimated based on the possible default events on
its other receivables within the next twelve months. The standard
is not expected to have any significant impact on the Group’s
consolidated financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (2011) address
an inconsistency between the requirements in HKFRS 10 and
in HKAS 28 (2011) in dealing with the sale or contribution of
assets between an investor and its associate or joint venture.
The amendments require a full recognition of a gain or loss
when the sale or contribution of assets between an investor
and its associate or joint venture constitutes a business. For a
transaction involving assets that do not constitute a business,
a gain or loss resulting from the transaction is recognised in
the investor's profit or loss only to the extent of the unrelated
investor’s interest in that associate or joint venture. The
amendments are to be applied prospectively. The previous
mandatory effective date of amendments to HKFRS 10 and
HKAS 28 (2011) was removed by the HKICPA in January 2016
and a new mandatory effective date will be determined after
the completion of a broader review of accounting for associates
and joint ventures. However, the amendments are available for
adoption now.
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2.3

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

HKFRS 15, issued in July 2014, establishes a new
five-step model to account for revenue arising from contracts
with customers. Under HKFRS 15, revenue is recognised at an
amount that reflects the consideration to which an entity expects
to be entitled in exchange for transferring goods or services
to a customer. The principles in HKFRS 15 provide a more
structured approach for measuring and recognising revenue. The
standard also introduces extensive qualitative and quantitative
disclosure requirements, including disaggregation of total
revenue, information about performance obligations, changes in
contract asset and liability account balances between periods and
key judgements and estimates. The standard will supersede all
current revenue recognition requirements under HKFRSs. Either a
full retrospective application or a modified retrospective adoption
is required on the initial application of the standard. In June 2016,
the HKICPA issued amendments to HKFRS 15 to address the
implementation issues on identifying performance obligations,
application guidance on principal versus agent and licences of
intellectual property, and transition. The amendments are also
intended to help ensure a more consistent application when
entities adopt HKFRS 15 and decrease the cost and complexity
of applying the standard. The Group will adopt HKFRS 15 from
1 April 2018 and plans to adopt the full retrospect approach. The
Group has assessed the impact of this standard and expects that
the standard will not have any significant impact, when applied,
on the consolidated financial statements of the Group.
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ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

Presentation and disclosure

The presentation and disclosure requirements in HKFRS
15 are more detailed than those under the current HKAS 18.
The presentation requirements represent a significant change
from current practice and will significantly increase the volume
of disclosures required in the Group’s consolidated financial
statements. Many of the disclosure requirements in HKFRS
15 are new and the Group has assessed that the impact of
some of these disclosure requirements will be significant. In
particular, the Group expects that the notes to the consolidated
financial statements will be expanded because of the disclosure
of significant judgements made on determining the transaction
prices of those contracts that include variable consideration, how
the transaction prices have been allocated to the performance
obligations, and the assumptions made to estimate the stand-
alone selling price of each performance obligation. In addition,
as required by HKFRS 15, the Group will disaggregate revenue
recognised from contracts with customers into categories that
depict how the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of revenue
and cash flows are affected by economic factors. It will also
disclose information about the relationship between the disclosure
of disaggregated revenue and revenue information disclosed for
each reportable segment.
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2.3

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

HKFRS 16, issued in May 2016, replaces HKAS 17
Leases, HK(IFRIC)-Int 4 Determining whether an Arrangement
contains a Lease, HK(SIC)-Int 15 Operating Leases — Incentives
and HK(SIC)-Int 27 Evaluating the Substance of Transactions
Involving the Legal Form of a Lease. The standard sets out the
principles for the recognition, measurement, presentation and
disclosure of leases and requires lessees to recognise assets
and liabilities for most leases. The standard includes two elective
recognition exemptions for lessees — leases of low-value assets
and short-term leases. At the commencement date of a lease,
a lessee will recognise a liability to make lease payments (i.e.,
the lease liability) and an asset representing the right to use
the underlying asset during the lease term (i.e., the right-of-use
asset). The right-of-use asset is subsequently measured at cost
less accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses unless
the right-of-use asset meets the definition of investment property
in HKAS 40, or relates to a class of property, plant and equipment
to which the revaluation model is applied. The lease liability is
subsequently increased to reflect the interest on the lease liability
and reduced for the lease payments. Lessees will be required to
separately recognise the interest expense on the lease liability
and the depreciation expense on the right-of-use asset.
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ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

Lessees will also be required to remeasure the lease
liability upon the occurrence of certain events, such as change
in the lease term and change in future lease payments resulting
from a change in an index or rate used to determine those
payments. Lessees will generally recognise the amount of
the remeasurement of the lease liability as an adjustment to
the right-of-use asset. Lessor accounting under HKFRS 16
is substantially unchanged from the accounting under HKAS
17. Lessors will continue to classify all leases using the same
classification principle as in HKAS 17 and distinguish between
operating leases and finance leases. HKFRS 16 requires lessees
and lessors to make more extensive disclosures than under HKAS
17. Lessees can choose to apply the standard using either a full
retrospective or a modified retrospective approach. The Group
expects to adopt HKFRS 16 from 1 April 2019. The Group is
currently assessing the impact of HKFRS 16 upon adoption and
is considering whether it will choose to take advantage of the
practical expedients available and which transition approach and
reliefs will be adopted. As disclosed in note 29 to the consolidated
financial statements, at 31 March 2018, the Group had future
minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases
in aggregate of approximately HK$14,382,101. Upon adoption
of HKFRS 16, certain amounts included therein may need to be
recognised as new right-of-use assets and lease liabilities.

Further analysis, however, will be needed to determine
the amount of new rights of use assets and lease liabilities to be
recognised, including, but not limited to, any amounts relating to
leases of low-value assets and short term leases, other practical
expedients and reliefs chosen, and new leases entered into
before the date of adoption.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 24 FEFHHEHRE
Business combinations and goodwill EBEHEEE

Business combinations are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred is measured at
the acquisition date fair value which is the sum of the acquisition
date fair values of assets transferred by the Group, liabilities
assumed by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree and
the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for control
of the acquiree. For each business combination, the Group elects
whether to measure the non-controlling interests in the acquiree
that are present ownership interests and entitle their holders to a
proportionate share of net assets in the event of liquidation at fair
value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable
net assets. All other components of non-controlling interests are
measured at fair value. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as
incurred.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses
the financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate
classification and designation in accordance with the contractual
terms, economic circumstances and pertinent conditions as at
the acquisition date. This includes the separation of embedded
derivatives in host contracts of the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the
previously held equity interest is remeasured at its acquisition
date fair value and any resulting gain or loss is recognised in
profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the
acquirer is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date.
Contingent consideration classified as an asset or liability is
measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in
profit or loss. Contingent consideration that is classified as equity
is not remeasured and subsequent settlement is accounted for
within equity.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (continued)

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess
of the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount
recognised for non-controlling interests and any fair value of the
Group’s previously held equity interests in the acquiree over the
identifiable net assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If the sum
of this consideration and other items is lower than the fair value
of the net assets acquired, the difference is, after reassessment,
recognised in profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost
less any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for
impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be impaired.
The Group performs its annual impairment test of goodwill as
at 31 March. For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill
acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition date,
allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units, or groups
of cash-generating units, that are expected to benefit from the
synergies of the combination, irrespective of whether other assets
or liabilities of the Group are assigned to those units or groups of
units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating
units) to which the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating
units) is less than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is
recognised. An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not
reversed in a subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating
unit (or group of cash-generating units) and part of the operation
within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the
operation disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the
operation when determining the gain or loss on the disposal.
Goodwill disposed of in these circumstances is measured based
on the relative value of the operation disposed of and the portion
of the cash-generating unit retained.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 24 FEEHHEHEE @

(continued)

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its available-for-sale investments at
fair value at the end of each reporting period. Fair value is the
price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a
liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at
the measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on
the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer
the liability takes place either in the principal market for the asset
or liability, or in the absence of a principal market, in the most
advantageous market for the asset or liability. The principal or the
most advantageous market must be accessible by the Group.

The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using
the assumptions that market participants would use when pricing
the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their
economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes
into account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the asset in
its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate
in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available
to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable
inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 24 FEEHHEHEE @

86 ESEEEEEE

(continued)

Fair value measurement (continued)

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or
disclosed in the consolidated financial statements are categorised
within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement
as a whole:

Level 1 - based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 - based on valuation techniques for which the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is observable, either directly or
indirectly

Level 3~ based on valuation techniques for which the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the
consolidated financial statements on a recurring basis, the Group
determines whether transfers have occurred between levels in
the hierarchy by reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a
whole) at the end of each reporting period.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when
annual impairment testing for an asset is required (other than
inventories and financial assets), the asset's recoverable amount
is estimated. An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of the
asset’s or cash-generating unit's value in use and its fair value
less costs of disposal, and is determined for an individual asset,
unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely
independent of those from other assets or groups of assets,
in which case the recoverable amount is determined for the
cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying
amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing
value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to
their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the asset. An impairment loss is charged to the
profit or loss in the period in which it arises in those expense
categories consistent with the function of the impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period
as to whether there is an indication that previously recognised
impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased.
If such an indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated.
A previously recognised impairment loss of an asset other than
goodwill is reversed only if there has been a change in the
estimates used to determine the recoverable amount of that
asset, but not to an amount higher than the carrying amount
that would have been determined (net of any depreciation/
amortisation) had no impairment loss been recognised for the
asset in prior years. A reversal of such an impairment loss is
credited to profit or loss in the period in which it arises.
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24 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Related parties
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@) the party is a person or a close member of that person’s
family and that person

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of the key management personnel of the
Group or of a parent of the Group;

or

(b) the party is an entity where any of the following conditions
applies:

(i)  the entity and the Group are members of the same
group;

(i) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow subsidiary
of the other entity);

(iii)  the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the
same third party;

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity;

(v)  the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related to the Group;

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a);

(vi) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the key
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent of
the entity); and

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services to
the Group or to the parent of the Group.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 24 FEEHHEHEE @

(continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in
progress, are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and
any impairment losses. When an item of property, plant and
equipment is classified as held for sale or when it is part of a
disposal group classified as held for sale, it is not depreciated and
is accounted for in accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-Current Assets
Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations. The cost of an item of
property, plant and equipment comprises its purchase price and
any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working
condition and location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and
equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs and
maintenance, is normally charged to the profit or loss in the
period in which it is incurred. In situations where the recognition
criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for a major inspection is
capitalised in the carrying amount of the asset as a replacement.
Where significant parts of property, plant and equipment are
required to be replaced at intervals, the Group recognises
such parts as individual assets with specific useful lives and
depreciates them accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write
off the cost of each item of property, plant and equipment to its
residual value over its estimated useful life. The principal annual
rates used for this purpose are as follows:

Buildings 3% to 10%
Leasehold improvements 10% to 33.3% or over the lease terms,
whichever rate is higher

Plant and machinery 5% to 10%

Furniture, fixtures 10% to 20%
and equipment

Motor vehicles 10% to 20%
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(continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation (continued)

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a
reasonable basis among the parts and each part is depreciated
separately. Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation
method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at each
financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any
significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon disposal
or when no future economic benefits are expected from its use or
disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or retirement recognised
in profit or loss in the year the asset is derecognised is the
difference between the net sales proceeds and the carrying
amount of the relevant asset.

Construction in progress represents a building under
construction, which is stated at cost less any impairment losses,
and is not depreciated. Cost comprises the direct costs of
construction and capitalised borrowing costs on related borrowed
funds during the period of construction. Construction in progress
is reclassified to the appropriate category of property, plant and
equipment when completed and ready for use.

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on
initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired
in a business combination is the fair value at the date of
acquisition. The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed
to be either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite lives
are subsequently amortised over the useful economic life and
assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication that the
intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation period and the
amortisation method for an intangible asset with a finite useful life
are reviewed at least at each financial year end.

Intangible assets with indefinite lives are tested for
impairment annually either individually or at the cash-generating
unit level. Such intangible assets are not amortised. The useful
life of an intangible asset with an indefinite life is reviewed
annually to determine whether the indefinite life assessment
continues to be supportable. If not, the change in the useful
life assessment from indefinite to finite is accounted for on a
prospective basis.
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(continued)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill) (continued)
Licences and Permits

Purchased licences and permits are stated at cost less any
impairment losses and are amortised on the straight-line basis
over their estimated useful lives of 8 to 10 years.

Trademark
Trademark with indefinite life is stated at cost less any
impairment losses.

Research and development costs
All research costs are charged to profit or loss as incurred.

Expenditure incurred on projects to develop new products
is capitalised and deferred only when the Group can demonstrate
the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that
it will be available for use or sale, its intention to complete and its
ability to use or sell the asset, how the asset will generate future
economic benefits, the availability of resources to complete the
project and the ability to measure reliably the expenditure during
the development. Product development expenditure which does
not meet these criteria is expensed when incurred.
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(continued)

Leases

Leases that transfer substantially all the rewards and risks
of ownership of assets to the Group, other than legal title, are
accounted for as finance leases. At the inception of a finance
lease, the cost of the leased asset is capitalised at the present
value of the minimum lease payments and recorded together
with the obligation, excluding the interest element, to reflect the
purchase and financing. Assets held under capitalised finance
leases, including prepaid land lease payments under finance
leases, are included in property, plant and equipment, and
depreciated over the shorter of the lease terms and the estimated
useful lives of the assets. The finance costs of such leases are
charged to profit or loss so as to provide a constant periodic rate
of charge over the lease terms.

Assets acquired through hire purchase contracts of a
financing nature are accounted for as finance leases, but are
depreciated over their estimated useful lives.

Leases where substantially all the rewards and risks of
ownership of assets remain with the lessor are accounted for as
operating leases. Where the Group is the lessor, assets leased
by the Group under operating leases are included in non-current
assets, and rentals receivable under the operating leases are
credited to profit or loss on the straight-line basis over the lease
terms. Where the Group is the lessee, rentals payable under
operating leases net of any incentives received from the lessor
are charged to profit or loss on the straight-line basis over the
lease terms.

Prepaid land lease payments under operating leases
are initially stated at cost and subsequently recognised on the
straight-line basis over the lease terms.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 24 FEEHHEHEE @

(continued)

Investments and other financial assets
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, and loans
and receivables and available-for-sale financial investments,
as appropriate. When financial assets are recognised initially,
they are measured at fair value plus transaction costs that are
attributable to the acquisition of the financial assets, except in the
case of financial assets recorded at fair value through profit or
loss.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets
are recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases
or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the period generally established by
regulation or convention in the marketplace.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends
on their classification as follows:

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include
financial assets designated upon initial recognition as at fair value
through profit or loss. Financial assets are classified as held for
trading if they are acquired for the purpose of sale in the near
term. Derivatives, including separated embedded derivatives, are
also classified as held for trading unless they are designated as
effective hedging instruments as defined by HKAS 39.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are
carried in the statement of financial position at fair value with net
changes in fair value presented as other income, gains and losses
and in profit or loss. These net fair value changes do not include
any dividends or interest earned on these financial assets.
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(continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (continued)
Financial assets designated upon initial recognition as at

fair value through profit or loss are designated at the date of initial

recognition and only if the criteria under in HKAS 39 are satisfied.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets
with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in
an active market. After initial measurement, such assets are
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest rate method less any allowance for impairment. Amortised
cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium
on acquisition and includes fees or costs that are an integral
part of the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate
amortisation is included in other income, gains and losses in
profit or loss. The loss arising from impairment is recognised in
profit or loss in finance costs for loans and on other expenses for
receivables.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 24 FEEHHEHEE @

(continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Available-for-sale financial investments

Available-for-sale financial investments are non-derivative
financial assets in listed and unlisted equity investments and debt
securities. Equity investments classified as available-for-sale
are those which are neither classified as held for trading nor
designated as at fair value through profit or loss. Debt securities
in this category are those which are intended to be held for an
indefinite period of time and which may be sold in response to
needs for liquidity or in response to changes in market conditions.

After initial recognition, available-for-sale financial
investments are subsequently measured at fair value, with
unrealised gains or losses recognised as other comprehensive
income in the available-for-sale investment revaluation reserve
until the investment is derecognised, at which time the cumulative
gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss in other income,
gains and losses, or until the investment is determined to be
impaired, when the cumulative gain or loss is reclassified from
the available-for-sale investment revaluation reserve to profit or
loss in other income, gains and losses. Interest and dividends
earned whilst holding the available-for-sale financial investments
are reported as interest income and dividend income, respectively
and are recognised profit or loss as other income, gains and
losses.

When the fair value of unlisted equity investments cannot
be reliably measured because (a) the variability in the range of
reasonable fair value estimates is significant for that investment
or (b) the probabilities of the various estimates within the range
cannot be reasonably assessed and used in estimating fair value,
such investments are stated at cost less any impairment losses.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 24 FESHHEHE @
(continued)
Derecognition of financial assets RILEREMEE

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial
asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily
derecognised (i.e., removed from the Group’s consolidated
statement of financial position) when:

. the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have
expired; or

. the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the
received cash flows in full without material delay to a third
party under a “pass-through” arrangement; and either
(a) the Group has transferred substantially all the risks
and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and
rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the
asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive
cash flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through
arrangement, it evaluates if and to what extent it has retained the
risk and rewards of ownership of the asset. When it has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of
the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the Group continues
to recognise the transferred asset to the extent of the Group’s
continuing involvement. In that case, the Group also recognises
an associated liability. The transferred asset and the associated
liability are measured on a basis that reflects the rights and
obligations that the Group has retained.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 24 FEEHHEHEE @
(continued)
Impairment of financial assets EMEEZRE

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period
whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or a
group of financial assets is impaired. An impairment exists if one
or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the
asset have an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the
financial asset or the group of financial assets that can be reliably
estimated. Evidence of impairment may include indications that a
debtor or a group of debtors is experiencing significant financial
difficulty, default or delinquency in interest or principal payments,
the probability that they will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation and observable data indicating that there is a
measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows, such
as changes in arrears or economic conditions that correlate with
defaults.

Financial assets carried at amortised cost

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the
Group first assesses whether impairment exists individually for
financial assets that re individually significant, or collectively for
financial assets that are not individually significant. If the Group
determines that no objective evidence of impairment exists for an
individually assessed financial asset, whether significant or not, it
includes the asset in a group of financial assets with similar credit
risk characteristics and collectively assesses them for impairment.
Assets that are individually assessed for impairment and for which
an impairment loss is, or continues to be, recognised are not
included in a collective assessment of impairment.

The amount of any impairment loss identified is measured
as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the
present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future
credit losses that have not yet been incurred). The present value
of the estimated future cash flows is discounted at the financial
asset’s original effective interest rate (i.e., the effective interest
rate computed at initial recognition).
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(continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)
Financial assets carried at amortised cost (continued)

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the
use of an allowance account and the loss is recognised in profit
or loss. Interest income continues to be accrued on the reduced
carrying amount using the rate of interest used to discount the
future cash flows for the purpose of measuring the impairment
loss. Loans and receivables together with any associated
allowance are written off when there is no realistic prospect of
future recovery and all collateral has been realised or has been
transferred to the Group.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the estimated
impairment loss increases or decreases because of an event
occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously
recognised impairment loss is increased or reduced by adjusting
the allowance account. If a write-off is later recovered, the
recovery is credited to profit or loss.

Available-for-sale financial investments

For available-for-sale financial investments, the Group
assesses at the end of each reporting period whether there is
objective evidence that an investment or a group of investments is
impaired.

If an available-for-sale asset is impaired, an amount
comprising the difference between its cost (net of any principal
payment and amortisation) and its current fair value, less any
impairment loss previously recognised in profit or loss, is removed
from other comprehensive income and recognised in profit or
loss.

In the case of equity investments classified as available-
for-sale, objective evidence would include a significant or
prolonged decline in the fair value of an investment below its
cost. “Significant” is evaluated against the original cost of the
investment and “prolonged” against the period in which the fair
value has been below its original cost. Where there is evidence
of impairment, the cumulative loss — measured as the difference
between the acquisition cost and the current fair value, less
any impairment loss on that investment previously recognised
in profit or loss — is removed from other comprehensive income
and recognised in profit or loss. Impairment losses on equity
instruments classified as available for sale are not reversed
through profit or loss. Increases in their fair value after impairment
are recognized directly in other comprehensive income.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 24 FEEHHEHEE @
(continued)
Financial liabilities ERBE
Initial recognition and measurement BAEE R E

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as
loans and borrowings, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair
value and, in the case of loans and borrowings, net of directly
attributable transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and other
payables and an amount due to a related company.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities
depends on their classification as follows:

Loans and borrowings

After initial recognition, interest-bearing bank borrowings
are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective
interest rate method unless the effect of discounting would be
immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost. Gains and
losses are recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities are
derecognised as well as through the effective interest rate
amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
EERERMEE

31 March 2018 2018435 31H

10 ESEEEEERE

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 24 FESHHEHE @
(continued)
Derecognition of financial liabilities RILEREMERE

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation
under the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another
from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the
terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such
an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of
the original liability and a recognition of a new liability, and the
difference between the respective carrying amounts is recognised
in profit or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the
net amount is reported in the statement of financial position if
there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised
amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to
realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined on the weighted average method and,
in the case of work in progress and finished goods, comprises
direct materials, direct labour and an appropriate proportion of
overheads. Net realisable value is based on estimated selling
prices less any estimated costs to be incurred to completion and
disposal.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and
demand deposits, and short term highly liquid investments that
are readily convertible into known amounts of cash, are subject to
an insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a short maturity
of generally within three months when acquired, less bank
overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form an integral
part of the Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial
position, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and
at banks, including term deposits, and assets similar in nature to
cash, which are not restricted as to use.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 24 FEEHHEHEE @

(continued)

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal
or constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is
probable that a future outflow of resources will be required to
settle the obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can be
made of the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount
recognised for a provision is the present value at the end of
the reporting period of the future expenditures expected to be
required to settle the obligation. The increase in the discounted
present value amount arising from the passage of time is included
in finance costs in profit or loss.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax
relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised
outside profit or loss, either in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation
authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period, taking into consideration interpretations and practices
prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period between
the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts
for financial reporting purposes.
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24 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Income tax (continued)
Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable
temporary differences, except:

. when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and, at the
time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit
nor taxable profit or loss; and

. in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries, when the timing of the reversal
of the temporary differences can be controlled and it is
probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in
the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences, the carryforward of unused tax credits
and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised
to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be
available against which the deductible temporary differences, the
carryforward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be
utilised, except:

. when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial recognition of
an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business
combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects
neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

. in respect of deductible temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries, deferred tax assets are
only recognised to the extent that it is probable that the
temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable
future and taxable profit will be available against which the
temporary differences can be utilised.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 24 FEEHHEHEE @

(continued)

Income tax (continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at
the end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it
is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available
to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised.
Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at the end of
each reporting period and are recognised to the extent that it has
become probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to
allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is
realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset
if and only if the Group has a legally enforceable right to set off
current tax assets and current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes
assets and deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes levied by
the same taxation authority on either the same taxable or different
taxable entities which intend either to settle current tax liabilities
and assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the
liabilities simultaneously, in each future period in which significant
amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected to be
settled or recovered.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where
there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received
and all attaching conditions will be complied with. When the
grant relates to an expense item, it is recognised as income on
a systematic basis over the periods that the costs, which it is
intended to compensate, are expensed.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 24 FEEHHEHEE @

14 ESEEEEERE

(continued)

Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the
economic benefits will flow to the Group and when the revenue
can be measured reliably, on the following bases:

(@) from the sale of goods, when the significant risks and
rewards of ownership have been transferred to the buyer,
provided that the Group maintains neither managerial
involvement to the degree usually associated with
ownership, nor effective control over the goods sold; and

(b) interest income, on an accrual basis using the effective
interest method by applying the rate that exactly discounts
the estimated future cash receipts over the expected
life of the financial instrument or a shorter period, when
appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the financial
asset.

Employee benefits
Pension schemes

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF Scheme”)
under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for
those employees who are eligible to participate in the MPF
Scheme. Contributions are made based on a percentage of the
employees’ basic salaries and are charged to profit or loss as
they become payable in accordance with the rules of the MPF
Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately
from those of the Group in an independently administered fund.
The Group’s employer contributions vest fully with the employees
when contributed into the MPF Scheme.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which operate
in the Mainland China are required to participate in a central
pension scheme operated by the local municipal government.
These subsidiaries are required to contribute a certain specific
percentage of their payroll costs to the central pension scheme.
The contributions are charged to profit or loss as they become
payable in accordance with the rules of the central pension
scheme.

Payments to state-managed retirement benefit schemes
in jurisdictions other than the PRC are charged as expenses
when employees have rendered the service entitling them to the
contributions.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 24 FEEHHEHEE @
(continued)
Dividends RE

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they are
approved by the shareholders in a general meeting. Proposed
final dividends are disclosed in the notes to the consolidated
financial statements.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and
declared, because the Company’s memorandum and articles of
association grant the directors the authority to declare interim
dividends. Consequently, interim dividends are recognised
immediately as a liability when they are proposed and declared.

Foreign currencies

These consolidated financial statements are presented in
HKS$, which is different from the Company’s functional currency,
Renminbi (“RMB”). As the shares of the Company are listed on
the Stock Exchange, for the convenience of the consolidated
financial statements users, the results and financial position of the
Group are expressed in HK$. Each entity in the Group determines
its own functional currency and items included in the financial
statements of each entity are measured using that functional
currency. Foreign currency transactions recorded by the entities
in the Group are initially recorded using their respective functional
currency rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
are translated at the functional currency rates of exchange
ruling at the end of the reporting period. Differences arising on
settlement or translation of monetary items are recognised in
profit or loss.

RERENRRAE EEARR
EREIKFEREE AR E - KRR
BRIEEMBRERMTAKE -

HRARAE 2 A ERR KR
ATERERTHREZES &
FHIRETRAEEZREK ° FIE
FHIREERZ MBI ER S
af|-

Shug

ZERAMBRERUEBT (LI
ERBZMEEBARKE) 2, - H
RAQBRDIRBFR L > 275 E
REMBRRERE  FEEERK
MBRRIGUBTIE - FEERZ
EEZBREHERR » HUHR
REBYVILFMENEERFE - £&
BRzEEZIINERZNTERRZHE
BTG ZEREXRREANR -
POMNBSHEZEREEREGR %A
FEEEBENRSPRZERHRE
EENMEERRE 2 EEN A

=5
gt ©

3 105



Tianda Pharmaceuticals Limited

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
EERERMEE

31 March 2018 2018435 31H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 24 FEEHHEHEE @

100 IESEEEEERE

(continued)

Foreign currencies (continued)

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using
the exchange rates at the dates of the initial transactions.
Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign currency
are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair
value was measured. The gain or loss arising on translation of a
non-monetary item measured at fair value is treated in line with
the recognition of the gain or loss on change in fair value of the
item (i.e., translation difference on the item whose fair value gain
or loss is recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or
loss is also recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or
loss, respectively).

The functional currencies of certain overseas subsidiaries
are currencies other than the HK$. As at the end of the reporting
period, the assets and liabilities of these entities are translated
into HK$ at the exchange rates prevailing at the end of the
reporting period and their statements of profit or loss are
translated into HK$ at the weighted average exchange rates for
the year.

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in the exchange
fluctuation reserve. On disposal of a foreign operation, the
component of other comprehensive income relating to that
particular foreign operation is recognised in profit or loss.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign
operation and any fair value adjustments to the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities arising on acquisition are treated as
assets and liabilities of the foreign operation and translated at the
closing rate.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, the cash flows of overseas subsidiaries are translated into
HK$ at the exchange rates ruling at the dates of the cash flows.
Frequently recurring cash flows of overseas subsidiaries which
arise throughout the year are translated into HK$ at the weighted
average exchange rates for the year.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s consolidated financial
statements requires management to make judgements, estimates
and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues,
expenses, assets and liabilities, and their accompanying
disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities.
Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could result
in outcomes that could require a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities affected in the future.

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within
the next financial year, are described below.

Impairment of goodwill

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at
least on an annual basis. This requires an estimation of the
value in use of the cash-generating units to which the goodwill
is allocated. Estimating the value in use requires the Group to
make an estimate of the expected future cash flows from the
cash-generating units and also to choose a suitable discount rate
in order to calculate the present value of those cash flows. The
carrying amount of goodwill at 31 March 2018 was approximately
HK$112,148,000 (2017: HK$98,714,000). Further details are
given in note 14.

Impairment of non-financial assets (other than goodwill)

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators
of impairment for all non-financial assets at the end of each
reporting period. Indefinite life intangible assets are tested for
impairment annually and at other times when such an indicator
exists. Other non-financial assets are tested for impairment
when there are indicators that the carrying amounts may not
be recoverable. An impairment exists when the carrying value
of an asset or a cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable
amount, which is the higher of its fair value less costs of disposal
and its value in use. The calculation of the fair value less
costs of disposal is based on available data from binding sales
transactions in an arm’s length transaction of similar assets or
observable market prices less incremental costs for disposing
of the asset. When value in use calculations are undertaken,
management must estimate the expected future cash flows from
the asset or cash-generating unit and choose a suitable discount
rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash flows.
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4.

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

Information reported to the managing director of the
Company, being the chief operating decision maker (CODM), for
the purposes of resource allocation and assessment of segment
performance focuses on the types of goods delivered. Other than
the revenue analysis as set out below, no operating results and
other discrete financial information relating to major products is
prepared regularly for internal reporting to the CODM for resource
allocation and performance assessment. The CODM reviews
the financial performance of pharmaceutical and biotechnology
business as a whole for allocating resources and assessing
performance. In addition, the CODM monitors the Group’s assets
and liabilities as a whole, accordingly, no segment assets and
liabilities are presented.

Segment performance is evaluated based on segment profit
or loss, which is a measure of adjusted profit/loss before tax. The
adjusted profit/loss before tax except that allocation of central
administration costs, directors’ salaries, certain other income, and
other gains and losses are excluded from such measurement.
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2018

Pharmaceutical

and

biotechnology
business Unallocated Total
BEEMER b3l kL]
HK$ HK$ HK$
B B BT

Segment revenue: FEWA

Sales to external customers AR IHE 361,554,649 - 361,554,649
Revenue WA 361,554,649 - 361,554,649
Segment results TFEBEE 45,157,539 (15,215,544) 29,941,995
Profit before tax FRFR A i 29,941,995
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

4. REHEBEHE @

2017

Pharmaceutical

and

biotechnology
business Unallocated Total
BRELYER Pl e
HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT

Segment revenue: DEUA -

Sales to external customers ERISES ==k 195,538,964 - 195,538,964
Revenue A 195,538,964 - 195,538,964
Segment results DEBELE 39,164,043 (6,414,325) 32,749,718
Profit before tax BRHR FIE 32,749,718

The segment results of pharmaceutical and biotechnology
business for the year ended 31 March 2017 disclosed in prior
annual report were HK$31,166,921. The difference comprises tax
expense of HK$7,997,122 for the year ended 31 March 2017.

Geographical information

(a) Revenue from external customers

E— 1R ERPAAIKER & E2017
FIRMBLEFERBEEYES DAL
EE431,166,9218Lc EREEGE
BE2017EIBMHIEEEMRBZH

7,997,122 7T ©

i E

(a) KEIFRERZHUA

2018 2017

HK$ HK$

BT BT

Mainland China A B K R 360,009,359 193,682,020

Hong Kong 58 1,030,835 1,391,342

Australia B A F 58 514,455 465,602

361,554,649 195,538,964

The revenue information of operations above is UMEEEZIMABTRUR
based on the locations of the customers. BPErEth AE%E o
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 4,

(b) Non-current assets

REJEBEFE @
(b) FERBEE

2018 2017

HK$ HK$

BT BT

Mainland China A B A B 408,307,160 382,686,331
Hong Kong &8 2,085,669 2,022,442
Australia JRAKF R 25,247 1,716,756

410,418,076 386,425,529

The non-current asset information of operations
above is based on the locations of the assets and excludes
financial instruments.

Information about a major customer

During the years ended 31 March 2018 and 2017, no
revenue from any single customer accounted for 10% or more of
the total revenue of the Group.
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5.

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME, GAINS AND LOSSES 5.

Revenue represents the net invoiced value of goods sold,

after allowances for returns and trade discounts.

An analysis of revenue, other income, gains and losses is

Annual Report 2018

WA HEWA - WrmkEsiE

WASSRENBFRREHERRE ST
% REFMEERZERRE-

BRAWA ~ EEWA ~ Rz KR

as follows: BzomWT:
2018 2017
HK$ HK$
B BT
Revenue KA
Sale of pharmaceuticals, biotechnology and HEBE - £EYHER
healthcare products: REER -
— Cerebroprotein hydrolysate injection — S REEEKEY 158,269,495 67,435,162
— Tuoen (Ibuprofen suspension and drops) —RR (BT RERK
A 65,285,097 36,985,769
- Tuoping (Valsartan capsules) — 1 (VBB E) 56,633,856 54,376,077
— Other products —HEEM 81,366,201 36,741,956
361,554,649 195,538,964
Other income HEWA
Bank interest income RITFEUWA 4,143,258 5,373,104
Government subsidies* B AT & B 1,403,937 1,298,013
Others HE 400,602 614,157
5,947,797 7,285,274
Gains and losses Wz K E5 18
Fair value gain on derivative financial TTEEMIAZAR
instruments, net EBEWEFEE 4,955,777 3,418,473
Fair value gain on derecognition of investments 4% IEFEER IR & 72 o] BE B
in redeemable convertible preference shares AMRELERZ AR
EEWRE - 6,159,428
Gain on disposal of HEMHHEREZ KRG
available-for-sale investments 8,293,917 -
Foreign exchange (loss)/gain, net ER (5518) W $EE (2,830,438) 3,682,747
Loss on disposal/write off of property, HE MHEYE - RER
plant and equipment REZEE (90,785) (75,033)
Impairment loss on goodwill EmENRERSE - (2,141,711)
Impairment loss on other intangible assets HeEBTEENRERE (1,307,629) (4,255,947)
Refund for cancellation of a research BUHMEEIER Z IR
and development project - 1,222,325
14,968,639 15,295,556
* There are no unfulfilled conditions or contingencies relating to these * TEARILERBE Z M REREHS

grants.

HHEFHE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
EERERMEE

31 March 2018 2018435 31H

6.  PROFIT BEFORE TAX 6. BRIRAIEF
The Group’s profit for the year is arrived at after charging/ AEBMZAFEEGRL&MR
(crediting): (BstA) -
2018 2017
Notes HK$ HK$
B 5 BT BT
Cost of inventories sold BEFEEZME 91,195,131 75,523,883
Depreciation e 12 11,001,929 10,383,922
Amortisation of licences and permits BRI B 15 11,039,985 11,007,221
Research and development costs Bff 2% Rl 2 3,138,669 3,024,947
Impairment of goodwill A 14 = 2,141,711
Impairment of trademark R E 15 1,307,629 4,255,947
Amortisation of prepaid land AL HAE
lease payments I 13 3,743,075 3,661,929
Auditors’ remuneration % ELET BN <= 1,965,192 1,722,185
Foreign exchange differences, net [EREEFEE 2,830,438 (3,682,747)
Minimum lease payments under KEHEZREHEE
operating leases [N 6,379,465 5,278,778
Employee benefit expense EERFMMAZ (FEE
(including chief executive’s and FETHABRES
directors’ remuneration (note 7)): B (MEsE7)) -
Wages and salaries TEREM 42,270,441 33,616,941
Pension scheme contributions RAZ S BIHERR 3,814,947 2,730,210
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
arETRRMEE

31 March 2018 2018435315

CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S AND DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

Chief executive’s and directors’ remuneration for the year,
disclosed pursuant to the Listing Rules, section 383(1)(a), (b), (c)
and (f) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the
Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of Directors)
Regulation, is as follows:

7.

FETHASRESHE

RiE EHRA] ~ FSBQEEREGIE
383(1)(a) ~ (b) ~ ()R (ME U KA E (3%
BESNEER) REIF2EIREARF
EZETETHAEBRESEMENT :

2018 2017

HK$ HK$

HIT BT

Fees e 492,000 492,000
Other emoluments: HeiE

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind N R REYH R = 1,666,680

Performance related bonuses BEMIEAL = 220,000

Pension scheme contributions BREHEIMER = 61,416

492,000 2,440,096

(a) Independent non-executive directors

The fees paid to independent non-executive directors
during the year were as follows:

(a) BWIFHRTESR

FAENFTHRILIIFNITESZHA
T

2018 2017

HK$ HK$

B BT

Mr. Lam Yat Fai MBELE 72,000 72,000
Mr. Chiu Sung Hong HERLE 72,000 72,000
Mr. Chiu Fan Wa HEMMELE 72,000 72,000
216,000 216,000

There were no other emoluments payable to the
independent non-executive directors during the year (2017: Nil).

FERTEERNFBILIFRTES
ZHEMS Q017E . &) o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MATSRERMIRE

31 March 2018 2018435 31H

7. CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S AND DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

7. EETHRASKRESME @

(Continued)
(b) The chief executive, executive director and non- (b) FETHAES - JITEFERIEH
executive directors TESE
Salaries,
allowances Performance Pension
and benefits related scheme Total
Fees in kind bonuses contributions remuneration
e - _
BUR BiRs
HE BYNE EWEL stEMHR  WEEH
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT BT BT
2018 20185
Chief executive; FETBAE:
Mr. Fang Wen Quan BXELRE 60,000 - - - 60,000
Executive director; HITES:
Mr. Lui Man Sang BEXELRE 72,000 - - - 72,000
Non-executive directors:  JEHITES .
Mr. Shi Shaobin i i 54,000 - - - 54,000
Mr. Shen Bo RS 72,000 - - - 72,000
Mr. Feng Quanming pige P - - - - -
Dr. Lam Lee G. MREEL 18,000 - - - 18,000
216,000 - - - 216,000
276,000 - - - 276,000
2017 20174
Chief executive: FETBAE:
Mr. Fang Wen Quan BX#RE 60,000 - - - 60,000
Executive directors: HITEE:
Mr. Lui Man Sang BXERE 72,000 - - - 72,000
Mr. Shi Shaobin (Note) ~ HE/L3it & (Mi3E) 60,000 1666680 220,000 61416 2,008,096
Non-executive directors;  JEHITES .
Mr. Shi Shaobin (Note) /R S 4 (BT 5E) 12,000 - - - 12,000
Mr. Shen Bo W b 72,000 - - - 72,000
Mr. Feng Quanming HBRARE - - - - -
216,000 1,666,680 220,000 61,416 2,164,096
276,000 1,666,680 220,000 61,416 2,224,096
Note: B 5E -

Mr. Shi Shaobin was re-designated from an executive director to a

non-executive director with effect from 1 February 2017.

There was no arrangement under which a director or the chief executive

waived or agreed to waive any remuneration during the year.

MR EBRRITESRATAIERT
BE - BH017E2B1HEER -

FATEEFHERITHRABRES
BEERETANE 225 -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
arETRRMEE

31 March 2018 2018435315

8.

FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

The five highest paid employees during the year did not
include any director (2017: included one executive director),
details of whose remuneration are set out in note 7 above. Details
of the remuneration for the year of the remaining five (2017:
four) highest paid employees who are neither a director nor chief
executive of the Company are as follows:

hEeEHMES

FREZERHFNEEFRERE
FERES (2017F . 8FE—RBHITE
=) HIME5 R EXKizET - ER
BTHESE (0174F : UR) L IEARAT
EERFIETRABZRSHNES
ZEEFEBOT :

2018 2017

HK$ HK$

BT BT

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind N R REYRIE 4,060,799 3,163,780
Performance related bonuses EMACAL 316,400 362,800
Pension scheme contributions BIKEsHEIMH R 72,000 54,000
4,449,199 3,580,580

The number of non-director and non-chief executive highest
paid employees whose remuneration fell within the following
bands is as follows:

=B U T AR ML IFES K
WIFEFBITHRAEZEBFHNESEZ
ABMT

Number of employees

EEAE
2018 2017
Nil to HK$1,000,000 4% 21,000,000 7T 3 3
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,0013% 7T 21,500,000 7T 2 1
5 4
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
EERERMEE

31 March 2018 2018435 31H

INCOME TAX

No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made as
the Group did not generate any assessable profits arising in Hong
Kong during the year (2017: Nil). Tax on profits assessable in the
Mainland China has been calculated at the applicable Mainland
China corporate income tax (“CIT") rate of 25% (2017: 25%),
except for Yunnan Meng Sheng Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. (Meng
Sheng Pharmaceutical) and Tianda Pharmaceuticals (Zhuhai) Ltd.
(Tianda Pharmaceuticals (Zhuhai)), which are the subsidiaries of
the Group. Yunnan Meng Sheng is established in the Kunming
economic Pharmaceuticals development zone. Pursuant to the
relevant laws and regulations in the PRC, Yunnan Meng Sheng
is engaged in Western China Development and was entitled to a
preferential tax rate of 15% during the year (2017: 15%). Tianda
Pharmaceuticals (Zhuhai) is qualified as an advanced technology
enterprise and has obtained approvals from the relevant tax
authorities for a preferential tax rate of 15% for a period of
3 years up to December 2018. Taxes on profits assessable
elsewhere have been calculated at the rates of tax prevailing in
the jurisdictions in which the Group operates.

FRiS#i

HRAERETFERALETEEE
SEAEZREREN  MUBEHEE
FEREE Q017F  £#) - BAER
MBAREMmBEREERAT (B
HEE)RRKEE (KB BRAF
(RAREZE (BE)) 5b > RAPEARREETR
FERIEF B 2 RIE » THiRBE A
REKFEREFRESR (RXEFRER) K
ﬁzs% (20174 © 25%) st - BB

BRAS T B 85 @ AR 1L o IRIEFEAE
Eazlié&,ﬂﬁ s R B ¥ S B
AR MR AEEZEEEREK
5% (2017&' 15%) o RAZEZE (FKi8)
BRI M EEER > ESER
fﬁﬁ&%ﬁ#tt/&?ﬂ%%%ﬁzw%ﬁm )
AEA=F > EEN018FE 1A AL H
CHENEER G ZRBECRAE
BCEFRERE R ERMEAHE o

2018 2017
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Current — Mainland China BNHA — A B K B
Charge for the year KEETH 10,441,726 10,797,465
Underprovision in prior years UEFEHBERRE - 309,001
Withholding tax FEOFR 1,582,309 1,063,408
Deferred tax (note 23) IEERIE (FzE23) (4,244,079) (4,172,752)
Total tax charge for the year AEERIBEL HAERE 7,779,956 7,997,122
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

arETRRMEE

31 March 2018 2018435315

9. INCOME TAX (continued) 9. FRFIR @

A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to profit UTARRAENZRESIH
before tax at the statutory rates for the jurisdictions in which the (RABHEKXE DB AT EHEAESE
majority of its subsidiaries are domiciled to the tax expense at HEZEZEMEHNE) BEEHME
the effective tax rates, and a reconciliation of the applicable rates FEZMEIHZEHER  UWRERR
(i.e., the statutory tax rates) to the effective tax rates, are as R EVEERE) BERMEZHIR
follows:

2018 2017
HK$ % HKS %
A BT
Profit before tax BRI AR 29,941,995 32,749,718
Tax at the statutory tax rate BEEREHEZRE 7,485,499 25.0 8,187,430 25.0
Lower tax rate(s) enacted by A HEER 2
local authority BIERE (4,784,567) (160)  (4,073,104) (124)
Effect of withholding tax at 10% BALETEKEAT
on the distributable profits of AR KER 210%5 8
the Group’s PRC subsidiaries ZHEINRZEE 1,125,442 3.8 1,504,596 46
Income not subject to tax BAZFRZBA (2,646,380) (8.8) (3,005,064) (9.2)
Expenses not deductible for tax ENGIE I 1,414,984 4.7 1,527,865 47
Tax losses utilised from previous periods KRB FHIZ EE A
REEE - 0.0 (430,750) (13)
Tax losses not recognised KR ZRIEHE 5,184,978 17.3 3,977,148 12.1
Adjustments in respect of current PR IER BN
tax of previous period fEH AR - 0.0 309,001 0.9
Tax charge at the Group's effective rate R AEBZ BEHIRNE
SAEZREX 7,779,956 26.0 7,997,122 244
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
EERERMEE

31 March 2018 2018435 31H

10.

1.

DIVIDENDS 10. BRE
2018 2017
HK$ HK$
#IT BT
Final - HK0.35 cent per share for FYE 2018 KH —2018B4A B E
(HK0.57 cent per share for FYE 2017) £ 520.358 1L (20178 X
FEEER0.57H) 7,526,666 12,258,626

Final dividend of HKO0.35 cent per share amounting to
HK$7,526,666 in respect of the year ended 31 March 2018 (FYE
2017: HK0.57 cent per share amounting to HK$12,258,625) has
been proposed by the Board and is subject to approval by the
shareholders at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY
EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT

The calculation of the basic earnings per share amounts
is based on the profit for the year attributable to ordinary equity
holders of the parent, and the weighted average number of
ordinary shares of 2,150,620,268 (2017: 2,150,635,884) in issue
during the year.

11.

EREEBREHE2018FE3831
HIEF ERREAR E S 80.358 1 »
$£7,526,66678 75 (2017 EE | 518
0.577 1l » $£12,258,625:% 7T) » W 7BR
REREEERFBEAT EHUEESE o

BAREBESRAARGER
BF

EREXBASERIATE
BEEDSFEABLEEGIRERE
BT @ AR hNAE 19 8K2,150,620,268 %
(20174F : 2,150,635,8840%) £+ & o

2018 2017
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Profit attributable to ordinary equity holders of R EESRERERFZ
the parent, used in basic earnings per share ~ RAB L BEZFIFAA
FEAL g F 10,007,756 12,442,265
2018 2017
Number of Number of
shares shares
A0 g 4= ] KingE
Weighted average number of ordinary ARstEEREXRRNZ
shares in issue during the year for FRBRITZIER
the purposes of basic earnings T8

per share calculation

2,150,620,268 2,150,635,884

The Group had no potentially diluted ordinary shares in
issue during the years ended 31 March 2018 and 2017.

REENEE2018F K20174E38
JMHLEEETEEBET#HENEZE
BITZERR -

RAAREARAE
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12.  PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 12. Y% -BERSZE

Furniture,
Leasehold Plantand fixtures and Motor ~ Construction
Buildings improvements  machinery  equipment vehicles in progress Total
#g fxf@
BF WERE BERAE RERRE RE  EEIR L1
Note HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS
Wizt AT E AT AT En AT AT
At1 Apri 2016, net of accumulated  F201654B1R »
depreciafion NREaiE 100,667,768 1060534 3052013 1010467 2630,446 304821 155,195,155
Additions HE - - 2054576 269,831 - 691,012 3015419
Transfers b - - 125,470 - - (125170) -
Depreciation provided during the year  ERTE R (3,394,653) (160,385)  (4474231)  (1871,702) (482,951) - (10383922
Disposalsfwrite-off HE /i - - (39,791) (32,177) (3,489) - (75,457)
Exchange realignment ERAE (5,585,367) - (218269 (552,091) (124.220) (270 (8467,072)
At 31 March 2017 and ROTEBNAR
1 Aprl 2017, net of NITELRIR
accumulated depreciation IRENE 91,687,748 00149 04144 88438 2019786 848028 139,284,183
Additions AE - 1166592 2,585,668 796,989 T4 336215 8624804
Deprecation provided ERirERtE
during the year (3,469,323 (293331)  (4781.212)  (1.880,702) (577.301) - (11,001929)
Disposalsfwrite-off HE /s (26,611) - (40,197) (50,588} - - (1139
Acquistion of a new subsidiary WE-HHHELR ¥ - 322,009 - 373,064 330,558 - 0583
Exchange realignment ERRE 8,692,601 83,167 3,262,188 746,452 171,889 20976 13249273
At 31 March 2018 RM8EIBE 9884415 2178586 36,030,531 8811543 2656312 4503119 151,064,566
Furniture,
Leasghold ~ Plantand fixtures and Motor ~ Construction
Buildings improvements  machinery  equipment vehicles in progress Total
il xR
BY WERE BERESE RERRRE AE EEIR He
HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS
AT E E AT E AT AT
At 1 April 2016: R16%E4B1E :
Cost [ 114,283,603 1603851 48804906 15957643 6,501,750 304821 187,456,580
Accumulated depreciation RitiE (13,615,83) (543317)  (9.283793)  (4.947176)  (3871,304) - (3226142)
Net carrying amount REFE 100,667,768 106053 3052113 11010467 2,630,446 304827 156,195,155

119



Tianda Pharmaceuticals Limited

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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31 March 2018 2018435 31H

12.  PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

12. ME - BEKRRE®

Furniture,
Leasehold Plantand fixtures and Motor  Construction
Buildings improvements ~ machinery  equipment vehicles in progress Total
ik iR
BF NRRE BERHE RERRR AE  EEIR 1
HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS
AT BT B AT BT g AT
At 31 March 2017 and RNTEIANAR
1 April 2018: M8E4B1E
Cost A 107,904,073 1603851 470852549 15,231,615 6,174,721 848,028 179,614,843
Accumulated depreciation RiE (16,216,329) (703,702) (12048405  (6,407.267)  (4154941) - (40,330,660)
Net carrying amount FEFE 91,687,748 900149 35,004,144 8,624,328 2,019,786 848,028 130,284,183
At 31 March 2018: H2018E3ANA .
Cost 2 118,363,466 3183946 54849134 17,166,139 7,760,979 4,503,119 205,826,783
Accumulated depreciation RHIAE (21,479.081)  (1,005,360)  (18,818,603)  (8,354596) (5,104,607) - (b4T62,217)
Net carrying amount RERE 96,864,415 2178586 36,030,531 8,811,543 2,656,372 4,503,119 151,064,566
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31 March 2018 2018435315

13.

14.

PREPAID LAND LEASE PAYMENTS

13. FE{TLIEEFHRIE

Annual Report 2018

2018 2017
HK$ HK$
B BT
Carrying amount at beginning of the year REV ZREE 110,826,809 121,218,605
Recognised during the year FRFES (3,743,075) (3,661,929)
Exchange realignment bE R EE 10,537,334 (6,729,867)
Carrying amount at end of the year RERZREE 117,621,068 110,826,809
Current portion TRENERD (3,977,486) (3,625,143)
Non-current portion JERENEZRD 113,643,582 107,201,666
GOODWILL 14, HE
HK$
BT
31 March 2017 2017538 31H
At 1 April 2016 201644818 -
Cost DN 106,926,467
Accumulated impairment RKEHEE -
Net carrying amount IRERE 106,926,467
Cost at 1 April 2016, net of accumulated impairment 522016548 1B 2 Fi 7~ > 0B B sHipE 106,926,467
Impairment during the year FARIE (2,141,711)
Exchange realignment PE 52 SR 2 (6,070,291)
At 31 March 2017 2201738 31H 98,714,465
At 31 March 2017: 2017838318 :
Cost 27N 100,856,176
Accumulated impairment RHitRE (2,141,711)
Net carrying amount EREHE 98,714,465
31 March 2018 2018538 31H
Cost at 1 April 2017, net of accumulated impairment ~ §22017€E4B1B 2 4~ » MR B &tipE 98,714,465
Acquisition of a subsidiary (note 27) W B — R S 8 A B (Mg 5E27) 3,295,777
Exchange realignment bE R ER % 10,137,771
At 31 March 2018 142018538318 112,148,013
At 31 March 2018: 2201838318 :
Cost 5% 3 114,289,724
Accumulated impairment ZEtiR{E (2,141,711)
Net carrying amount IRERE 112,148,013
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14.  GOODWILL (continued)

Impairment testing of goodwill

Goodwill acquired through business combinations is
allocated to the following cash-generating units for impairment
testing:

. Pharmaceutical products cash-generating unit for Yunnan
Meng Sheng Pharmaceutical

. Pharmaceutical products cash-generating unit for Tianda
Pharmaceuticals (Zhuhai)

. Pharmaceutical products cash-generating unit for TCM
(China)

Pharmaceutical products cash-generating unit for Meng
Sheng Pharmaceutical

The recoverable amount of the pharmaceutical products
cash-generating unit has been determined based on a value
in use calculation using cash flow projections based on
financial budgets covering a five-year period approved by
senior management. The discount rate applied to the cash flow
projections is 13.96% (2017: 12.66%). The growth rate used to
extrapolate the cash flows of the pharmaceutical products unit
beyond the five-year period is 3% (2017: 3%)., which was the
same as the long term average growth rate of the pharmaceutical
industry.

Pharmaceutical products cash-generating unit for Tianda
Pharmaceuticals (Zhuhai)

The recoverable amount of the pharmaceutical products
cash-generating unit has been determined based on a value
in use calculation using cash flow projections based on
financial budgets covering a ten-year period approved by
senior management. The discount rate applied to the cash flow
projections is 13.96% (2017: 13.66%). The growth rate used to
extrapolate the cash flows of the pharmaceutical products unit
beyond the ten-year period is 3% (2017: 3%), which was the
same as the long term average growth rate of the pharmaceutical
industry.

The calculations use cash flow projections based on
financial budgets approved by management covering a ten-year
period. Financial budgets covering a ten-year period was used as
the management believes that forecasted period longer than five
years is feasible and reflects a more accurate entity value.

14.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
EERERMEE

31 March 2018 2018435 31H

BE®

AN
BREBAHBANGESEE
NFHRE E E B (R -

- HERECREERRSELER

fiI

© O RKEEX (BB) 2BEERRS
EEE

© RRPBE (hE) 2BEERR
TEEEN

BERBEZBBERTTELEN

BRERRSESBMNAURE
SHENFAENRSREEBH AENE
ERFHRRNEEBEEEENEREER
EBEAREREEAEEE -HER
=T8RP A BY AL IR 2 %13.96% (2017
£ 11266%) c AFHIMBZBEER
BHE2ELBEMUNRSRE%3% (2017
F13%) EEE (LHBETENRIE
T REMHEE) #HE o

AAEE (BF) Z2BEERELESL
-4 174

BRERRSEEBMMNAURE
SHENRBENGSREEBIENE
E+FHENMBEEEEENIRER
EBEREREEFEEE -HER
=T8RP BRI ALIR 2 %13.96% (2017
F 113.66%) - +FHMEZBEER
B ESXEMNNREERE/™I% (2017
F3%)ERE (LHABRETENRE
T REFMER) #HE o

ZEEERAEREEBRIEN T
FHMBEENREESAETRA - AR
EEERE BRRFEZRAHST
TR RE AR BREE(E - FLLR
BT HRE+FHNMBRE -
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14, GOODWILL (continued) 14. HE®w
Impairment testing of goodwill (continued) HERENE @
Pharmaceutical products cash-generating unit for TCM XARERE (HEH) Z2BBERTEE
(China) LES(

The recoverable amount of the pharmaceutical products BrmERIRSEL BN TURE
cash-generating unit has been determined based on a value SHENDTRBERSREEBIENE
in use calculation using cash flow projections based on EFFHRNMEREEERNIRE R
financial budgets covering a five-year period approved by ERIRERAEEAEEE - HER
senior management. The discount rate applied to the cash flow ETERFAEAMNMIRE21434% c &1
projections is 14.34%. The growth rate used to extrapolate FHRgzERBZERIRSELENN
the cash flows of the pharmaceutical products unit beyond the HEREWINIERER (ILHEEITE
five-year period is 3%, which was the same as the long term MEEREHIEEXRER)EH -
average growth rate of the pharmaceutical industry.

The carrying amount of goodwill allocated to each of the PEESRETELBUZHEZ
cash-generating units is as follows: AREBEWT :

Tianda
TCM Meng Sheng Pharmaceuticals
(China) Pharmaceutical (Zhuhai) Total
XAPRE XREX
(FE) HERR (¥%38) L
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT BT
Carrying amount of goodwill 12018331 Z
as at 31 March 2018 HEREE 3,453,434 6,653,157 102,041,422 112,148,013
Carrying amount of goodwil R2017E3BMNBZ
as at 31 March 2017 HEREE - 6,063,789 92,650,676 98,714,465
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
EERERMEE

31 March 2018 2018435 31H

14.

GOODWILL (continued)

Impairment testing of goodwill (continued)
Pharmaceutical products cash-generating unit for TCM
(China) (continued)

Assumptions were used in the value in use calculation of
the pharmaceuticals products cash-generating units for 31 March
2018. The following describes each key assumption on which
management has based its cash flow projections to undertake
impairment testing of goodwill:

Forecasted growth rates — The forecasted growth rates are
based on industry forecasts.

Budgeted gross margins — The basis used to determine to
the value assigned to the budgeted gross margins is reference
to the gross margins achieved in the year immediately before the
budget year.

Discount rates — The discount rates used are before tax
and reflect specific risks relating to the relevant units.

The values assigned to the key assumptions on market
development of pharmaceutical industries and discount rates are
consistent with external information sources.

14. BE®@®

EmERENE @
XAFBE (FE) 2BBERRLE
EEU(#)

BTy ARt 2018438310
ZERRTELBEUNEREE XN
TEINEERANREREFAET
FmERENAFNSRRERR

BAMEE — ERTEBRAD
EAREE

RHEEMNEX - BUEEEHEE
MEEBENEELSEREBEFE
Al —FFTERMEFEK o

RAIRER — FRARREIRER A ERIRA]
i frz BR B2 AR B BRI A RA BV A4S E RLRR o

BAREEBENBEERTIHE
BRERENETEZHEREIBESR
R—E o
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15. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

15. HEBREE

Annual Report 2018

Licences
Trademark and permits Total
BEiE MBS 4a%RE
HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT
31 March 2017 2017538318
At 1 April 2016 #20164E4 818 :
Cost % 5,553,746 94,799,230 100,352,976
Accumulated amortisation HEHi#y - (41,216,347) (41,216,347)
Net carrying amount EREFEE 5,553,746 53,582,883 59,136,629
Cost at 1 April 2016, 2016548182
net of accumulated amortisation B fBRRS
N 5,553,746 53,582,883 59,136,629
Amortisation provided during the year £ I 5+ 12 # §H - (11,007,221) (11,007,221)
Impairment during the year FARE (4,255,947) - (4,255,947)
Exchange realignment B aH R 461 (2,838,204) (2,837,743)
At 31 March 2017 2017838318 1,298,260 39,737,458 41,035,718
At 31 March 2017 and 1 April 2017: R2017E3R31H &
201744818
Cost BN 5,554,207 89,651,943 95,206,150
Accumulated amortisation Het#E KR E
and impairment (4,255947)  (49,914,485)  (54,170,432)
Net carrying amount EREFE 1,298,260 39,737,458 41,035,718
31 March 2018 20185E3H31H
Cost at 1 April 2017, R2017E4B1B
net of accumulated amortisation A > 0Bk R st
5 1,298,260 39,737,458 41,035,718
Additions nNE 5,168 - 5,168
Amortisation provided during the year £ A 512 # 85 - (11,039,985) (11,039,985)
Acquisition of a subsidiary (note 27) I BE — R M B A )
(FMsE27) - 1,702,650 1,702,650
Impairment during the year FARE (1,307,629) - (1,307,629)
Exchange realignment [ERHE 4,201 2,943,856 2,948,057
At 31 March 2018 4201838 31H - 33,343,979 33,343,979
At 31 March 2018: 12018538318
Cost 5% 3 5,554,207 89,651,943 95,206,150
Accumulated amortisation Rt BERRE
and impairment (5,554,207)  (56,307,964)  (61,862,171)
Net carrying amount IRERE - 33,343,979 33,343,979
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15.

16.

17.

OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

Due to the intense competition in the market of healthcare
products which resulted in a decrease in sales revenue of Tianda
Pharmaceuticals (Australia) for the years ended 31 March 2018
and 2017, having conducted prudent business assessment
and thorough review of its product portfolio, the Group has
foreseen Tianda Pharmaceuticals (Australia) to be loss-making
in subsequent years. Such business forecast resulted in the
impairment of the trademark of HK$1,307,629 for the year ended
31 March 2018 (2017: HK$4,255,947). The impaired trademark
belongs to the CGU for Tianda Pharmaceuticals (Australia), a
business operation which is engaged in the sales of healthcare
products. The recoverable amount of the CGU for Tianda
Pharmaceuticals (Australia), which is based on the value in use,
is nil (2017: HK$12,299,394). The discount rate used in the
current estimate is 22% (2017: 22%).

AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENTS

15. HEEBEEE @

REESRTERIPHNERRKE
¥ (RAF ) & =2018F K20174E3831H
IEFEENHEERARL > MEEBEERT
EREEEREEREEE  ~EEBEH
RAREE CRAF D) SR RKBEHRES
18 o I TE R EHE F201853831H Lk
FEREEIERE1,307,629/8 7T (20174 :
4,255 9474 7T) o MENEIEBIR R AEEE
CRAFME) WIRSELEN  ZEKEE
RERBERHEE - RKEE CRAF
o) BEREREENIRESEEEMNARE
AT (20174 © 12,299,394 7T) - HAS
{hetfE A MY AL IR A22% (20174 © 22%) ©

16. AJHEEKRSE

2018 2017

HK$ HK$

BT BT

Unlisted equity securities, at cost FELETRAKRE > A - 36,232,212
Listed equity securities, at fair value IHARERE  BARBE 17,779,099 -
17,779,099 36,232,212

During the year, the gross gain on disposal in respect of FR - REEZERERERZ

the Group’s available-for-sale investments recognised in other
comprehensive income amounted to HK$14,450,894 (2017: nil),
HK$8,293,917 (2017: nil) of which was reclassified from other
comprehensive income to profit or loss for the year.

AEFEUHEEREZHERES

14,450,894 7T (20174 : &) » E

8 293,917 7T (20175 : ) AREANB
CEEWREERDEEEG

INVENTORIES 17. 78
2018 2017
HK$ HK$
#IT BT
Raw materials FEE 9,906,201 8,201,477
Work in progress T8 m 7,941,311 6,752,698
Finished goods B & 18,476,865 20,477,788
36,324,377 35,431,963
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18.

TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES

18. FEURARTR R FE W R

Trade and bills receivables

FE LS BR R sz FE W

2018 2017

HK$ HK$

BT BT
74,797,171 38,749,127

The Group’s trading terms with its customers are mainly
on credit. The credit periods are ranging from 60 to 180 days.
The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding
receivables and has a credit control department to minimise
credit risk. Overdue balances are reviewed regularly by senior
management. In view of the aforementioned and the fact that the
Group’s trade and bills receivables relate to a large number of
customers, there is no significant concentration of credit risk. The
Group does not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements
over its trade receivable balances. Trade and bills receivables are
non-interest-bearing.

An ageing analysis of the trade and bills receivables as at
the end of each reporting period, based on the invoice date and
net of provision, is as follows:

FEBAZRZEZH UL
AE - FEHEBEEROE1B0RAE -
7 B 3 R BB WRRIRAE R R IR BS
> URAEEEESFIREERR
BERKE SREERBEHEREH
R BN EXFAERREEERZ
BRI ERRBEIRREER
WIEBEAEPEERR - AEEL
BRI ORI R R IR A ER
PIEHmAET MR EEZH - B
RN EES RS -

RE|EHR > UERAPAEE
MR EHE BRI BN RE Z IR
BT

2018 2017

HK$ HK$

AT BT

Within 1 month BB A 48,684,132 21,670,665
1 to 2 months 1228 H 9,372,744 4,869,827
2 to 3 months 2ZE3@EAB 6,810,351 3,105,424
Over 3 months IEHAMUE 9,929,944 9,103,211
74,797,171 38,749,127
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18.  TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES (continued) 18.

The ageing analysis of the trade and bills receivables that
are not individually nor collectively considered to be impaired is

FEURBR TR B FE U 4% (4@

A IEAE B B H RAR 2 B E 2 &
WERMR R ERRBE Z ARE DT T -

as follows:
2018 2017
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Neither past due nor impaired FE A E R E 68,868,016 38,454,101
Less than 1 month past due BER/ D R1ER 2,401,721 106,225
1 to 3 months past due BiB1E3ME B EHE 3,527,434 188,801
74,797,171 38,749,127

Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired related
to customers for whom there was no recent history of default.

Receivables that were past due but not impaired related
to customers that have a good track record with the Group.
Based on past experience, the directors of the Company are
of the opinion that no provision for impairment is necessary in
respect of these balances as there has not been a significant
change in credit quality and the balances are still considered fully
recoverable.

BE R B HATR R R (E Z FE R AR TR R
I BRI ZERAM -

BEMAERAEZ KRR —
HEAEEREARFERLHEZER
ER - REBELEE  ANEEER
WEHBEBREFHREFNRA T2 HK
[ MARBERDAILELERZ
FEFIFHRERR -
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19.

20.

PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 19. FE(IRRIE « HERH TR
2018 2017
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Non-current JETE
Deposit for acquisition of property, WHEMZE ~ BRER&E
plant and equipment Z2¥%E 217,936 189,497
Current TREh
Prepayments FETRIE 1,516,865 2,099,106
Deposits we 4,487,934 1,538,032
Other receivables HEerKE 2,852,748 701,617
8,857,547 4,339,655

None of the above assets is either past due or impaired.
The financial assets included in the above balances relate to
receivables for which there was no recent history of default.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

At the end of the reporting period, the Group’s cash
and bank balances denominated in RMB amounted to
HK$378,397,882 (2017: HK$289,454,004). The RMB s not freely
convertible into other currencies, however, under the Mainland
China’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and Administration
of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange
Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange RMB for other
currencies through banks authorised to conduct foreign exchange
business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on
daily bank deposit rates. The bank balances are deposited with
creditworthy banks with no recent history of default.

20.

LB EBEREAATRRBIE o 5t
ALtz TMEERTHTEX
MACER Z FEWGRA R

RERREFEEE

REER » FEBMUARE
B 2R & R IR1T4E 85 4378,397,882/8
7T (20174E : 289,454,004 7T) o ARUE
FOEHRBAHCEE  AMKRE
F ] A B I BE B AR 1) e 45 BB ~ S BB
RIGESEHRTE  ~EEFEIBE!
EITIEXERZIRTHARKRBRS
He &g

ERRTREERESARTE
S R T B F RBIA S o SRIT 4
BERRBIETEERES T SRR
17 H93R1T °
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21. TRADE PAYABLES 21. FE{FBRER

REBEREHR > UERAHRE
ENRMRRZEREDNWMT :

An ageing analysis of the trade payables as at the end of
each of the reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as

130

follows:

2018 2017

HK$ HK$

AT BT

Within 2 months pA(EN=R] 15,451,209 7,193,404
2 to 3 months 2E3ME A 472,263 2,464,244
Over 3 months MEH UL 1,273,241 1,604,812
17,196,713 11,262,460

Trade payables are non-interest-bearing and are normally

settled with terms of 30 to 60 days.

IR A RS » —ARI0E

60K AETE o

22.  OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 22. HEB(IHRKRESER
2018 2017
HK$ HK$
T T
Other payables HEEMH 9,221,187 2,408,813
Accruals FEEH & 79,711,302 30,986,523
Receipts in advance FEW I 17,815,075 10,148,370
106,747,564 43,543,706

Other payables are non-interest-bearing and have an

average term of three months.

HERBMORAHE - 15955

=@A -
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DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES 23. BIERBFEAR
Fair value Withholding
adjustment Prepaid tax on
of property, land Other distributable
plant and lease Intangible profit of
equipment payments assets subsidiaries Total
BER HEAH
H®iEZ 3K
A5MEE At HE w2z
HE fEME Bl EE BnR i
HKS HKS HKS HKS HKS
BT BT B BT BT
At 1 April 2016 1201654818 3,616,603 13,098,200 14,987,051 539,745 32,241,599
Deferred tax credited/(charged) EREBRHIN/
to profit or loss during (Np) ZIESERRIE
the year (note 9) (Fiz%9) (130,575) (472,903) (4,010,462) 441,188 (4172,752)
Exchange realignment ERAE (200,570) (726,416) (709,885) - (1636,871)
At 31 March 2017 and ROTEIAN AR
at 1 April 2017 R01754A18 3,285,458 11,898,881 10,266,704 980,933 26,431,976
Deferred tax credited(charged) FEREB@HN/
to proft or loss during (k%) 2 EIEHIE
the year (note 9) GiEL) (133,469) (483,383) (3,170,360) (456,367) (4,244 079)
Exchange realignment ERAR 310,964 1,126,232 784,637 - 2,221,833
At 31 March 2018 2013538 3A 3,462,953 12,541,730 7,880,981 524,066 24,409,730

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had unused
tax losses arising mainly in Hong Kong, the PRC and Australia
of HK$320,832,000 (2017: HK$296,801,000) available to offset
against future profits. Unrecognised tax losses that may be
carried forward indefinitely.

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a 10%
withholding tax is levied on dividends declared to foreign investors
from the foreign investment enterprises established in China.
The requirement is effective from 1 January 2008 and applies to
earnings after 31 December 2007. A lower withholding tax rate
may be applied if there is a tax treaty between the Mainland China
and the jurisdiction of the foreign investors.

For the Group, the applicable rate is 10%. The Group is
therefore liable to withholding taxes on dividends distributed by
those subsidiaries established in the Mainland China in respect of
earnings generated from 1 January 2008.

There are no income tax consequences attaching to the
payment of dividend by the Company to its shareholders.

RIREHAR » NEETBARIEH
REHM Z RENBEMIEEE (FERR
&8 ~ DR BB KFEE) 320,832,000
T (20174F : 296,801,000387T) © KbgE
RMIEEIE T EIREAAEE o

RBEFEERERGRZE > MXRE
PR B AR LAY M ER 4 B 1 R B9 S B3R
BEMEIKR S ABMI0%ITEL o
ZARTE H2008F1 B 1AL MR BEAR
2007 12BN BRELENEF © HHE
AEEINR IR B EPTERAEER] 1L
MEEL > BRANTENRFHERRK -

MAEEMS  BAKRES
10% o [ It 2 £ [ 78 T A B oK B R a2
M %K B AT H2008FE1H1BREE
EEFFRDIRRIE B AANTEINR o

A B A AR SR A AR S 3 S5 B
WASIRER -
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24.  SHARE CAPITAL 24, BgZs
2018 2017
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Authorised: ERE -
4,000,000,000 (2017: 4,000,000,000) 4,000,000,0000% (20174 :
ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each 4,000,000,0008%) &= A&
HE AT T i@ 400,000,000 400,000,000
Issued and fully paid: ERITRHRE :
2,150,475,884 (2017: 2,150,635,884) 2,150,475,8848% (20174 :
ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each 2,150,635,884 %) &= %
EEABITTZ EIER 215,047,588 215,063,588
A summary of movement in the Company’s share capital is KRBIKRAZEHRIIMT :
as follows:
Number of Share
shares in issue capital
BRTRRHHE fe s
HK$
BT
Issued and fully paid: ERITRERE :
At 1 April 2016 and 31 March 2017 #R20165F4B1B &
20174%E3831H 2,150,635,884 215,063,588
Share repurchased A (160,000) (16,000)
At 31 March 2018 H420185E3831H 2,150,475,884 215,047,588
During the year, the Company purchased 160,000 (2017: FR AREIREAESHEQT]
nil) of its shares on the Stock Exchange for a total consideration JE L 481X 1849,57378 7T (20174 © )
of HK$49,573 (2017: nil) which was paid wholly out of share 14 Bt 32 P B& A E160,0008% (20174 :
premium in accordance with the Cayman Islands Companies ®m) R 2NEERHERMEE
Law. The purchased shares were cancelled during the year and T o FABEZRNENRFEANEH
HK$16,000 (2017: nil) and HK$33,573 (2017: nil) have been 16,0003 7T (20174F : 4&) R33,57338 7T
charged to the share capital and share premium of the Company (20175 | &%) ED A ELR R AR E K
respectively. AR EER IR o
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25.

RESERVES

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements
therein for the reporting period are presented in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity on page 67 of this annual report.

The capital contribution reserve represents (1) the excess
of disposal consideration over the fair value of the disposal of
Tinwise Investment Limited, a wholly owned subsidiary of the
Company, and its subsidiaries in 2010 as deemed contribution
from the ultimate holding company; (2) the excess of disposal
consideration over the fair value of the disposal of packaging
and printing business at 31 August 2012 as deemed capital
contribution from the ultimate holding company; (3) the excess
of disposal consideration over the fair value of the disposal of
mineral resources business as deemed capital contribution from
the ultimate holding company.

The special reserve of the Group represents the difference
between the nominal amount of the share capital issued by
the Company and the nominal amount of the share capital of
a subsidiary acquired by the Company pursuant to a corporate
reorganisation in preparation for the listing of the Company’s
shares on the Stock Exchange in 1992.

The statutory reserve represents (1) the appropriation of
certain percentages of profit after taxation of the subsidiaries
established in the PRC as recommended by the directors of those
subsidiaries based on the PRC statutory financial statements and
(2) provision for production safety being accrued by a subsidiary
in the PRC at fixed rates ranging from 2% to 4% based on
operating revenue (the maintenance and production safety funds),
which is transferred from retained profits to the specific reserve
and could be utilised when expenses and capital expenditures in
production maintenance and safety measures are incurred.

25,

&

R R 5 H 2 (6 BB A
RSB RRAERETE GRS
2B o

HEBEBEALRN 2010EHE X
NEEEME A B Tinwise Investment
Limited e Mt B AT 2 X B FTH
EZAREBE FARBERATZ
HIEHE; (2) 2012FE8831HEE S
HRERIEFZZRESRFAHEZA
AEE FARKIERABDZHREL
B QHEREERER 2AEER
FREEZAREBE  FARKIZERA
BZRIEHE ©

FEBZRFRREDRABRE
—IEAZHEER AT R I1992F Tk
RATETMETZARNEERETZ
RAmERFBE-FHHEAEZK
AEHEWMEMZEZLRE-

AEEETIE() R P E AL Z
BABZEEZRBPBEEMHFRE
MmEZEMZZH B RB ZFRIREEF
FHETEALEZAERQQEERS
ZBE - W —EPEME AR UL
EWABEERN F2%E4% 2 BIEF)
RELE HEREEZZ2ES) > AR
BENBRERERE > AERNEEHE
ERZEHEMEESZHRERFARE
A -

133



134

Tianda Pharmaceuticals Limited

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MATSRERMIRE

31 March 2018 2018435 31H

26. PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARY WITH MATERIAL NON-

26. BEEEAIFERESNIGHES

CONTROLLING INTERESTS b B 2 5)
Details of the Group’s subsidiary that have material non- REBEBEREAIEERERS Z MY
controlling interests are set out below: BABREINWT -
2018 2017
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Percentage of equity interest held by JEIEREEITEN
non-controlling interests: B DL :
Meng Sheng Pharmaceutical PAAEEE 45% 45%
2018 2017
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Profit for the year allocated to non-controlling 3B F IEIZRZHE R HY
interests: KEERF :
Meng Sheng Pharmaceutical R 12,154,283 12,310,331
Dividend paid to non-controlling interests of S FREREE
Meng Sheng Pharmaceutical JEEREHRNRER 13,649,809 8,635,449
Accumulated balances of non-controlling interestsi? ¥ & B EA A9 JE =BG
at the reporting date: R B R A ER ¢
Meng Sheng Pharmaceutical BRA s 37,857,352 34,641,529
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26.

PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARY WITH MATERIAL NON-  26.

CONTROLLING INTERESTS (continued)

The following tables illustrate the summarised financial
information of the above subsidiary. The amounts disclosed are

before any inter-company eliminations:

BEEAREERESHNIMES
it 8 2 8 @)

TR\ LEHBBARNMFHE
HEE - RENES|EEFHEAR
EIfEE 2 Al -

Meng Sheng
Pharmaceutical
MEm
HK$
BT

2018
Revenue A 196,324,628
Total expenses M (169,315,109)
Profit for the year KEERF 27,009,519
Total comprehensive income for the year AEEEZEKREEEE 37,479,182
Current assets RENEE 91,253,169
Non-current assets ERBMEE 60,514,099
Current liabilities nEaE (70,251,367)
Non-current liabilities ERBMERE (699,315)
Net cash flows from operating activities KERESTHNIRERE/F5E 54,514,286
Net cash flows from investing activities REREFEBNREREFEE 898,514
Net cash flows used in financing activities ARMEESNRERE R (24,046,146)
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents RERREEEBEEIEMEEE 31,366,654

2017
Revenue WA 77,820,573
Total expenses e (50,464,285)
Profit for the year KEE G 27,356,288
Total comprehensive income for the year rEEZEKRFHELLE 22,870,022
Current assets MBEE 43,753,630
Non-current assets ERHEE 60,374,871
Current liabilities mEad (28,015,187)
Non-current liabilities JERENAE (751,522)
Net cash flows from operating activities REKEEFHNIREREFEE 34,077,222
Net cash flows from investing activities REKEEENIREREFEE 220,934
Net cash flows used in financing activities ARrREESNIREREFEE (14,904,051)
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents RERREEEEEIGMFEE 19,394,105

B3 135



136

Tianda Pharmaceuticals Limited

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
EERERMEE

31 March 2018 2018435 31H

27.

BUSINESS COMBINATION 2. EBEH
On 4 December 2017, the Group acquired a 100% interest 201712848 > X E B E B
in TCM (China) from the independent third parties Mr. Zhu UE=ZAREERERBELZTIK
Hongbin and Ms. Lao Baozhen. TCM (China) is principally FBRAPEE () AY100%E © K
engaged in the wholesale of Chinese Herbal Medicines, AKHPEE (FE) FTERSHEMF
Traditional Chinese Medicine (TCM) decoction pieces and BE R R EEABHE o LERER
Chinese Granules. The acquisition was made as part of the AEBMBEREEMEEPBEE
Group’s strategy to enhance its product varieties and develop EHRIEN—IR - WESENWRELE
in the Chinese Medicine business. The purchase consideration UREZHIEERKEHBRZHZM
for the acquisition was in the form of cash, with RMB5,141,394 A R #55,141,3947¢ (18 & 726,120,2557%8
(equivalent to HK$6,120,255) paid in full at the acquisition date. 7T) ©
The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of RAHEZ (FRE) HUERIN
TCM (China) as at the date of acquisition were as follows: AHNEERERZAABENT :
Fair
value
recognised
Notes on acquisition
A U B B B 5%
Bfd 5% ZAREE
HK$
BT
Property, plant and equipment ME - BEKRRE 12 1,025,631
Intangible assets B EE 15 1,702,650
Inventories =75 1,257,851
Trade receivables FE WL BR 7R 3,669,450
Other receivables and prepayments HEeRWAKRFEMRIE 4,251,829
Cash and bank balances H& RIBITLHEER 754,462
Other payables and accruals HeENHRKESER (9,787,725)
Tax payable FE{I TR 18 (49,670)
Total identifiable net assets at fair value BAREBEEYERZ
EEREET- 33 2,824,478
Goodwill on acquisition Wiz me 14 3,295,777
Satisfied by cash LREZ M 6,120,255

The fair values of the trade receivables and other
receivables as at the date of acquisition amounted to
HK$3,669,450 and HK$4,251,829, respectively. The gross
contractual amounts of trade receivables and other receivables
were HK$3,669,450 and HK$4,251,829, respectively.

No transaction cost was incurred for this acquisition.

FEWBR TR HE W UREE B
HZ A REED B 23,669,450 7T K
4,251,829/ 70 - EWER AR E E W
MZHBEHSEED B 3,669,450 7T
T24,251,82938 7T ©

I EE L UL TR W RIS 32 55 B S o
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27. BUSINESS COMBINATION (continued) 21. EHEH®@®
An analysis of the cash flows in respect of the acquisition of ERWE—RRE AR ZIRER
a subsidiary is as follows: EQWWT :

HK$
BT
Cash consideration HERE (6,120,255)
Cash and bank balances acquired Wi IR & R IR1T A ER 754,462

Net outflow of cash and cash equivalents included FAREBEEEFABREREZ
in cash flows from investing activities ReEkREEEEEREFE (5,365,793)

Since the acquisition, TCM (China) contributed
HK$3,197,307 to the Group’s revenue and a loss of
HK$2,113,505 to the consolidated profit for the year ended 31
March 2018.

Had the combination taken place at the beginning of the
year, the revenue and the profit of the Group for the year would

have been HK$371,759,444 and HK$18,967,115, respectively.

None of the goodwill recognised is expected to be
deductible for income tax purposes.

28. NOTE TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH
FLOWS

Changes in liability arising from financing activities

28.

BUEBLAR » RAFEREE (P[E)
77 & B W A B BK3,197,307 8 75 0 I
A E2018FEIAMBALEEENEZSE
F 5 R E582,113,50558 7T ©

HMEGHERFNEE &
EEFABWKRA RS D BB
371,759,444 78 7T 218,967,158 7T °

TR R B RESREE A AR
FRGHR ©

FERERERME

MEFHEENREED

Dividend payable

i 30 35)

HK$

BT

At 1 April 2017 F20178E481H -
Dividend declared (Note 10) BEIKEE (FizE10) 12,258,626
Dividend paid BIRE (10,487,281)
At 31 March 2018 H20185%E3H831H 1,771,345
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29. OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS

As lessee

At 31 March 2018 and 2017, the Group had total future
minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases
falling due as follows:

29.

EEMARH

EBEEA

20184 K201748E3831H » A&
ERE A o] B EH S EFHA M T HIHAR
EIEAME R 2 R AR R K FH AR IE4REE
mF

2018 2017

HK$ HK$

BT BT

Within one year —&ER 5,199,360 2,728,965
In the second to fifth years, inclusive F_ELERN (BIEEERFE) 9,182,7M1 -
14,382,101 2,728,965

The Group leases certain of its office properties under
operating lease arrangements. The lease for properties is
negotiated for a three-year term.

30. COMMITMENTS
In addition to the operating lease commitments detailed in

note 29 above, the Group had the following capital commitments
at the end of the reporting period:

30.

FEBBEEEOLHHEERS
FMREYE - ERBZWEBROE
HAZ3EF o

i
PR _ESCHMIEE205F it AU ETH & K

I REBRBKRSHERBEUTER
TRIE

2018 2017
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Contracted, but not provided for: ERENEESZT -
Plant and equipment B K& 1,671,169 3,916,219
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31.  RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(a)

In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere in these
consolidated financial statements, the Group had the

3. FAEALRS

(@)

PR E M BHRRACEM T
ZXR 5 REBERERHRE

following transactions with related parties during the year: ATETUTRS :
2018 2017
Notes HK$ HK$
M 5E BT BT
Purchases of package materials: REaEYE
Zhuhai S.E.Z. Cheng Cheng BEsRERE
Printing Co., Ltd. A AR EN TS
ARATF (i) (i) 4,023,004 2,749,271
Office rental expenses: MAEHEE .
AREBE (FE) BRAF AAREBE (FE)
BRAE] (i) (iii) 712,948 557,993
Notes: Bk -

(i) The transactions were conducted in accordance with the terms
and conditions mutually agreed by both parties.

(if) Zhuhai S.E.Z. Cheng Cheng Printing Co., Ltd. is a fellow
subsidiary of the Company.

(i) KRRKEBZE (FE) BRAT is a fellow subsidiary of the
Company.

Outstanding balances with a related party:

The Group had an outstanding balance due to its
related party, Zhuhai S.E.Z. Cheng Cheng Printing Co.,
Ltd., of HK$427,133 (2017: HK$1,058,410) as at the
end of the reporting period. This balance is unsecured,
interest-free and has no fixed terms of repayment.

() AEXZHEEHHEREZRF
TRBARAFIEST ©

(i) HEBKEFERMENFERAT
BERABNERMBATE

(iy RABE (FE) BRATAXE
AENRRHBAT °

BRI AL Z REBER -

FEBRKREIHAREENS
RAE A TEB KBS & B EN TS
BIRAT Z REIELRRI27,1338
7¢ (20174F : 1,058,410 7T) © %
ERAEIKT RERERTE
FRHA o
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31. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued) 3. FEALRZ @
(c) Compensation of key management personnel of the Group: ) HAEEFEBEABME:
2018 2017
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Short term employee benefits EEEEREF 4,851,199 5,905,259
Post-employment benefits RIREF 72,000 115,416
Total compensation paid to key ENFEEEAEME

management personnel 4m2E 4,923,199 6,020,675
Further details of directors’ and the chief executive’s EREERETETRAE
emoluments are included in note 7 to the consolidated MEZ i E— P EHEBENIFRE IS

financial statements. HRARMIEET o

32.  FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial

32. EMITAREZER

NSRS ESMITAZRE

instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as follows: BUWT :
2018
Financial assets EREE
Available-
Loans and for-sale
receivables financial assets Total
BR Rk A&
FEUBR R EHEE ek
HK$ HK$ HK$
AT BT BT
Available-for-sale investments AEHELE - 17,779,099 17,779,099
Trade and bills receivables MR B ZE 74,797,171 - 74,797,171
Financial assets included in prepayments, st AT FUIE s HE K
deposits and other receivables HERKMZ
ETHEE 7,340,682 - 7,340,682
Cash and cash equivalents RERREEEER 493,153,768 = 493,153,768
575,291,621 17,779,099 593,070,720
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EMITERZEN @
ERaE

32.  FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY (continued) 32.

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities
at amortised cost

Yo eE Rk 4~
JIlRZz ERAE
HK$
BT
Trade payables FE 1 BR X 17,196,713
Financial liabilities included in other SHAHCERMRKRESERZ
payables and accruals ERaE 78,742,730
Amount due to a related company et —MERAE AR RIE 427,133
Dividend payable FEfTRZ B 1,771,345
98,137,921
2017
Financial assets EMEE
Available-
Loans and for-sale
receivables financial assets Total
Bk oEHE
FEER X EHEE ]
HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT
Available-for-sale investments AHHERE - 36,232,212 36,232,212
Trade and bills receivables FEWBR TR R FE U = 4 38,749,127 - 38,749,127
Financial assets included in FFATERIE
prepayments, deposits BERHEE
and other receivables FEW =R 2
ETMEE 2,240,549 - 2,240,549
Cash and cash equivalents RERREEEEH 399,316,081 - 399,316,081
440,305,757 36,232,212 476,537,969
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32.

33.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY (continued)

Financial liabilities

32.

ERMITAZERN @
ERaE

Financial liabilities
at amortised cost

b278: 511 %i

IRz ERBE

HK$

BT

Trade payables & 1 BR =R 11,262,460
Financial liabilities included in other SAHECRMRRESERZ

payables and accruals ETHEE 24,900,868

Amount due to a related company FEft —FERAE A B FRIE 1,058,410

37,221,738

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS

Management has assessed that the fair values of trade
and bills receivables, financial assets included in prepayments,
deposits and other receivables, cash and cash equivalents,
trade payables, financial liabilities included in other payables
and accruals, an amount due to a related company and dividend
payable approximate to their carrying amounts largely due to the
short term maturities of these instruments.

The fair value of the financial assets and liabilities
are included at the amount at which the instrument could be
exchanged in a current transaction between willing parties, other
than in a forced or liquidation sale. The following methods and
assumptions were used to estimate the fair value:

The fair value of the available-for-sale investments is based
on quoted market prices.

33.

EMITAZARBERAARGEE
EF4R

EEEENE BRI B
RECSARARE -REKRETRE
WHRzEMEE - RERRESFEEA
B BRZ - sFARERNIRKE
StERAZEMER BY—BRER
BIRENAREMREZANBERER
BFEEZREERS  TEHNZFL
BREHAREIE-

TMEERBRZAANBERE
BRRES CrRaEssRHeE) 2B
ERXZPRETIRNTANEZEA
Bk ERA TR ERBRMAF AR
BfE:

AHHEREZ AABEEDER
MIHWE ©
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33.

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Fair value hierarchy
The following table illustrates the fair value measurement
hierarchy of the Group’s financial instruments:

3. EMIAZAABERIAAEE
EiR @)

[RAEEEFR
TERARPEEBRESHMTANAR
BEFEFR:

Assets measured at fair value BARBEAENEE
2018 2017
HK$ HK$
BT BT

Available-for-sale investments AEHERSE
— Fair value measurement using quoted — LRI IREETT
prices in active markets (Level 1) RABEIE

(B14R) 17,779,099 -

As at 31 March 2017, the available-for-sale investments
were measured at cost less impairment, if any, as they did not
have a quoted market price in an active market and the range
of reasonable fair value estimates was so significant that the
directors of the Company were of the opinion that its fair value
could not be measured reliably.

The available-for-sale investments commenced publicly
trading on the Taipei Exchange since 1 June 2017.

The Group did not have any financial liabilities measured at
fair value as at 31 March 2018 and 2017.

During the year ended 31 March 2018, there were no
transfers of fair value measurement between Level 1 and Level
2 and no transfers into or out of Level 3 for both financial assets
and financial liabilities.

12017438318 » A HERE
BEARERE (W) 8 FilE
EENIEAZHTSREMSEANE
EfFEEERUAREATESRES
BAF RS EHAREE

H2017EE6B1H#E » AT H &£ 1%
BERBIERGFARBARRS °

720184 F20174E38 318 » A&
BIENARBEAENEAUSHE

5o

REZE2018FE38MHLEEE > &
MEERTREENEFIRAFUR
ZEARBEAEEBRUKRLESA
ok EE H 5E34K o
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34.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instrument comprises
cash and cash equivalents. The main purpose of this financial
instrument is to raise finance for the Group’s operations. The
Group has various other financial assets and liabilities such as
trade and bills receivables, available-for-sale investments, other
receivables, trade payables and other payables.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instrument
are equity price risk, interest rate risk, foreign currency risk,
credit risk and liquidity risk. The board of directors reviews and
agrees policies for managing each of these risks and they are
summarised below.

Equity price risk

Equity price risk is the risk that the fair values of equity
securities decrease as a result of changes in the levels of
equity indices and the value of individual securities. The Group
is exposed to equity price risk arising from available-for-sale
investments (note 16) as at 31 March 2018. The Group’s listed
investments are listed on the Taiwan Stock Exchange and are
valued at quoted market prices at the end of the reporting period.
The market equity indices for the following stock exchange, at the
close of business of the nearest trading day in the year to the end
of the reporting period, and their respective highest and lowest
points during the year were as follows:

3. EREAKREEEIERBER

FEENTESHTAGERS
REEFEEE ZEMIAENTE
BENERNAEENEE - AEEE
EFfENHEESMEEKRERE  ME
WERM R BRI ~ AT ERE -
HERBKR - BURAUKREECEN

=
;o

FEEEMTEEENTERR
BERAERERE - FRERE - SME
EE -~ EERBREABESRR - &
FEETTHEANEELEREN
R > WA o

R s (& 4% B B
REERAREZRAESFTNA
AEEEREIEEKFEMERESE
EEMEM TR 12201853831
B> A&EEEHAIHEERE (M
16) EERRAERER - ZEEMN L
TRENGEESFIZHA LT > LR
B ERHIGHREME - LUTE
SRBAMTHSEREER (TENRE
EHEHRNRZF B R HE) URE
FANSERSMANREROT :

31 March High/low 31 March High/low
38318 ® & 3A31A &K
2018 2018 2017 2017

Taiwan — Taiwan Stock Exchange 8 _-8EZB5XS
Capitalization Weighted Stock Index ~ Fr & Ax{L MR = 11,270/ 9,977/
8 10,919 9,622 9,812 8,000
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34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 34. £RIEMEEBEREE @
POLICIES (continued)

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to every TRAPHERALREAAEBES

1% change in the fair values of the equity investments, with all SENMWNHRHAE FIEHEE28RFRET
other variables held constant and before any impact on tax, based FEUURE RERRIEZ FZEA0) »
on their carrying amounts at the end of the reporting period. DERABRAKRENRSHHRNREE

/-
Carrying

amount Increase/

of equity (decrease)

investment in equity*

RARE REZE 10
BIRREE /(D) *

HK$ HK$
BT BT
2018
Investments listed in: B Tits EHiiesE .
177,791/
Taiwan - Available-for-sale aE-rHheE 17,779,099 (177,791)
2017
Unlisted investments at cost JELEHRE » A
362,322/
- Available-for-sale - A E 36,232,212 (362,322)
* Excluding retained profits * TEEREG RN
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34.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (continued)

Interest rate risk

The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in market
interest rates relates primarily to the Group’s cash and bank
balances with a floating interest rate. The Group has not used
any interest rate derivatives to hedge its interest rate risk, and
will consider hedging significant interest rate risk should the need
arise.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a
reasonably possible change in interest rates, with all other
variables held constant, of the Group’s profit before tax (through
the impact on floating rate of cash and cash equivalents).

34.

THRAMEEEEREE @

I 22 B
FEBEHTHANREFRLE
BHEAEBRRIHIRGAENRER
IRITHERAR - AEBLEEREM
MEGTETAUHEPEMERRR > I
RNE RERE BENEAN TR

TERARBERBEHEEHFRE
BHER  FXESEOREEEHAE
BRI AR M R BRE (BB ST
ERFESRBFEZFEEENTE)

Increase/
(decrease) in Increase/(decrease)
basis points in profit before tax
EE PRI AR
¥, GRL) 1@, Grd)
2018 2017
HK$ HK$
BT BT
HK$ BT 100 797,532 1,088,973
RMB AR 100 3,787,979 2,894,540
usb ETT 100 7 3,144
HK$ BT (100) (797,532)  (1,088,973)
RMB AREE (100) (3,787,979)  (2,894,540)
usb E7T (100) (7) (3,144)
KAREERRAF]
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34.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND

POLICIES (continued)

Foreign currency risk

The Group has currency exposures. Such exposures mainly
arise from outstanding foreign currency denominated monetary
items in operating units in currencies other than the units’

functional currencies.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the
end of the reporting period to a reasonably possible change in
the foreign currency exchange rate, with all other variables held
constant, of the Group’s profit before tax.

34, EREAMREEEERBE @

b B

FEEFEERAR - ARARK
TERREECEEMUNEMINERR
BN LUSME G BB 2 B 1EIR
B Z 48R ©

TRRBPEFREHEEHFRER
BN INEEXSEYSEEEY
2 5= B PR AS Al e A I ¥R 5 BAR BV BURK
o

Increase/

Change in (decrease)
foreign in profit
currency rate before tax

S BRIRATEF
ExgH Em  Gal)

%

HK$
BT

2018

If RMB weakens against HKD

If RMB strengthens against HKD
If RMB weakens against AUD

If RMB strengthens against AUD

2017

If RMB weakens against HKD

If RMB strengthens against HKD
If RMB weakens against AUD

If RMB strengthens against AUD

HEARBRBTERTE
HEAREREBTER LA
HEARERBRITERTE
HEARERBETER EFHA

HEARBERBTERTEE
HEARERBITER LA
HEARERBRITERTE
HEARERBRTER EF

(1)
(1)

44,996
(44,996)
59

(59)

1,082,559
(1,082,559)
59

(59)
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34.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (continued)

Credit risk

Credit risk of the Group’s other financial assets, which
comprise cash and cash equivalents and other receivables, arise
from default of the counterparty with a maximum exposure equal
to the carrying amounts of these instruments.

Since the Group trades only with recognised and
creditworthy third parties, there is no requirement for collateral.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had certain
concentrations of credit risk as 24.5% and 38.8% of the Group’s
trade and bills receivables were due from the Group’s five
largest customers for the years ended 31 March 2018 and
2017 respectively. Concentrations of credit risk are managed
by establishing credit verification procedures. Management
determines that there are minimal concentrations of credit risk
within the Group as the customers of the Group’s trade and bills
receivables are recognised and creditworthy.

Further quantitative data in respect of the Group’s exposure
to credit risk arising from trade and bills receivables are disclosed
in note 18 to the consolidated financial statements.

34, EREAMREEEERKE @

B E

FEFHEETHEE (BERE
RFEEEEHEBUREERER) B
FERRFEXZHFNEN &S
EEERZELANKREE-

HRAERERRAREERE
WEZFETRS > It FR2IER

O
oo °

RBEHRER xEBBEETE
ERRES REAEE2018FE K&
017FE3I/NBLULEFE » ZEBDAA
24.5% F238.8%HY FE UK BR 7k B FE WX E %
ARKNAERREARUEE -8R
B EREBRETERREEFET
BE TEERATEENEERR
EhERER  AASEEEWIR
REREENEE AR REERT

B 2 & B (A FE W AR e FE MR SR
BEMEENEERARNE-—TELH
BREEGMBRRMEEI8KE -
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34.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 34.
POLICIES (continued)

Liquidity risk

The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between
continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of long term
bank loans and projected cash flows from operations.

The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as
at the end of the reporting period, based on the contractual
undiscounted payments, is as follows:

TRAMEEEEREE @

REE & A
FEEZBERSEEBERARE

IRITERKREEZFRAREREUE

FESRRERREET Z HTE -

BRI MRMRGR > AEE
SREERREIR Y SBER T :

On demand
or no later 1to Over
than 1 year 5 years 5 years Total
MERH
—FUTFT —FEIFE BBEAF R
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT BT
2018
Trade payables FE{FBR TR 17,196,713 - - 17,196,713
Other payables and accruals HERBMRK
FEst &R 78,742,730 - - 78,742,730
Amount due to a related company  FE{S—REIRIEAQ T
RIH 427,133 - - 427,133
Dividend payable FETRR B 1,771,345 - - 1,771,345
98,137,921 - - 98,137,921
2017
Trade payables F& 1 BR =R 11,262,460 - - 11,262,460
Other payables and accruals HERBMHRK
FEstE R 24,900,868 - - 24,900,868
Amount due to a related company  FE{T—RIRGE LT
IH 1,058,410 - - 1,058,410
37,221,738 - - 37,221,738
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34.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (continued)

Capital management

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management
are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern and to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support
its business and maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes
adjustments to it in light of changes in economic conditions and
the risk characteristics of the underlying assets. To maintain or
adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend
payment to shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue
new shares. The Group is not subject to any externally imposed
capital requirements. No changes were made in the objectives,
policies or processes for managing capital during the years ended
31 March 2018 and 2017.

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is
net debt divided by the equity attributable to owners of the parent.
Net debt includes borrowings less cash and cash equivalents.
Capital includes equity attributable to owners of the parent. The
gearing ratios as at the end of the reporting periods were as
follows:

34.

THRAMEEEEREE @

BHER

FEREAEENTIEZEARER
EAEBFECSENESN  LRFR
BHBEALR UIXFHEFLER
RREERKIE -

75 5 E AR R A K L 2 Bl B AR B
EBEMNRBEHEEEAERBT Y
BE AMBIARELEE  &5E
EAAERRFIKCGHRE «  BIRE
REBEXARBITHRD - 2EELRT
RSN HEINAIE AR ERFAIR - BE
2018 201743 A3 AL EE » B 1E
BEAMNBEIRE BRREF L EEH o

rEBFEREFEELE (A&
REERUAGATRREGEED) &
RELX - FEFEBEEERERER
ReFEEAB BFXEEFSATNKRR
D BERSHARNELER
EERITF

2018 2017

HK$ HK$

BT BT

Negative net debt BERERS (493,153,768)  (399,316,081)
Equity attributable to owners of the parent &/ 5] & &R FE(L A &5 847,727,533 778,322,182
Capital and net debt BARMBER 478,945,175 434,870,677
Gearing ratio BARBELEX N/ATRiE B N/AR i#
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35. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD 35. HREHIESE
On 8 April 2018, the Group entered into an acquisition 7201848580 » ANE BB IF T
agreement with independent third parties for the acquisition of F=FHeIIIWEE > UWKEHKED
100% equity interests of Zhuhai City Tonghui Pharmaceutical Co. FEIEZEEB R AT Z100%M1# » IRE
Ltd.* for a cash consideration of approximately RMB2,428,000 REBELAA ANREE2428,0007T (FHERL
(equivalent to approximately HK$2,998,000). The acquisition 2,998,000 7T) ° MA4REMFEIwERTI
has not been completed as at the date of issuance of these BHHHE WHEEBEHRTH ©
consolidated financial statements.
36. STATEMENT OF THE FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 36. AT ZHBHKREK
COMPANY
Information about the statement of financial position of the BRAEXABNRREIAR Z IR
Company at the end of reporting period is as follows: MERZERWNT :
2018 2017
HK$ HK$
BT BT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS ERBEE
Plant and equipment &%= B 5% 1,262,551 1,575,139
Amounts due from subsidiaries P& Uit B &8 A B RR 1B 352,298,650 249,297,301
Investment in subsidiaries BRI ZKE 296,280,826 296,280,818
Total non-current assets ERENEEHLE 649,842,027 547 153,258
CURRENT ASSETS WMENEE
Deposits and other receivables BERECERE 2,269,103 1,807,731
Cash and cash equivalents RERHREEEER 119,764,970 221,681,338
Total current assets MBEELMHEE 122,034,073 223,489,069
CURRENT LIABILITIES mEaE
Other payables HERER R 4,948,083 3,750,158
Amount due to a subsidiary FE—RI M B A B FhIE 20,163,170 7,451,919
Total current liabilities BB ELEE 25,111,253 11,202,077
NET CURRENT ASSETS MENEERE 96,922,820 212,286,992
NET ASSETS BEFE 746,764,847 759,440,250
EQUITY R
Share capital % 7~ 215,047,588 215,063,588
Reserves (Note) Rt (M) 531,717,259 544,376,662
Total equity HETR 4B EE 746,764,847 759,440,250
FANG WEN QUAN LUI MAN SANG
B HE aXE
Chairman Executive Director
EER HITEE
* For identification purpose only Y EREE
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36. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY  36. AT ZMBRRE @
(continued)
Note: MisE
A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows: KARREZHENT !
Capital Captital Exchange
Share  redemption  contribution  fluctuation Retained
premium reserve reserve reserve profits Total
B B ER
RRE EERE  URRE RERE RYEF 4e%E
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
At 1 April 2016 201654818 339,066,948 8,000 105,239,603 (11,375,745) 139,796,152 572,734,958
Loss for the year KERRSE - - - - (8,292,898) (8,292,898)
Exchange difference arising BREEEZEREE
on translation - - - (14,258,681) - (14,258,681)
Total comprehensive expense FEERES R
for the year - - - (14,258681) (8,292,898) (22,551579)
Final 2016 dividend declared BER016E KRR E - - - - (5806,717) (5:806,717)
At 31 March 2017 and 2017538318 K
1 April 2017 201754818 339,066,948 8,000 105,239,603 (25,634,426) 125,696,537 544,376,662
Loss for the year REERE - - - - (15,215,541) (15,215,541)
Exchange difference arising HEESZERER
on translation - - - 14,848,337 - 14,848,337
Total comprehensive FEEREX RS
expense for the year - - - 14,848,337  (15,215,541) (367,204)
Repurchases of shares RBEIRN (33,573) - - - - (33,573)
Transfer to reserve EREEE (16,000) 16,000 - - - -
Final 2017 dividend declared BER0ITERERE - - - - (12,258,626) (12,258,626)
At 31 March 2018 2018538310 339,017,375 24,000 105,239,603 (10,786,089) 98,222,370 531,717,259
37. COMPARATIVE AMOUNTS 37. HEBR#YF
Certain comparative statement of consolidated financial RERBRRZETHLEH#FE
statements has been re-presented at the beginning of MR RREFER Z I UE T
comparative period to comply with disclosure requirements. BRE -
38. APPROVAL OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 38. FEMBWRZME
STATEMENTS
The consolidated financial statements were approved and REMBHREE 2018568 28H
authorised for issue by the board of directors on 28 June 2018. EEEgaERETIE -
RAEEFRAF



&5

THRERRANSE
TIANDA FOR HEALTH




	COVER
	CONTENTS
	CORPORATE INFORMATION
	CORPORATE STRUCTURE
	FINANCIAL SUMMARY
	BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS
	REPORT OF THE CHAIRMAN
	MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
	CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
	REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
	INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
	CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
	CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
	CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
	CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
	NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
	BACK COVER



